




At Kwality Limited, we are not just in the business of 
manufacturing dairy products.  We are essentially in 
the business of “manufacturing happiness”.  For us, 
manufacturing happiness has a much deeper connotation. 
It encompasses everything we do and all the lives we touch 
across all our stakeholders. 

We manufacture happiness by educating the farmers to 
increase productivity, offering assistance on cattle feed 
and artificial insemination, organizing health camps to 
ensure animal health and wellness, enabling them to grow 
their household income. We work towards strengthening 
relationship and trust with farmers while uplifting their 
social and economic lives. 

We manufacture happiness by creating a culture of a 
learning organisation, assigning our employees with 
responsibilities and helping them to emerge as decision 
makers; and essentially making them our partners in 
growth by granting ESOPs. We manufacture happiness by 
ensuring stronger supply chain and a rewarding distribution 
network for our channel partners. We intend to be a 
world-class manufacturing business by building strong 
internal processes and robust IT infrastructure to enhance 
efficiencies.  To make this a reality, we have involved E&Y for 
IT transformation. We are also developing an IT roadmap 
aligned to our retail business with them. 
We manufacture happiness by enabling our consumers 
make informed choices; by providing tastier and healthier 
food choices in line with their evolving tastes; enriching 
consumer’s buying experience by continuously expanding 
our bouquet of high quality product offerings to meet 
multiple needs; by delivering an exciting experience; and 
by keeping our consumers’ health foremost in our minds by 
manufacturing pure and safe quality products.

Manufacturing 
Happiness

Today, we are amongst the largest and fastest growing 
private dairy companies in India. We possess a culture 
of transparency and elevated corporate governance, 
directly benefiting and bolstering confidence among 
our stakeholders. We are committed that our processes, 
resources, and systems are directed towards the primary 
goal of achieving newer milestones.

Over the years, this frame of mind, in how we treat our 
stakeholders, has helped us transform into an engine with 
ample forward thrust to generate year-on-year growth in 
market access, market share, and overall market growth.  
An engine with ample torque to consistently produce an 
attractive return on investment and capital deployed has 
helped us emerge as the largest private dairy company. 
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We manufacture 
happiness for  all our 

stakeholders by being 
a growth oriented 

company. 
Today, we are amongst 
the largest and fastest 
growing private dairy 

companies in India.
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We are amongst the largest and fastest growing private-
sector manufacturers and processors of dairy products, with 
a strong portfolio of products/brands that our evolving 
consumers in India deserve.

We have established our presence through six milk 
processing units which currently has processing capacity 
of 3.41 million litres of milk per day. With enhanced focus 
on B2C, we aim to launch 10-12 variants of value-added 
products such as UHT, Flavoured milk, paneer, cheese, table 
butter, cream and yoghurts, amongst others over the next 
12-18 months. We will also expand our milk processing 
capacity by 9.0 lac litres per day primarily for such products.

Our Institutional Clientele:
• Britannia industries
• ITC
• Amritsar Shiromani Gurudwara Prabandhak Committee 

(SGPC)
• Tirumala Tirupati Devasthanam (TTD)
• Parle
• Vadilal
• Café coffee day
• Kaleva
• Bikanerwala
• Gianis
• HUL, amongst others

Our R&D capabilities
The Company possesses a strong Research and 
Development infrastructure which encompass a 
technological advanced equipment and in-house 
testing labs with stringent quality control. Supporting 
the strong infrastructure, the Company has a dedicated 
and experienced team of professionals. The result is an 
enhanced focus of product innovation, creating a strong 
pipeline of differentiated products.

At a Glance

Our Vision and Mission
Our vision is to become a global 

leader in dairy food business and be 
connected to millions of hearts.

To achieve our vision, we are 
committed to manufacture consumer 

safe products and maintain high 
quality of standards for our products 
with continuous efforts to improve.

We are committed to fulfil the needs of 
consumers by providing high quality 

of products at competitive rates.
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Chairman’s Message

Dear Shareholders,

We are strategically located and well positioned in North 
India, which comprises of the largest milk production and 
consumption markets. As the market and demand for dairy 
products in India continues to increase, we aim to become a 
leading consumer dairy products company compliant with 
global standards. To accomplish this vision, we recognised 
the need for a business transformation to rapidly shift our 
business model towards the retail segment.  With the vast 
demand opportunity waiting to be met and our ample scale 
to provide headroom for growth, your Company chalked 
a structured strategic approach to connect directly with 
consumers through strong products and brands. As a result, 
we are now leveraging our sectoral experience to the retail 
segment. 

The dairy industry stands at the crossroads of change. Even 
as India is the world’s largest dairy consumer, a major part 
of this consumption in unbranded and unpackaged.  A 
growing willingness to buy branded products; a growing 
preference to experiment new tastes; and an increasing 
openness to pay higher prices for superior and assured 
quality, warrants the need for players like us to respond to 
consumer demand. With a rise in population and income 
levels, and increasing emphasis on the nutritional value of 
dairy products, supply in this sector has been struggling 
to keep its pace with consumer demands. As consumption 
trends and dairy product purchase patterns change, Kwality 
wishes to ensure that its delivery infrastructure meets 
customer expectations.

We have therefore adopted customer engagement 
strategies, technological innovations and organisational 
strengthening initiatives in order to do so.

With meticulous planning from our management team, we 
have made solid progress in widening our procurement 
channels; shifting our product mix to cater to the evolving 
needs and tastes of customers wanting high quality; 
creating an extensive distribution network to ensure 
product availability; expanding our retail presence; and in 
strengthening our IT infrastructure for process integration 
and strong managerial competencies. Today, the Company 
has established the organisational and systems architecture 
that will steer us into new orbits of growth. 

The principal message that I wish to send out to our 
stakeholders is that our Company is at an inflection point 
from which a new trajectory of development and growth 
is about to take shape.  We are at a point where we are 
adequately funded and competently prepared to address 
the emerging opportunities from great consumption 
story of India. 

Outlook
We are in critical stage of growth in which we are evolving 
our business model and revamping all our business 
functions across the value chain. Moving forward, 
by investing a sizeable amount of capital to expand 
production capacities and producing value added 
products, the Company aims to increase the share of 
retail sales to 70% from a current 32% of its turnover in 
3-4 years. Just recently, Kohlberg Kravis Roberts (KKR), 
one of the largest Private Equity firms globally, showed 
their faith in our story by supporting us with upto ` 520 
crore through structured debt. This is a strong validation 
of our transformation strategy and our long-term goals 
to shift our business model towards the retail segment 
and become a foods company with dominant brands. We 
believe that this relationship would evolve over a period 
of time.

A growing willingness to buy 
branded products; a growing 
preference to experiment new 
tastes; and an increasing openness 
to pay higher prices for superior and 
assured quality, warrants the need 
for players like us to respond to 
consumer demand.
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On behalf of the Board, I express my appreciation for 
your invaluable support and your confidence in us. Your 
continued encouragement will help our Company to reach 
new levels of excellence. 

Sincerely, 
Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna 
Chairman
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Managing Director’s Message

Dear Shareholders, 

I am pleased to present the Company’s performance 
during the year under review. The Company reported a 
consolidated revenue of ` 64,438 mn (against ` 58,901 
mn in the previous year) and consolidated profit after tax 
of ` 1,736 mn (against ` 1,665 mn in the previous year).
More excitingly, the Company is successfully moving 
closer towards its dream – transforming itself from being 
B2B business, to becoming best in class  consumer facing 
dairy company in India compliant with global standards. 
Our retail business now contributes 32% of our total sales, 
against a mere 12% in 2011-12. With a capacity to handle 
3.41 mn litres of milk per day, today, we are one of the 
largest private dairy companies in India. We have the scale 
and gravitas to make a sea change in our approach to 
business, value creation and consumer connections.

Key developments
In the process of becoming a full-on B2C player, we have 
delineated clear plans to incorporate various high margin 
value-added products to our portfolio. We are expanding 
our production capacities and aim to launch 10-12 variants 
of valued added products over the next 12-18 months. 
To make this a reality, we had to re-look at the way we 
procured, marketed and distributed these new dairy 
products. 
Increasing our focus on retail has also meant that we would 
have to increase the amount of milk we sourced directly 
from farmers. Because this mode encourages stricter 
quality control standards, the direct procurement of milk 
has allowed the company to manufacture products for the 
retail business more effectively. To achieve this, we aim to 
take direct procurement to 50% of our total requirement 
over the next 3-4 years. In order to do so, we are building 
even stronger relationships with our farmers. To this effect, 
Kwality has established various Farmer Connect Programs 
in consultation with veterans having rich experience in 
organising such programs. These programs help to educate 
our farmers about various aspects of dairy farming such 
as hygienic milk production, cattle breeding, cattle feed, 
nutrition, medication, cattle insurance, and cattle loaning.  
All of these initiatives ultimately help the farmers improve 
their economic wellbeing by helping to increase their milk 
production and by improving the quality and yields.  We 
have also focused on establishing a hybrid procurement 
channel where milk analysers are provided to contractors 
to ensure quality. In this direction, We also introduced a 
monthly magazine in November 2015 named ‘Kwality Mitra’ 
for farmers providing information on cattle health, cattle 
breeding and best practices to increase productivity. This 
magazine also updates the farmers on schemes, programs, 
camps and developments in our Company.

Our marketing team is looking at multiple ways for 
capturing the attention of the consumers. A key initiative 
towards this purpose was the appointment of the 
renowned Bollywood actor, Akshay Kumar, as our brand 
ambassador.  Furthermore, we formed strategic business 
arrangements with several world-class agencies, for brand 
building and marketing. To ensure supreme quality across 
the value chain from farm to customer,  systemic fixes and 
process improvements are being implemented to make 
quality as the strongest vertical within the organisation. 
Over the years, we have established strong position in North 
India. We currently have a network of 1,800 dealers covering 
40,000 touch points. We will continue to strengthen our 
network for wider reach in existing and new markets. We 
aim to cover over one lakh point of sales in the next 3-4 
years. 

At a strategic level one of our principal initiatives during the 
year under review comprised the creation of three strategic 
business units – 1. Fresh Products, 2. Consumer Products 
and 3. Institutional Products. These were created to enhance 
product-wise focus and move with greater marketplace 
agility. These three growth engines are now managed by 
accountable business heads who are empowered to pursue 
their respective goals with more autonomy and customised 
approaches.

We realised that our various steps toward this 
transformation have to be matched equally with our 
internal operations and efficiencies. Hence, we also 
looked at improving our internal intellectual capacity 
and efficiencies. E&Y is our IT transformation partner for 
IT enablement and business automation to develop B2C 
aligned IT roadmap. They will also bring in place real time 
business performance monitoring, and enable quick 
and informed decision making backed by extensive data 
analytics. This setup is meant to smoothly facilitate our 
growth and transformational aspirations. In addition, we 
also hired professionals from various dairy and consumer 
product companies, this brought in several years of relevant 
and top-notch professional experience in-house. We have 
also focused on bringing in advanced technology, such as 
ERP, which has inculcated best business practices to our 
various functions. This is also providing us with insightful 
KPI dashboards that help us make better decisions. 
Furthermore, Kwality is the first dairy company that has 
taken the initiative of giving ESOPs to its each and every 
member of its organisation, a step towards keeping the 
workforce highly motivated and committed to our growth 
agenda. 
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Outlook
The dairy industry outlook is promising with Indian dairy 
consumption expected to surpass production by 2021. The 
dairy industry in value terms is growing at a healthy rate of 
15% year-on-year. The organised sector is expected to grow 
at a CAGR of 19.5 % during 2015-2020 as against 13.2% for 
the unorganised sector during the same period. We are 
intellectually empowered, well capitalised, well funded and 
strongly supported to capitalise on the growing industry 
opportunities. With our clear strategic path towards 
becoming best in class consumer facing dairy company 
in India compliant with global standards, we believe all 
our initiatives will support us to reach our goals, enabling 
faster growth and achieving high profitability. In time, we 
are optimistic to emerge as a highly respected and leading 
dairy consumer brand within the country.

Sincerely,
Sanjay Dhingra
Managing Director 

The Company is geared to 
become leading consumer 
facing dairy company in 
India compliant with global 
standards.
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Our Well Diversified Product Portfolio

MILK IN POUCHES
Dairy Best Nutrified Milk is enriched 

with more vital minerals and vitamins. 
Compared to normal milk, Dairy Best 
Nutrified Milk has more Calcium and 

Vitamins A & D. It also contains Vitamin 
B2 for releasing the body’s energy and 
Vitamin B12 for blood formation and 

healthy growth.

CURD
As curd is a staple and popular food 
of every Indian household, we offer 

consumers 100% pure and high 
quality pasteurised toned cow’s 
milk. It has all the goodness of 

natural calcium. It is thick, consistent, 
delicious and easy to digest.

FLAVOURED MILK
Flavoured milk is a nutrient rich milk 

based beverage produced exclusively 
from highest quality of fresh milk under 

utmost hygienic conditions using the latest 
and modern equipments. It is palatable 

and refreshing drink yet nutritious 
providing calcium, potassium, phosphorus, 

magnesium, vitamins and body building 
proteins. It comes in many exotic flavours 
like, Strawberry, Banana, Badam, Mango, 
Elaichi, Cold Coffee, Chocolate Milk, Kesar 

among others.

SWEET LASSI
Lassi, the refreshing and healthy 

milk based natural drink now gets 
a delicious twist from Dairy Best. 
We have introduced a range of 

mouthwatering flavours to enrich this 
traditional drink. So what you now 

get is the goodness of nature blended 
with a refreshingly exquisite taste. This 

new product is available in various 
package sizes.
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LOW CHOLESTEROL 
GHEE - LIVLITE

This revolutionary product 
has been proudly launched 
by Kwality Ltd. This is pure 

ghee with 85% less cholesterol 
content. The technology has 

been developed and patented 
by National dairy Research 
Institute (NDRI) Karnal of 

ICAR and licensed by National 
Research and Development 

Corporation (NRDC). The 
product has been patented for 

the company for ten years.

DESI GHEE & COW 
GHEE

This is AGMARK certified 
pure ghee produced from 

fresh milk of excellent quality 
under utmost hygienic 

conditions using the most 
modern equipment. It has 
traditional granular texture 
which gives a rich & mouth-
watering aroma. It contains 
plenty of antioxidants and 

vitamins.

PANEER
A pure product made from 

fresh milk. In line with 
providing customers with the 
best, Kwality ensures that the 
paneer we produce is of best 

quality.

SKIMMED MILK 
POWDER

Skimmed Milk Powder is made 
from fresh full fat milk and is 

completely free from artificial 
flavors and colors. It can be 
used for making milk, tea, 

coffee, curd, lassi, mishthi doi, 
milk shake, ice cream, pudding 

and sweets. It has 1.5 % less 
fat content and has no added 

colours.

WAKE UP - INSTANT 
DAIRY CREMER

It is appropriate for making, 
milk, tea, coffee, curd, lassi, 
mishthi doi, milk shake, ice 

cream, pudding and sweets.

DAIRY BEST CHAACH
We had entered the fray in this 
product segment with our own 
version of Chaach.  Available in 
salted and masala flavours, our 

healthy and refreshing drink 
is the perfect thirst quencher 
for all ages. It ranks high on 

the health meter as it contains 
live probiotic bacteria which 

helps in digestion and improves 
immunity. The product is 

available widely all across India 
in various size packs.



Manufacturing happiness by 
empowering milk farmers

3,00,000
Number of farmers (ca.) associated with the 

Company as on March 31, 2016

4,500
Villages and towns (ca.) across Uttar Pradesh, 

Rajasthan and Haryana

12
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Such success on the supply side is the result of our holistic 
approach. Farmers are an integral part of the Kwality 
family and we aim to improve their socio-economic lives 
with initiatives such as educating milk farmers to improve 
productivity of cattle, health-care cattle vaccination, 
providing cattle feed, nutrition and medication; providing 
financial inclusion & literacy by guiding farmers on cattle 
financing and insurance. 
At Kwality, we take conscious steps towards raising the 
quality and hygiene of raw milk obtained and also to 
improve the animal health and lifestyle of the farmer 
community. The Company proactively organises regular 
camps and meetings with farmers across villages regularly 
to understand their requirements. The Company has been 
assisting in issues pertaining to vaccination, cattle feed, 
increasing milk yield and facilitating the loan requirements 
for farmers through financial institutions. 
On back of Continued efforts over the years, presently, 
the Company has garnered relationships with over ca. 
3,00,000 farmers across ca. 4,500 villages and towns across 
the largest milk producing states of India - Uttar Pradesh, 
Rajasthan and Haryana. 

Key initiatives taken by the Company:

•  Animal Health:  Kwality deploys a team of rural-based 
veterinarians to ensure the sound health of animals and to 
provide the necessary education to the farmers on animal 
health

•  Artificial Insemination: The doctors deputed by the 
Company conduct artificial insemination based on needs of 
the farmers’ animals 

•  Cattle Feed: The Company provides quality and balanced 
cattle feed at cost price to ensure the nutritional needs of 
the milk animals 

•  Vaccination: An annual FMD (Foot and Mouth Disease) 
vaccination program at subsidized cost is organised to 
protect animals against this serious disease

•  Financial support: Kwality has tied up with various banks 
including Allahabad Bank, Central Bank of India, Bank of 
India and Syndicate Bank, among others, to provide loans 
to its farmer for not only buying animals but also farm 
equipment

•  Village Adoption programmes: Kwality is adopting villages 
where it takes initiatives towards educating women about 
cleanliness, primary health and providing scholarship to girl 
child, thereby enhancing social well-being. 

•  Insurance: The Company provides insurance not only 
for the animals but also for the farmers and their family 
(medical and accidental)

•  Kwality Mitra: The Company started a farmer connect 
initiative since November 2015 and published a monthly 
magazine named Kwality Mitra in Hindi language for the 
farmers guiding them on cattle health, cattle breeding 
and ways to increase milk productivity, among others. This 
magazine also updates the farmers on upcoming schemes, 
programmes and camps.

In the absence of large cattle breeding 
and dairy farming operations in the 
country, Kwality collaborates with 
thousands of milk farmers and vendors 
across multiple States. Despite dealing 
with such vast numbers of sourcing 
points and individuals, we have been 
highly successful in procuring assured 
quantities of milk at reasonable rates 
on the one hand; and highly prolific in 
ensuring what we procure is the best 
quality raw milk on the other. 
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Manufacturing happiness by 
strengthening relationships 

Milk is unique in that it is a highly perishable 
product. The success for any dairy product 
company lies in in shrinking procurement 
distances by as much as possible.  Other 
important nuances related to procurement 
revolve around milk freshness and deepening 
our engagement with milk farmers to enhance 
their affinity to deal with us, beyond just 
commercially.

At Kwality, nearly 20% of its daily milk requirement is 
procured directly from farmers, collected , through its 
village level collection centres (VLCCs) twice a day, which 
are managed by local Village Service Providers (VSPs) and 
delivered to its Milk Chilling Centres (MCCs). Today, The 
Company has 22 (MCCs) strategically located close to its 
manufacturing facilities ensuring quality protection and 
delivery. 

Presently, the Company has developed strong relationships 
with over ca. 3,00,000 farmers spread across ca. 4,500 
villages in largest production states of India i.e. UP, 
Haryana, and Rajasthan.  This is the result of years of 
strategic planning in procurement, storage infrastructure 
development and improving logistics. 

Additionally, Kwality has established network with large 
milk aggregators to cater remaining 80% of its daily milk 
requirements. These aggregators collect the milk once a day 
from farmers and deliver it directly to our manufacturing 
facilities. The Company is aggressively promoting the hybrid 
procurement channel where in milk analysers are provided 
to the contractors to ensure quality and collection is done 
twice a day.

We believe that the Company is well positioned to tap 
opportunities arising from favourable demographics and 
strong growth in demand for fresh milk and value-added 
products in key Northern markets.

1,190mnkgs
Total Quantity of milk (ca.) procured , 2015-16 

4,500
Locational presence {districts (ca.)} for milk procurement, 

2015-16 against 4000 in 2014-15

20
Percentage of milk procured (ca.) directly from farmers, 

2015-16 against 16% in 2014-15

Going ahead, in order to ensure that Kwality stays on 
top of its game in procuring quality milk, the Company 
will continue to strengthen its direct procurement 
infrastructure. It plans to forge even stronger ties with 
farmers by offering them further services to enhance their 
animals’ health and access to subsidised feed.  The Company 
aims at strengthening its direct procurement route to over 
50% of its milk requirement over the next 3-4 years. Such 
initiatives will keep strengthening the emotional bond 
between the farmers and Kwality.
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Kwality is well positioned 
to tap opportunities 

arising from favourable 
demographics and strong 

growth in demand for 
fresh milk and value-

added products in key 
Northern markets
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Manufacturing happiness by 
ensuring quality output

Kwality is committed to the 
quality standards and norms 

to ensure safe and quality 
products for consumers.
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At Kwality, we have invested in sophisticated 
manufacturing facilities, comprising of cutting-
edge equipment sourced from some of the most 
respected global technology suppliers. We work 
towards ensuring the highest product quality 
on one hand, and higher operating efficiency on 
the other. 

Kwality has truly ultra-modern milk processing plants with 
current processing capacity of more than 3.41 mn litres 
of milk per day; has six milk processing units across Softa, 
(Haryana), Saharanpur (UP), Bulandshaher (UP), Jarar (UP), 
Sitapur (UP) & Ajmer (Rajasthan).

The outstanding features of the plants are its state-of-
the-art equipment, which incorporates the latest in milk 
processing technology including robots which involve 
minimum human intervention. The Company’s plants are 
also ISO 22000:2005 certified for its Quality Management 
Systems.

To ensure we got the best, we engaged Alfa Laval India Ltd 
(Tetra Pack Group) and APV Anhydro Pasilac, AS Denmark to 
design the plant and supply the key equipment. 

Kwality’s commitment to international quality standards 
for Food Safety is based on Codex Standards for Hazard 
Analysis and Critical Control Points (HACCP) to ensure safe 
and quality products for consumers.

Our products are certified by the Bureau of Indian Standards 
(BIS) and have been awarded the “ISI” mark. To further 
strengthen its dedication to quality, Kwality has earned the 
“AGMARK” certification from the Ministry of Agriculture, 
Government of India for its Pure Ghee products.

Going ahead, Kwality has undertaken an expansion plan 
at its plant location at Softa, Haryana which will result in 
increase in the production capacities by 9.0 lakh litres/day. 
This enhancement in production is primarily to cater to 
value added products like flavoured milk, variants of cheese, 
UHT milk, table butter, paneer, yoghurts, cream, among 
others. We plan to launch 10-12 variants of value added 
products over the next 12-18 months. 



Kwality Limited Annual Report 201618

Manufacturing happiness by 
getting closer to the end customer

At Kwality, our strategy is to emerge as the premier player 
in India’s dairy segment, through a wide-spread customer 
base that has a strong affinity to our Brands. To achieve 
this, we are rapidly transforming ourselves from being a 
predominantly B2B business to a strong B2C business by 
expanding our portfolio of consumer-oriented products 
and brands. 

We see the retail segment as a key driver of growth. We modestly 
embarked on our B2C journey in 2012 with products like curd, pouched 
milk, Ghee, and skimmed milk. Retail business today accounts for 32% of 
our total revenue primarily driven by Fresh Milk products and ghee.

We foster a deep connect with the retail segment by challenging the 
conventional paradigm and providing solutions to issues close to 
their heart. To penetrate deeper into the consumer driven market and 
gain a larger wallet share of the customer, we are poised for a major 
transformation through foray into value-added products over the next 
12-18 months. We extended our dependence to manufacture value-
added branded downstream product. Further as a de-risking measure 
the Company widened its product basket to manufacture of diverse 
products – ghee, butter, curd, buttermilk and milk powders– that 
moderated its dependence on the success of any single product.

We strategically focused to change our current business mix from being 
institutional heavy to being retail heavy. Going forward, we aim to place 
more focus on growing our retail business as our main revenue and 
margin contributor over a period of time. Our focus is reflected from our 
numbers. The contribution from our retail business has increased from 
a mere 12% in 2011-12 to 32% in 2015-16. Also, we strengthened and 
enhanced our retail distribution network to 40,000 outlets FY2015-16 as 
against 19,000 in 2011-12.

40,000 
Outlets for retail distribution (ca.) in FY2015-16
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32:68
Business mix (retail to institution) in 

2015-16 against 12:88 in 2011-12
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Manufacturing happiness by 
enhancing customer delight

Short shelf-life, retention of product freshness, 
maintaining product taste are the attributes 
that mark the dairy industry. The key to 
success can lie only in being at proximity to the 
consumer base and strong network to reach to 
the masses. 

At Kwality, we are located and strongly positioned near the 
highest dairy consumption market of the India (northern 
India), offering us a wide market to cater to. 

The Company leverages various trade channels to reach 
to the customer base. These are concentrated in Northern 
pockets of the country given the premium on the short 
shelf-life and need for the freshness of milk-based products. 
With a strategy to move deeper into the untapped markets 
of northern India, the Company widened its distribution 
network to 40,000 Points of Sale across northern India. The 
Company will continue to increase its retail penetration in 
target markets with new product launches and consumer 
brands. We aim to enhance our presence to least 1,00,000 
outlets in the northern region over the period of next 3-4 
years. 

Kwality also has a presence across continents of Asia, Africa 
and Australia; exports to over 28 countries including Japan, 
UAE, Seychelles, Bangladesh, Sri Lanka, Jordan, Niger and 
Morocco, among others. 
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40,000 
Points of Sale (ca.) across northern India 

as on March 31, 2016
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In 2015-16, Kwality 
clocked total revenue 
of ` 64,438 mn with a 
profit of ` 1,736 mn 
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Manufacturing happiness to 
cater to a wider horizon 

To enhance international presence and expand to newer 
geographies, Kwality established its 100% subsidiary, 
Kwality Dairy Products, FZE (KDPF) at Jebel Ali Free Zone, 
Dubai.
The subsidiary imports the dairy products from India, 
Australia, New Zealand and Eastern European Countries 
including Turkey, Ireland, Holland, Poland and Ukraine, New 
Zealand which are sold both domestically and exported to 
GCC, Middle East, Far East, Bangladesh, China, Thailand and 
Africa, among others. 
In 2015-16, the Subsidiary clocked revenue of ` 6,902 mn 
with a profit of ` 294 mn.
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Manufacturing happiness by 
positioning ourselves as an 
aspirational brand 

We focus on building a modern and youthful 
brand, transforming ourselves from being 
a traditional B2B company to one that is 
consumer-oriented. Our objective is to create 
brands that customers can resonate with and 
strengthen the brand recall with wider visibility. 

At Kwality, we work towards ensuring that our brand power 
has salience, relevance, connect, uniqueness and dynamism. 
We have strong and powerful brands and are working 
towards driving brand quality forward. 

Kwality has an established reputation over the years in the 
institutional dairy segment by supplying to leading brands. 
The Company is now moving towards building consumer 
brand and is transforming itself into a dairy product FMCG 
company offering a wide range of products. 

We have engaged best-in-class marketing partners for 
seamless roll-out of integrated marketing and consumer 
management programs. We shall launch exciting marketing 
campaigns to gain visibility leading to enhanced sales. 
We have tied up reputed organisations like McCann for 
Creatives, Zenith Optimedia for Media Planning, Digital 
Quotient for Social Marketing and Adfactors is our PR 
partner.

Being synonymous with health and nutrition and to 
enhance brand reach, we have roped in leading Bollywood 
actor Akshay Kumar as our Brand Ambassador to promote 
an entire range of dairy products and gain consumer 
mindshare. Being Bollywood’s fittest actor/epitome of 
fitness, he fits our range of health dairy products perfectly. 

Being synonymous with 
health and nutrition and 
to enhance brand reach, 
we have roped in leading 
Bollywood actor Akshay 

Kumar as our Brand 
Ambassador to promote 
an entire range of dairy 

products and gain 
consumer mindshare.
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Going ahead, our focus will be on brand development 
with specific investments towards customer engagement 
channels. We will emphasise on addressing our consumers 
on social media and respond swiftly with focussed and 
engaging content to inspire conversations and drive 
engagement for increased saliency and buzz. 
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Manufacturing happiness by 
being future ready

Kwality has progressively invested in a best-in-class 
information management platform to enhance 
organisational responsiveness, reduce time-to-market, 
optimise costs and imbibe sustainable business practices.
 
We have positioned information management as an 
integrator, aligning the all function with the ERP. This will 
provide decision-makers with a granular organisational 
view, real time information and the control required to 
achieve financial and growth objectives.
With a strong focus toward automation, we are is in the 
process of automating and integrating our sales processes 

to track performance across products, markets, sales team 
on real-time basis. Going ahead, the Company will focus on 
taking automaton to its other business process as well. 

The Company involved E&Y for IT transformation to help 
revamp its systems, with focus on real time tracking of 
business performance and use data analytics to support 
business decision making. 

To stick to our aim to manufacture happiness, 
we are strengthening ways to manage business 
effectively. At Kwality, we are staying ahead of 
curve by making the organisation future ready 
for the upcoming growth. 
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Manufacturing happiness helped 
enhance investor confidence 

Liberalisation of foreign investment rules is expected to attract 
more players. At Kwality, we have been preparing for a competitive 
environment by evolving our business strategy. The leading US 
private equity firm Kohlberg Kravis Roberts (KKR) has agreed 
to provide upto ` 520 crore in Kwality through structured debt 
instruments in a transaction that is expected to rev up Kwality’s 
dairy business in the country. 

The Company will use part of the proceeds to meet capital expenditure for further 
strengthening milk procurement infrastructure and increase processing capacity by 
9.0 lakh litres per day. The Company would also repay some of its high-cost debt to 
improve cash flows and augment brand building activities. 

The capacity expansion will be done for high margin value added product such as 
cheese, paneer, table butters, tetra-packs, flavoured milk, cream, yoghurt amongst 
others. The Company plans to launch 10-12 variants over next 12-18 months.

The Company has made a critical shift in its business model from B2B to B2C. 
As part of a change in its business strategy, Kwality is revamping all business 
functions across the value chain including procurement, changing product mix 
to cater to evolving needs of customers and ensure high quality, brand building, 
building an extensive distribution network to boost retail presence, set up robust IT 
infrastructure for process integration, and improve managerial competencies. 

Going ahead this strategy shift is expected to increase the share of retail sales to 
over 70% from current 32% of its turnover in next 3-4 years.
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Our Performance  

Revenue

Net Profit EBITDA margin
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Market Capitalisation
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Our Journey
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Management Discussion & Analysis

Economic Overview
India is now positioned as the fastest growing major 
economy with a five-year high growth rate of 7.6 per cent 
for the full fiscal 2015-16 on robust manufacturing growth. 
Enthused by the impressive numbers for 2015-16, as against 
7.2 per cent in previous fiscal, the growth rate is expected 
to be at faster pace in the current fiscal on the back of good 
monsoon. 

According to the new concept of Gross Value Added 
(GVA), the farm sector also rebounded to the growth zone, 
as against a contraction in previous year, although the 
rate of expansion was low at 1.2 per cent in 2015-16. The 
manufacturing sector accelerated to 9.3 per cent, up from 
5.5 per cent in the previous fiscal. However, the mining 
and quarrying segment recorded a growth of 7.4 per cent 
in FY2016, down from 10.8 per cent in the previous fiscal.  
(Source: CSO)

According to CSO, the Gross National Income at current 
prices was estimated at ` 134.19 lakh crore in 2015-16, 
against ` 123.41 lakh crore during 2014-15, showing a rise 
of 8.7 per cent. The per capita income at current prices 
during 2015-16 is estimated to have attained a level of 
` 93,293 as compared to the year 2014-15 of ` 86,879 
showing a rise of 7.4 per cent. The GDP at current prices 
for 2015-16 is estimated at ` 135.76 lakh crore, showing a 
growth rate of 8.7 per cent over the GDP for the year 2014-
15 of ` 124.88 lakh crore.

5,796
Estimated total size (` Billion) 
of India’s dairy market in 2015
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After two successive years of deficit rainfall, Indian 
Meteorological Department (IMD) this year predicts above 
normal monsoon at 106% of Long Period Average (LPA). 
The investment climate in the country has improved as the 
stock of stranded investment in stalled projects fell. This 
reflects concerted efforts by the Government towards fast-
tracking the revival of projects in electricity generation and 
chemicals sectors.

Recent policy initiatives by the government appear to have 
boosted market confidence, and they provide a stronger 
basis for stable macroeconomic management, including 
sound fiscal policies and a focus on price stability for the 
Central Bank. The Indian government has also taken a 
number of steps to improve business climate. Additional 
structural reforms to address the legacy impediments to 
growth Foreign direct investment (FDI) into the country 
increased by 37 per cent to USD 39.32 billion during 2015. 
The foreign investment inflows stood at USD 28.78 billion 
in 2014, according to data by the Department of Industrial 
Policy and Promotion (DIPP). 

An integrated set of initiatives, including Make In India, 
Start-Up India, Mudra Yojana and Skill India, are all 
expected to help significantly in job creation and eventually 
economic growth. A series of reforms has been initiated to 
help convert job seekers into job creators. The government 
has launched the Start-Up India campaign, which will 
deepen, expand and support the innovation eco-system in 
the country. 
 

Industry Overview

Indian Dairy Industry
The Global Dairy products market is estimated to grow 
at a Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) of 5.3% 
between 2014 and 2022. The drivers of the market include 
growth in application sectors, improvement in operational 
efficiency and increasing concern towards health. Emerging 
economies have reported a higher growth due to changing 
consumer dietary patterns and increasing consumer 
awareness which act as market opportunities. India 
represents one of the largest and fastest markets of dairy 
products. India accounts for over 18% of global production. 
The total size of the dairy market is estimated at  
` 5,796 billion in 2015 against ` 5,030 billion in 2014. 
(Source: IMARC Report) The majority of the market (80%) 
was accounted by the unorganized segment but the 
penetration of the organized segment is increasing rapidly 
in the country. This is on the back of high realisations 
to farmers, skill development, and programs like farmer 

education on cattle breeding, increasing productivity, 
financial assistance, health camps, artificial insemination 
and measures taken by the Government and dairy 
companies to improve the economic and social lives of 
farmers.  The unorganized dairy market in India has been 
defined to be consisting of milk sold by traditional milkmen, 
vendors and self-consumption at home. 
India represents the world’s largest producer and consumer 
of dairy products. Being the second largest populated 
country in the world, India provides a huge consumer base 
for dairy products. Income levels in the country’s population 
are also increasing rapidly which in turn is driving the dairy 
industry. 
The growth of the institutional and retail business has given 
a big boost to the “out of home” consumption of dairy 
products.  Also a number of value added products have 
shown a good uptake in the Indian dairy market. 
Having said so, although, India has the largest bovine 
population in the world, the productivity of Indian cattle 
(980 kg/annum) is significantly lower compared to that 
of European Countries and the USA (approx. 8000 kg/
annum).  The lack of an efficient transport infrastructure, 
cold chain facilities and refrigerated vehicles have restricted 
the reach of quality dairy products in the country.  
   

Milk Consumption and production
From just 17 Million Metric Tons in 1951-52, the total milk 
production in India reached 147 Million Metric Tons in 
2014-15 and is estimated to be at 154 Million Metric Tons 
in 2015-16. This enabled the country to become the world’s 
biggest milk producer. 

Driven by a steady population growth and rising incomes, 
milk consumption continues to be on rise in the country. 
India represents the world’s largest consumer of milk. 
Further the consumption is estimated at 146 Million Metric 
Tons in 2015-16 (against 138 Million Metric Tons in 2014-15) 
and grow to 155 Million Metric Tons in 2016-17. 

With a share of 52%, liquid milk accounts for the largest 
consumed dairy product in India. Liquid milk was followed 
by ghee which accounted for 12% of the total raw milk 
consumed in India. Around 52% of the total milk produced 
in India is consumed by the people themselves with the 
remaining 48% being sold in the market

The top milk producing states of India are UP, AP, Gujarat, 
Maharasthra, Punjab, Rajasthan, accounting for ca. 60% of 
total production. The rate of milk consumption in India is 
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currently outpacing the total domestic production. Milk 
production in India is currently growing at 4-5%, whereas, 
consumption is growing at 5-6%. The total production 
is expected to reach 189 Million Tons, whereas, the total 
consumption is expected to reach 192 Million Tons by 2020-
21. Estimates suggest that by 2020-21, India will not be able 
to meet its domestic milk demand and will have to import 
milk from other countries. 

Outlook
During 2015 - 2020, we expect India’s population to grow 
by around 90-100 Million reaching figures over 1.3 billion. 
Apart from the steady population growth, we also expect 
a continuous increase in annual disposable incomes that 
will drive the per capita consumption of milk in the country. 
From 44.9 litres in 2007, the annual per capita consumption 
of liquid milk in India reached 54.1 litres in 2014 and is 
expected to reach 68 litres by 2020.  
Driven by these factor, the Indian dairy market is expected 
to maintain a CAGR of around 14.8% during 2015 - 2020, 
reaching values worth ` 11,543 billion (US$ 192 billion) by 
2020. The organized market is expected to grow at a CAGR 
of 19.6% during 2015 - 2020, accounting for around 26% 
of the total market by the end of the forecast period. The 
unorganized market on the other hand is expected to grow 
at a CAGR of 13.3% during the same period. (Source: IMARC 
Report, 2015)

Value Added Products – Leading Industry Growth
The Indian dairy industry, having reached the milestone 
of being the largest producer of milk in the world, is now 
looking for its next phase of growth. In the emerging 
phase, there are signals of a rising demand for innovation 
in nutritious products and packaging, besides improving 
operational efficiencies. Indian dairies have been 
sharpening their focus on value-added products, investing 
in brand building and scaling up operations, particularly 
in processing and milk collection infrastructure. Rising 
purchasing power and increasing health consciousness 
have spurred lifestyle changes in recent years because of 
which consumers have gravitated towards value-added 
products. Consumption pattern demonstrates growth in 
demand of value-added products such as ghee, cheese and 
butter, and can be attributed to changing food habits and 
rising disposable income levels. In the branded segment, 
consumption of paneer, cheese, curd, butter, ice-cream and 
lassi has increased faster than milk. 
The market share of value added products is expected to 
increase from 21% to 31% from 2012-13 to 2019-20 and the 
value added product market is expected to grow at a CAGR 
of 23%. 
With the trend expected to sustain, all the large players are 
diversifying their portfolio. Offering varied products lowers 
their dependence on a specific segment and insulates these 
companies from seasonal risks and change in consumer 
habits. 

Total Milk 
Production Forecast

Total Milk consumption 
Forecast

in Million Metric Tones

in Million Metric Tones

Source: IMARC Group Estimates

Source: IMARC Group Estimates
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Industry Growth drivers
Increasing production of dairy products, rising purchasing 
power of consumers, changing preferences and growing 
demand for value-added products are anticipated to 
fuel growth in India’s dairy products market. Increased 
disposable income and quality consciousness among the 
consumers along with greater preference for branded milk 
and milk products would drive the growth for organised 
dairy players. 

Key Drivers
 � Increasing health awareness
 � Rising disposable income
 � Growing demand for value-added dairy products

Industry Challenges
 � Lack of efficient supply chain management
 � Rising cattle feed prices
 � Unorganised players dominate

Demand Drivers
 � Economic growth and poverty alleviation leading to 

increased share of dairy product spend in household 
income

 � Urban population fast shifting to packaged food 
products

 � Increasing literacy levels raising awareness on health 
benefits

 � Increase in organised retail penetration

35
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Foreign Investment
The industry, which had been a national heritage, is now 
re-emerging and catching the eye of investors due to its 
growth potential. The sector is increasingly becoming 
attractive for private equity players. Private players, 
especially mid-sized regional firms aspiring to enter more 
geographies, will have to pump in huge funds to build 
sizeable processing capacity and infrastructure. Given the 
long-term growth prospects and high return potential, 
especially in the value-added products, PE players are 
showing interest. Today, dairy is among the top 10 sectors 
monitored closely by PE players. From accounting for just 
2% of total PE investment a decade ago, the Indian dairy 
sector is now attracting over 6% on a much larger base. 
Over ` 900 crore has been invested in the sector since 
2010. These investments have helped private players build 
capacity and strengthen distribution ecosystems with an 
increased focus on value-added offerings.

Key Government Initiatives
The dairy sector has been liberalised in a phased manner 
since 1991. Many private players entered the market to set 
up processing facilities in areas with surplus milk. Realising 
the vast potential in the industry, the Government has come 
up with proactive measures to guide investors interested in 
setting up food processing units in different parts of India.  

Initiatives of the Government:
a. Implementation of various government initiatives such 

as National Dairy Plan to increase health awareness 
through various schemes such as “Mission Milk” 
launched in 2012 at National Dairy Development Board 
in rural and urban areas led to an increase in demand 
for quality milk.

b. Government realised the potential in this industry 
and launched various proactive measures to guide 
investors interested in establishing dairy processing 
plants and dairy farms. The Government offers 25% 
subsidy on the establishment of small dairy processing 
units. With Nabard subsidy, the Government is trying 
to bring structural changes in the unorganised sector 
to make initial milk processing possible at the village 
level.

c. The Indian Government, with its various schemes, is 
trying to strengthen the dairy sector in the industry. 
Majority of the players operate in the unorganised 
sector and the Government is undertaking initiatives 
to change the scenario and have better control over 
quality.

d. In last 4-5 years, the dairy sector received private equity 
investments worth US$ 0.36 billion and foreign players 
are trying to enter India.

 

Company Overview
We are India’s largest private dairy product company with 
processing capacity of 3.41 million litres of milk per day. We 
have evolved into an integrated dairy based manufacturer 
servicing retail and institutional customers, with a wide 
range of dairy products. We are churning out quality and 
innovative dairy products for the Indian market and have 
established our presence through six milk processing units 
at Softa, (Haryana), Saharanpur (UP), Bulandshaher (UP), 
Jarar (UP), Sitapur (UP) & Ajmer (Rajasthan).

We maintain the highest quality standards in our 
manufacturing and processing facilities and are committed 
to ensure consumer safety in all stages of procurement, 
processing and production cycle. 
We are strengthening our procurement infrastructure to 
source high quality milk directly from farmers.The Company 
has a product portfolio comprising of fresh milk products 
(includes variants of Fresh Milk, Curd, Chaach etc), variants 
of ghee, butter, and ingredient products (variants of milk 
powders) used for milk-based specialty products other food 
products. The Company is further expanding its product 
portfolio with value-added products like cheese, table 
butter, yoghurts, UHT, flavoured milk, cream, paneer, among 
others. The Company plans to launch 10-12 variants over 
next 12-18 months.

34,10,000 litres

Kwality’s per day milk processing capacity (ca.)
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Product Categories

GHEE MILK POWDER MILK CURD

Pure Ghee Skimmed Milk Powder Full Cream Milk Set Curd

Pure Cow Ghee Whole Milk Powder Toned Milk Pouched Curd

Low Cholesterol Ghee Dairy Whitener Double Toned Milk

Butter  

Milk Processing Facilities

Softa Haryana

Saharanpur Uttar Pradesh

Bulandshaher Uttar Pradesh

Jarar Uttar Pradesh

Sitarpur Uttar Pradesh

Ajmer Rajasthan
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Our Wholly-owned Subsidiaries
Our wholly-owned subsidiary Kwality Dairy Products FZE 
is located in the free trade zone of UAE. It is engaged in the 
trading of milk products and export and import of skimmed 
and whole milk powder and various derivatives of milk, 
ghee, butter, neutraceuticals and other dairy products. 
These are sold domestically and also exported to other 
countries. The objective of the subsidiary is to increase our 
international presence and cater to new markets. During 
the FY 2015-16, Company has achieved the sales turnover 
of INR 6,902 mn with net profit of INR 294mn (15% growth 
as compared to FY2014-15).

Quality Certifications 

Milk Procurement System
We have a unique milk procurement model. Our established 
relationship with more than 3,00,000 farmers spread across 
ca. 4,500 villages in the largest milk producing states of 
India Haryana, UP, and Rajasthan enables us to obtain a 
steady supply of quality raw milk. We currently procure 
ca.20% of milk requirement directly from farmers through 
our strategically located 22 Milk Chilling Centres (MCC). Our 
aim is to increase direct procurement from farmers from ca 
20% to ca 50% in the next 3-4 years. This model enables us 
with consistent quality and taste of milk and key parameters 
to maintain quality in value-added products. 

The Company organises regular camps and meetings with 
farmers across villages to connect with farmers/family 
members, understanding and addressing their needs/
requirements/issues, increase awareness about best 
practices for cattle management, new/upcoming schemes/
welfare and ways of uplifting their socio-economic lives. 
The Company has been assisting in issues pertaining to 
vaccination, cattle feed, increasing milk yield and facilitating 
the loan requirements for farmers through financial 
institutions. This helped the Company develop strong 
relationships and build trust with the milk farmers. 

Additionally, we procure milk from large contractors who 
collect milk from farmers and deliver it directly to our 
facilities. The milk procured undergoes stringent in-house 
quality tests prior to processing. We have also grown 
emphasis on procuring milk through hybrid channel where 
milk analysers are provided to the contractors to ensure 
milk quality at contractor level itself. 

Installation of AMCUs
We have established a fair and transparent system of milk 
procurement by installing Automatic Milk Collection Units 
(AMCUs) at the village level. This determines the rate of milk 
on the basis of quality at the milk producer’s door step. This 
AMCU-based milk procurement system ensures passing of 
maximum part of declared rates to milk producers. A better 
price realisation is acting as a catalyst to work towards 
increasing milk production and productivity. We have 
reached out to several villages situated across the states of 
Haryana, Punjab, Rajasthan and Uttar Pradesh.

Objectives of our Direct Milk Procurement Model:
 � To strengthen milk procurement and milk producer 

network to procure high quality of raw milk directly 
from milk producers

 � To educate and train milk producers to keep healthy 
and high producing milk cows 

 � To encourage milk producers to produce clean and 
good quality of milk

 � To provide facilities for good quality cattle feeds, feed 
supplements, herbal and allopathic medicines

 � To provide a trained team of veterinary doctors to offer 
timely advice for preventive and curative animal health 
and artificial insemination

 � Financial assistance, loan facilities, insurance and cattle 
health training to milk farmers

 � Uplift socio-economic lives of associated farmer 
families

Our 7-Point route to Strategic Growth towards becom-
ing leading consumer dairy company

1.  Direct Procurement Infrastructure 
Procurement of milk is the biggest hurdle as the shelf life 
of milk is limited. To ensure consistent quality and taste, 
which are important parameters for success in value-added 
products, we have embarked upon a massive expansion for 
milk procurement. We are currently procuring ca. 20% of 
our daily milk requirement directly from farmers through 
our 22 Milk Chilling Centres (MCC) strategically located 
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Kwality Milk Procurement system
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in proximity to our plants. We aim to increase our direct 
procurement share from the current ca. 20% to ca. 50% 
on back of continued expansion of our existing farmers 
network. Today we have a network of over 3,00,000 farmers 
across ca. 4,500 villages in the largest production markets 
of India - Haryana, UP, and Rajasthan. We have taken various 
initiatives to build our farmer network. We continuously 
support the farmers by educating them to improve 
productivity of cattle, health-care cattle vaccination, 
providing cattle feed, nutrition and medication, as well as 
providing financial inclusion & literacy by guiding farmers 
on cattle financing and insurance.

We would be strengthening our direct procurement 
from farmers over the next 3-4 years to ensure sustained 
availability of quality milk. The focus will also be on 
increasing milk procurement through the hybrid 
procurement system to ensure quality milk.  Our strong 
focus on quality milk will help us in manufacturing value 
added products.

2. Product portfolio of value-added products 
With the focus to enhance our retail presence, we have 
focused on expanding our product portfolio with value 
added products which meet the consumer aspirations and 
tastes. 

We plan to launch 10-12 variants of value added products 
in next 12-18 months which will include variants of cheese, 
yogurts, table butter, cream, paneer, flavoured milk, and 
UHT milk, among others. The Company will be rolling out 
these products in a phased manner. 

To translate our plans into reality, we are expanding our 
capacity to produce value added products. We have 
undertaken an expansion plan at our plant at Softa, 
Haryana with total capex outlay of ` 4,000 million in a 
phased manner to increase, our processing capacities by 
over 9 lakh litres per day. This enhancement in production 
is aimed at primarily for value-added products such as 
flavoured milk, variants of cheese, UHT milk, table butter, 
paneer, yoghurts, and cream. 

3. Quality 
We abide to the stringent quality norms of the authorities 
and regulatory bodies. Our plants are ISO 22000:2005 
certified for its Quality Management Systems and comply 
with Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points (HACCP) to 
ensure safe and quality products. In addition, our products 
are Bureau of Indian Standards (BIS) certified and awarded 
the “ISI” mark. 

We are also installing the latest processing machines, 
including robots which involve minimum human 
intervention. Our stringent in-house quality control tests 
will enhance customer stickiness, develop strong brand 
salience and help widen our customer base.

We are evaluating the entire value-chain from cattle 
to customer and making systemic fixes and process 
improvements wherever required with an objective to make 
quality as the strongest vertical within the organization.

4. Distribution Network 
Our aim is to increase product penetration in our target 
markets. To achieve this, we have applied SBU (Strategic 
Business Unit) based approach and has formed three 
divisions where each division is headed by Profit Managers 
responsible for its performance. 

 � Fresh Products Division (for pouched milk, dahi/curd, 
chaach and paneer) 

 � Consumer Products Division (for flavoured milk, ghee, 
cheese, table butter, yoghurts etc.)

 � Institutional/B2B Division (for dairy whiteners, 
skimmed milk powders, whole-milk powders, bulk milk 
etc.)

We are working towards increasing our reach by 
strengthening our trade channels.  We leverage various 
trade channels to reach to our customer base across the 
northern pockets of the country. We grew our dealer 
network by adding 750 dealers over the last three years. 
Today we have a network of 1,800 dealers and access to 
40,000 points of sale across Northern India. We are also 
organizing various training programmes, combination 
of classroom sessions and e-learning for our sales team 
directed toward competence mapping and enhancing their 
performance, communication & relationship/customer 
management skills, etc. Also, the Company is in the process 
of automating and integrating various sales processes 
to track performance (product, market, sales team, 
relationship management etc.) on real-time basis. 
We aim to enhance our presence to least 1,00,000 point of 
sale in the northern region over the period of next 3-4 years. 
Going ahead, we will also leverage general and modern 
trade channels, and select online modes to enhance our 
product reach to consumers. 
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Channel Engagement: It would encompass both dealer 
and retailer level branding, attractive promotional schemes 
(periodic/festivals), and other engagement activities. At 
the retail level, activities like in-shop branding with posters, 
danglers, buntings, and stand-boards along with attractive 
promotional/festival schemes on an ongoing basis, 
improved margins/commissions will be conducted. On the 
dealer front, we will indulge in sample distribution, dealer 
boards, launch of various promotional schemes on an on-
going basis (periodical/Festival) like offering free products 
on large orders, improving margins/commissions.

Going ahead, the Company will focus on market 
penetration with specific investments towards entering into 
modern trade channels while strengthening its presence in 
traditional trade channels. 

6. Information Technology 
We have focused on strengthening our internal processes 
by building a strong information technology platform. We 
have a strong focus toward automation and are automating 
our sales processes to track performance on a real time 
basis. We have positioned information management as an 
integrator, aligning the all function with the ERP to boost 
faster decision making backed by strong data analytics. We 
have E&Y for our IT transformation. This engagement is with 
an objective to develop B2C aligned IT roadmap, which will 
be implemented in phases within the organisation.  The 
functional heads are also involved in this transformation to 
assess their automation needs. All these initiatives will result 
in improving operational efficiencies.

7.      People 
Our key focus has been to strengthen our management 
expertise in line with the expansion plan. We expanded our 
human capital pool by hiring the best talent and performers 
from top-notch companies within and outside the dairy 
industry. The management team comprises of professionals 
with experience of working in companies like Amul, Mother 
Dairy, Parle, Cadbury, India Today, Taj group of Hotels among 
others. We are confident that with their industrial expertise 
and competencies we will move closer towards attaining 
business excellence. 
Further, Kwality is the first private dairy company that has 
taken the initiative of issuing ESOPs to employees across 
levels. This initiative helped making our employees our 
partners in growth. 

5. Branding
We engaged best-in-class marketing partners for 
seamless roll-out of integrated marketing and consumer 
management programs. We aim to enhance our brand 
salience by conducting periodic ATL and BTL activities in 
target markets 

To enhance brand reach, the Company has roped in leading 
Bollywood actor Akshay Kumar as its Brand Ambassador.  
We are on a high growth trajectory and undergoing a 
major strategic transformation. We have robust plans for 
the consumer market and this association will help Kwality 
draw a lot of strength from the actor’s reputation. 
Kwality has engaged reputed marketing and advertising 
companies for effective implementation of planned 
activities: McCann for Creative, Zenith Optimedia for Media 
Planning, and Digital Quotient for Social Media. It has 
devised an integrated communication plan, a combination 
of Above-the-line (ATL) and Below-the-line activities (BTL), 
Customer Engagement, and Channel Engagement activities 
to increase its customer base, maximize sales, create strong 
brand pull/recall, enrich customer buying experience, and 
strengthen its market position. 

ATL and BTL Activities: Activities include covering Television, 
Cinemas, Radio, Print (Magazines/Newspapers, pamphlets), 
Social Media and Outdoor (including Bill-Boards, Signage’s, 
Hoardings, among others.) 

Customer Engagement: Activities include organising 
events/roadshows in residential complexes, health & 
fitness centers, commercial complexes including Malls & 
Hi-Street markets and door-to-door sample distribution and 
promotional campaigns.
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Research & Development 
Over the years, Kwality invested in cutting-edge 
technologies to address emerging product safety 
benchmarks and offer innovative products. The 
Company possesses a strong Research and Development 
infrastructure which encompass a technological advanced 
equipment and in-house testing labs with stringent quality 
control. 

Supporting the strong infrastructure, the Company has 
a dedicated and experienced team of professionals. The 
strong R&D team is focused on product innovation aim to 
creating a strong product pipeline of distinct/differentiated 
products, monitoring quality of milk procured to ensure 
adherance to parameters, ensuring final product quality, 
consistent taste of our products. 

Consolidated Financial Overview
The financial performance of the Company improved 
during FY 2015-16. The Company recorded revenue of  
` 64,438 million, EBITDA of ` 4,185 Million and PAT of  
` 1,736 million during the year. It delivered healthy overall 
growth with Revenues, EBITDA and PAT grew at 9%, 16% 
and 4% respectively as compared to FY2014-15. 

Future Outlook
Kwality Limited is on the path of becoming a best in class 
consumer facing dairy company in India compliant to 
global standards. Rising demand, migration of consumers 
to packed milk and better margins in the value-added 
segment denote significant growth potential in the 
business. We will be focusing on launching various new 
products catering to the increasing health needs of the 
Indian consumers. There is increased consumer interest in 
value-added products owing to a significant transformation 
and shift in dynamics having taken place in the Indian 
demographic scene.

With value-added products having higher margins 
compared to the liquid milk segment, your Company has 
shifted focus to addition of new products in its existing 
product line. Your Company is planning to strengthen 
its procurement infrastructure to ensure sustained 
availability of quality milk at different locations in North 
India. The Company also plans to increase its share of milk 
procurement directly from farmer from existing 20% to 
50% over the next 3-4 years. Further, the Company will also 
increase milk procurement through Hybrid procurement 
system. 
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With its transformation to retail business, the Company will 
focus on enhancing its brand visibility through aggressive 
marketing and brand building exercises.

The Company emphasised on creating strategic business 
unit to deepen focus on each of its business segments 
(fresh products, consumer products and institutional 
products). It is also setting up robust IT infrastructure to 
enhance best practices while aiding in process integration 
and automation of processes.

Overall, we wish to gain better strength against competition 
by studying new products, their substitutes, and our 
stakeholder in the value chain such as the suppliers, the 
customers, and institutions.

Human Resources
At Kwality, Human Capital is our most crucial resource 
contributing towards the success of the organisation. Our 
aim is to ensure that only individuals perfectly matching 
the required trade skillsets, attributes and soft skills for each 
position are hired. Our constant focus is to orient and induct 
the hired resources with a structured induction programme. 
We make the requisite investments in their training and 
development to constantly upgrade their skillsets. Apart 
from this, we have introduced several notable initiatives to 
retain and nurture our human capital. 

a. Focus on significantly increasing human capital 
pool as part of expansion plans. 
The HR Team has taken a lead in expanding its human 
capital pool by hiring the best talent and performers having 
rich experience of working in top-notch companies like 
Amul, Mother Dairy, Parle, Cadbury, India Today, Taj Group 
of Hotels among others. This includes bringing in frontline 
sales workforce for our Fresh Dairy Products division. 

b. Process of bolstering the management team with 
recruits from leading FMCGs and corporates.
HR has taken a lead in business transformation by 
strengthening the Core Management and Business Verticals 
team. We are confident that with their industrial expertise 
and competencies, we will restructure our processes and 
operating procedures to attain business excellence.

c. Introduced various initiatives such as ESOPs, fast 
track growth and reward plans. 
We have restructured the HR processes to bring 
operational efficiency into the organisation, which includes 

introduction of practices and policies. To further develop 
Human Resource capital and as a strategic step towards 
talent retention, we have taken several initiatives. Some of 
these are: introduction of Employees Stock Option Plan to 
enhance employees’ ownership and belongingness to the 
organisation, performance-linked incentives to reward each 
contributor on achievement of his/her quarterly assigned 
goals. We also introduced and successfully implemented 
structured Performance Management System to reward 
well-deserved high-performers. 

We have introduced systematic and structured orientation 
programs for new employees to cover the details of the 
organisation’s products, culture and values, creating a high 
impression/picture of the organisation, policies and career 
path. We have revamped our learning initiatives, having 
roped in bottom line support functional staff such as front 
office, drivers and security guards. We have come up with a 
few more talent retention initiatives. 

The Company is in the process of re-evaluating and 
modernising the entire organisational structure. It is 
building upon management with recruits having rich 
experience of working with top notch corporates both, 
within and outside of dairy industry. We have made some 
senior-level recruits recently that include an HR Head, Head 
– Purchase, Head – Products and Group Brand Manager 
– Marketing. In order to retain quality personnel, various 
initiatives have been introduced (including ESOPs) for all 
employees at all levels and also the Fast Track Growth & 
Reward plans for the performing employees.

Internal Control Systems
The Company has a proper and adequate system of internal 
controls to ensure all assets are safeguarded and protected 
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition and that 
the transactions are authorised, recorded and reported 
correctly. These internal controls are supplemented by 
an extensive programme of internal audit carried out by 
reputed firms of Chartered Accountants. Your Company 
has an Audit Committee consisting of three Directors. The 
Audit Committee, Board of Directors, Statutory Auditors 
and the Business Heads are periodically apprised of the 
internal audit findings and corrective actions taken. The 
Audit Committee, reviews the adequacy and effectiveness 
of internal control system and suggest improvement(s) if 
any. The Company has a robust Management Information 
System which is an integral part of the control mechanism.
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Quality Standards
Your Company is committed to providing consumers 
with high quality products. It follows stringent quality 
assurance norms, has state-of-the-art technology and 
high degree of automation and is continuously improving 
the products to ensure taste preference with a nutritional 
advantage. Your Company’s commitment to international 
quality standards for Food Safety is based on Codex 
Standards for Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points 
(HACCP) to ensure safe and quality products for consumers. 
Every product has to pass a full test to evaluate its life/
yield, and overall performance under a wide range of 
environmental conditions. Sustained delivery on this 
commitment has ensured that your Company’s products 
are trusted by consumers. During the year, your Company 
continued its focus on driving the quality culture and total 
productivity management across the factories. The ongoing 
engagement has continued to benefit your Company by 
streamlining of the planning activity, savings through 
optimisation of processes, reducing waste especially in non-
quality areas, while maintaining focus on further improving 
quality and competitiveness.

Information Technology
Your Company continues to invest in Information 
Technology to improve operational efficiencies and 
enhance productivity. Our business intelligence system 
helps us analyse secondary sales data and information 
that helps drive top line growth through identification of 
new opportunities and areas of growth. Your Company 
continues to invest in Information Technology (IT) to 
improve operational efficiencies and enhance productivity. 
Advances in new manufacturing process technology 
may allow the use of mostly dairy ingredients and small 
amount of fresh milk in the manufacture of dairy product. 
Your Company continuously focuses to build powerful IT 
capabilities. Your Company is also implementing analytics 
in procurement to enable its procurement team to gain 
greater visibility and better forecast commodity price 
trends. During the year, your Company implemented the 
ERP solution which will not only help in standardization 
of the process but also motivated cross-functional team 
and senior management, the new system can supply the 
tools and the industry-proven best practices that will take 
your Company to the next level of performance, longevity, 
information on real time basis and profit.
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Risk Management
The Company’s risk management framework is based 
on a clear understanding of various risks, disciplined risk 
assessment and measurement procedures and continuous 
monitoring. The policies and procedures established for this 
purpose are continuously benchmarked with international 
best practices.

The Company ahs constituted the Risk Management 
Committee in line with the provisions of Regulation 21 of 
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015. The Board of the company has formed 
a risk management committee to frame, implement and 
monitor the risk management plan for the company. 
The committee is responsible for reviewing the risk 
management plan and ensuring its effectiveness. Major 
risks identified by the businesses and functions are 
systematically addressed through mitigating actions on a 
continuing basis.

The risk management process is continuously improved and 
adapted to the changing global risk scenario. The agility of 
the risk management process is monitored and reviewed for 
appropriateness with the changing risk landscape. 

Environment and Safety
Your Company has adopted all the essential Techniques, 
Mechanisms and International Standard Measures for the 
Safety & Protection of workers at all the factories of the 
Company. Your Company has consistently emphasized 
sustainable use of natural and non-renewable resources. 
Within the factories the efforts are on-going to continuously 
assess and improve operational efficiencies, minimize 
consumption of natural resources, and reduce consumption 
of water, energy and emission of CO2 even as production 
volumes are maximized. Within the factories your Company 
constantly evaluates new initiatives that could reduce 
waste and emissions and actively engages the employees 
to increase awareness about the need to sustain the 
environment. All processes use state-of-the-art technology, 
follow our Kwality Environmental Management System, 
and comply with government policies, laws and regulations 
relating to the environment. Your Company believes that 
safety practices are important in every activity, function 
and location wherever the employees are engaged, and is 
committed to maintaining the safety culture.

Cautionary Statement
This document contains statements about expected future 
events, financial and operating results of Kwality Limited, 
which are forward-looking. By their nature, forward-looking 
statements require the Company to make assumptions 
and are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties. There 
is significant risk that the assumptions, predictions and 
other forward-looking statements will not prove to be 
accurate. Readers are cautioned not to place undue 
reliance on forward-looking statements as a number of 
factors could cause assumptions, actual future results and 
events to differ materially from those expressed in the 
forward-looking statements. Accordingly, this document 
is subject to the disclaimer and qualified in its entirely by 
the assumptions, qualifications and risk factors referred 
to in the management’s discussion and analysis of Kwality 
Limited’s Annual Report, 2015-16.
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Notice 
 

 

 

Notice is hereby given that the Twenty Fourth Annual General 

Meeting of the Members of KWALITY LIMITED will be held on 

Friday, the 30th day of September, 2016 at 9.30 A.M. at Lavanya, 

G.T. Karnal Road, Palla Bakhtavarpur Mord, Alipur, New Delhi - 

110036, to transact the following business: - 

 

ORDINARY BUSINESS: 

1. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Balance Sheet as 

at March 31, 2016 and Profit & Loss Account and cash flow 

statement for the year ended on that date, together with the 

reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon. 

 

2. To declare dividend for the financial year 2015-16. 

 

3. To appoint a Director in place of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra (DIN: 

00025376), who retires by rotation and, being eligible, offers 

himself for re-appointment. 

 

4. To ratify the appointment of auditors of the Company, to fix 

their remuneration and to pass the following resolution with 

or without modification(s), as an Ordinary  Resolution: 

 

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 139,142 of 

the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”), and other applicable provisions 

of the Act, if any and the rules made there under, pursuant to the 

recommendations of the audit committee of the Board of Directors, 

the appointment of M/s. P.P. Mukerjee & Associates, Chartered 

Accountants (ICAI Firm Registration No. 023276N), as the auditors 

of the Company to hold office till the conclusion of the AGM to 

be held in the year 2019 (subject to ratification of their 

appointment at every AGM) be and is hereby ratified and that the 

Board of Directors be and is hereby authorized to fix the 

remuneration payable to them for the financial year ending March 

31,2017 as may be determined by the audit committee in 

consultation with the auditors, and that such remuneration as 

may be mutually agreed between the Board of Directors of the 

Company and the Auditors”. 

 

SPECIAL BUSINESS: 

5. APPOINTMENT OF DR. SATYENDRA KUMAR BHALLA AS 

DIRECTOR 

 

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution with 

or without modification(s), as an Ordinary Resolution: 

 

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 149, 152 

and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 

2013 (‘Act”) and the Companies (Appointment and Qualifications of 

Directors) Rules 2014, Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla (DIN: 06651319), 

who was appointed an Additional Director of the Company with 

effect from October 08, 2015 by the Board of Directors and who 

holds ofice upto the date of this Annual General Meeting of the 

Company under Section 161(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 but who 

is eligible for appointment and in respect of whom the Company 

has received a notice in writing under Section 160(1) of the Act 

from a Member proposing his candidature for office of Director, 

be and is hereby appointed as Director of the Company.” 

 

6. APPOINTMENT OF DR. SATYENDRA KUMAR BHALLA AS 

WHOLE-TIME DIRECTOR 

 

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution with 

or without modification(s), as an Ordinary Resolution: 

 

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 196, 197, 

203 and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 

2013 (the Act) read with Schedule V to the Act and the Rules made 

thereunder, as amended from time to time and pursuant to the 

recommendation of Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination 

Committee, Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla (DIN: 06651319) be and is 

hereby appointed as Whole Time Director of the Company for a 

period of 5 years w.e.f 08th October, 2015 to 07th October, 2020 and 

he will be paid remuneration as per Schedule V of the Companies 

Act, 2013, set out below with liberty to the Directors to alter, vary or 

increase the remuneration specified below from time to time to the 

extent the Board of Directors may deem appropriate, provided that 

such variation or increase, as the case may be, is within the overall 

limits as specified under the relevant provisions of the Companies 

Act, 2013 and/or as approved by the Central Government or such 

other competent authority, if applicable and in such  manner  as 

may be agreed to between the Board of Directors and Dr. Satyendra 

Kumar Bhalla (DIN: 06651319) 

 

Basic Salary :      ₹ 1,67,000/- p.m 

House Rent Allowance   :    ₹ 83,500/- p.m 

Special Allowance :      ₹ 42,979/- p.m 

Other Allowance :      ₹ 37,004/- p.m 

 

Other Perquisites: 

 

1. Reimbursement of medical expenses actually incurred for self 

and family, subject to a ceiling of ₹ 1,250/- p.m. 

 

2. Mediclaim Policy for self and Family as per policy of Company. 

 

3. Leave travel concession/ allowance for self and family as per 

rules of the Company. 

 

4. Leave on full pay and allowance, as per the rules of the 

Company. 

 

5. Benefits of Provident Fund and Pension/Superannuation 

Fund, if provided, however that the contribution to Provident 

Fund, Pension/Superannuation Fund will not be considered or 
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included for the computation of ceilings on perquisites to the 
extent that these either singly or put together are not taxable 
under the Income Tax Act.

6. Gratuity, not exceeding half a month salary for each completed 
year of service and as per the rules of the company

7. Conveyance Allowance, reimbursement of car with driver and 
maintenance subject to ceiling of Rs.1,600/- p.m. 

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT notwithstanding anything herein, 
where in any financial year during the tenure of the Whole-Time 
Director, the Company has no profits or its profits are inadequate, 
the Company may subject to receipt of the requisite approvals 
including approval of Central Government, if any, pay to the 
Whole-Time Director the above remuneration as the minimum 
remuneration by way of salary, perquisites, performance pay, other 
allowances and benefits and that the perquisites pertaining to 
contribution to provident fund, superannuation fund or annuity 
fund, gratuity and leave encashment shall not be included in the 
computation of the ceiling on remuneration specified in Section II 
and Section III of part II of Schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla, Whole 
Time Director be and is hereby designated as Key Managerial 
Personnel in terms of Section 2(51) read with Section 203 of the 
Companies Act, 2013.

7. APPOINTMENT OF MS. ANKITA MEHROTRA AS WOMEN 
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution with 
or without modification(s), as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to Section 149, 150, 152 and other 
applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 and the 
rules made there under (including any statutory modification(s) or 
re-enactment thereof for the time being in force) read with Schedule 
IV of the Companies Act, 2013, Ms. Ankita Mehrotra (DIN: 07412370 
), who was appointed as an Additional Director of the Company by 
the Board of Directors with effect from January 23, 2016 and who 
hold office till the date of the AGM, in terms of Section 161 of the 
Companies Act, 2013, and in respect of whom the Company has 
received a notice in writing from a member under Section 160 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 signifying his intension to propose Ankita 
Mehrotra (DIN: 07412370) as a candidate for the office of a director 
of the Company, be and is hereby appointed as an Independent 
Director of the Company for a period up to January 22, 2021, not 
liable to retire by rotation.”  

8. APPOINTMENT OF MR. ASHOK KUMAR GUPTA AS AN 
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution with 
or without modification(s), as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to Section 149, 150, 152 and other 
applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 and the 
rules made there under (including any statutory modification(s) 
or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force) read with 
Schedule IV of the Companies Act, 2013, Mr. Ashok Kumar Gupta 
(DIN: 00016704), who was appointed as an Additional Director 
of the Company by the Board of Directors with effect from June 
14, 2016 and who hold office till the date of the AGM, in terms of 
Section 161 of the Companies Act, 2013, and in respect of whom 
the Company has received a notice in writing from a member under 
Section 160 of the Companies Act, 2013 signifying his intension to 
propose Mr. Ashok Kumar Gupta (DIN: 00016704) as a candidate for 
the office of a director of the Company, be and is hereby appointed 
as an Independent Director of the Company for a period up to June 
13, 2021, not liable to retire by rotation.”  

9. RATIFICATION OF COST AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modification, 
the following Resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to provisions of Section 148 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (the “Act”) and other applicable provisions 
of the Act read with the relevant Rules thereunder, (including any 
statutory modification(s) or re-enactment thereof for the time being 
in force), consent of the Company be and is hereby accorded for the 
payment of remuneration of ` 1,00,000/- (Rupees One lakh only) 
plus applicable service tax and reimbursement of out of pocket 
expenses to M/s M K Jha & Co, Cost Accountants, (Firm Registration 
No. 101333) appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company to 
conduct the audit of cost records of the Company for the financial 
year ending on March 31, 2017.

10. ISSUE OF SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY FOR AN AMOUNT 
OF UP TO ` 10,000 MILLION 

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution with 
or without modification(s), as Special Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 42, 62 
and other applicable Provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013, 
Companies ( Share Capital and Debentures) Rules, 2014 and all 
applicable rules made thereunder (including any amendments 
/ modifications thereto or re-enactment thereof ) (the “Act”) and 
pursuant to the provisions of Securities and Exchange Board of 
India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
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2009, (the “SEBI ICDR Regulations”), as amended, and subject to all 
the other rules, regulations, guidelines, notifications and circulars 
prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”), 
the applicable provisions of the Foreign Exchange Management 
Act, 1999, as amended (“FEMA”) and regulations made thereunder 
including the Foreign Exchange Management (Transfer or Issue 
of Security by a Person Resident Outside India) Regulations, 2000, 
the Issue of Foreign Currency Convertible Bonds and Ordinary 
Shares ( through Depository Receipt Mechanism) Scheme, 1993 
and the enabling provisions of the Memorandum and Articles of 
Association of the Company, the Listing Agreements entered into 
by the Company with the Stock Exchanges where the Company’s 
equity shares are listed (“Listing Agreements”), and in accordance 
with the applicable regulations and/ or guidelines issued by any 
other competent authorities and/ or clarifications issued thereon, 
from time to time and subject to all such approvals, permissions, 
consents and / or sanctions as may be necessary from the 
Government of India (“GOI”), the Reserve Bank of India (“RBI”), 
SEBI, the Stock Exchanges, the Ministry of Finance (Department of 
Economic Affairs) and Ministry of Commerce & Industry (Foreign 
Investment Promotion Board / Secretariat for Industrial Assistance) 
and / or all other ministries, departments or other statutory or local 
authorities of the GOI and/or any other competent governmental 
or regulatory authorities as may be required, whether in India or 
outside India (hereinafter collectively referred to as Appropriate 
Authority’) and subject to such conditions and / or modifications as 
may be prescribed by any of them while granting such approvals, 
permissions, consents and / or sanctions (hereinafter referred to 
as “Requisite Approvals”), which may be agreed to by the Board of  
Directors of the Company (hereinafter referred to as the “Board”, 
which term shall be deemed to include any duly authorised 
Committee constituted or may hereinafter be constituted and/
or any Director(s) of the Company, delegated with the powers 
necessary  for the purpose, (including the powers conferred by this 
Resolution), consent of the Members of the Company be and is 
hereby accorded to the Board of Directors or Committee thereof to 
create, offer, issue and allot in one or more tranches, whether rupee 
denominated or denominated in foreign currency in the course 
of international and/or domestic market for  a value of up to Rs. 
10,000 Million  (Rupees Ten thousand millions only), such number 
of Equity Shares, Global Depository Receipts(GDRs), American 
Depository Receipts(ADRs) , Foreign Currency Convertible Bonds 
(FCCBs), Warrants Convertible/ Non-Convertible, Compulsory 
convertible preference shares(CCPS) and/or  Equity Shares through 
Depository Mechanism and/or Fully/Partly Convertible Debentures  
and/or Non-Convertible Debentures (NCDs) with or without 
warrants and/or  Equity Shares through Convertible Securities, 
or any other financial instruments convertible into or linked to 
Equity Shares and/or any other instruments and/or combination 
of instruments with or without detachable warrants with a right 

exercisable by the warrant holders to convert or subscribe to the 
Equity Shares or otherwise, in registered or bearer form including 
without limitation, the Securities as defined under the Securities 
Contract Regulation Act,1956 and the rules made thereunder as 
amended from time to time (hereinafter collectively referred to as 
the “Securities”) whether, secured or unsecured, Listed on any stock 
exchange(s) in India, through an offer document and/or prospectus 
and/or offer letter and/or offering circular and/or placement 
document, and/or listing particulars, to any person including 
foreign / resident investors (whether institutions, incorporated 
bodies, mutual funds and/or individuals or otherwise), foreign 
institutional investors, venture capital funds, foreign venture capital 
investors, qualified foreign investors, alternative investment funds, 
multilateral and bilateral financial institutions, state industrial 
development corporations, insurance companies, provident funds, 
pension funds, insurance funds set up by army, navy, or air force 
of the Union of India, insurance funds set up and managed by the 
Department of Posts, India, development financial institutions, 
Indian mutual funds, non-resident Indians, promoters, members 
of group companies, Indian public, bodies corporate, companies 
(private or public) or other entities, authorities, and/or any other 
categories of investors, whether they be holders of Equity Shares 
of the Company or not (collectively called the “Investors”) including 
allotment in exercise of a green shoe option, if any, by the Company, 
through public issue(s), rights issue(s), private placement(s), and / 
or qualified institutional placement under Chapter VIII of the SEBI 
(ICDR) Regulations or a combination thereof at such time or times, 
at such price or prices, at a  discount or premium to the market 
price or prices, including discounts as permitted under applicable 
law, in such manner and on such terms and conditions including 
security, rate of interest and conversion terms, as may be decided 
by and deemed appropriate by the Board in its absolute discretion 
including the discretion to determine the categories of investors to 
whom the offer, issue and allotment shall be made to the exclusion 
of all other categories of investors at the time of such issue and 
allotment considering the prevailing market conditions and other 
relevant factors wherever necessary in consultation with the lead 
managers, or other advisor(s) for such issue(s), as the Board in its 
absolute discretion may deem fit and appropriate”

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT if any issue of Securities is made by 
way of a qualified institutional placement in terms of Chapter VIII 
of the SEBI (ICDR) Regulations, the allotment of the Securities, or 
any combination of Securities as may be decided by the Board 
shall be completed within twelve months from the date of this 
resolution or such other time as may be allowed under the SEBI 
(ICDR) Regulations from time to time and the Securities shall not be 
eligible to be sold for a period of twelve months from the date of 
allotment, except on a recognized stock exchange, or except as may 
be permitted from time to time under the SEBI (ICDR) Regulations”
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RESOLVED FURTHER THAT in the event that Equity Shares are 
issued to qualified institutional buyers under Chapter VIII of the 
SEBI (ICDR) Regulations, the relevant date for the purpose of pricing 
of the Equity Shares shall be the date of the meeting in which the  
Board decides to open the proposed issue of Equity Shares and at 
such price being not less than the price determined in accordance 
with the pricing formula (including any permitted discounts) 
provided under Chapter VIII of the SEBI (ICDR) Regulations”

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT in the event the Securities are proposed 
to be issued as FCCBs, ADRs, or GDRs, the relevant date for the 
purpose of pricing the Securities shall be the date of the meeting 
in which the Board decide to open the issue of such Securities in 
accordance with the Issue of Foreign Currency Convertible Bonds 
and Ordinary Shares ( through the Depository Receipt Mechanism) 
Scheme 1993 and other applicable pricing provisions issued by the 
Ministry of Finance  

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT without prejudice to the generality 
of the above, the aforesaid Securities may have such features and 
attributes or any terms or combination of terms in accordance 
with the prevailing practices and regulations in the capital markets 
including but not limited to the terms and conditions in relation to 
payment of interest, additional interest,  premium on redemption, 
prepayment whatsoever including terms for issue of additional 
Equity Shares or variation of the conversion price of the Securities 
during the term of the Securities and the Board be and is hereby 
authorised in its absolute discretion to dispose off such of the 
Securities that are not subscribed in such  manner as it may deem 
fit”

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the issue of Securities which are 
convertible into Equity Shares shall, inter alia, be subject to the 
following terms and conditions:

(a)  in the event of the Company making a bonus issue by way of 
capitalisation of its profits or reserves prior to the allotment of 
the Equity Shares, the number of Equity Shares to be allotted 
shall stand augmented in the same proportion in which the  
Equity Share capital increases as a consequence of such bonus 
issue and the premium, if any, shall stand reduced pro rata;

(b) in the event of the Company making a rights offer by issue of 
Equity Shares prior to the allotment of the Equity Shares, the 
entitlement to the Equity Shares shall stand increased in the 
same proportion as that of the rights offer and such additional 
Equity Shares shall be offered to the holders of the Securities 
at the same price at which the same are offered to the existing 
shareholders; and

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board be and is hereby authorised 
to appoint lead managers, co-managers, underwriters, guarantors, 

depositories, custodians, registrars, trustees, bankers, lawyers, 
advisors, auditors, stabilizing agent and all such agencies as may 
be involved or concerned in such offerings of Securities and to 
remunerate them by way of commission, brokerage, fees or the 
like and also to enter into and execute all such arrangements, 
agreements, memorandum, documents, etc., with such agencies 
and also to seek the listing of such Securities on stock exchange(s), 
to seek consent, if required from lenders of the Company and parties 
with whom the Company has entered into various commercial and 
other agreements in connection with the issue and allotment of 
Securities and also to open one or more bank accounts in the name 
of the Company within or outside India, as may be required, subject 
to receipt of requisite approvals wherever required from the RBI or 
any regulatory authority, as applicable”

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board be and is hereby authorised 
to issue and allot such number of Equity Shares including issue and 
allotment of Equity Shares as may be required to be issued and 
allotted upon conversion of any Securities or as may be necessary 
in accordance with the terms of the offering, all such Equity Shares 
that may be issued and allotted by the Company, including issue 
and allotment of equ ity shares upon conversion of any securities 
referred above, shall be issued and allotted in accordance with the 
provisions of the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the 
Company and shall rank paripassu inter se with the existing Equity 
Shares of the Company in all respects except as provided otherwise 
under the terms of issue/offering and in accordance with the offer 
document and/or prospectus and/or offer letter and/or offering 
circular and/or listing particulars”

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT for the purpose of giving effect to 
the above, the Board be and is hereby authorised to determine 
the form, terms and timing of the issue(s), including the class of 
Investors to whom the Securities are to be allotted, number of 
Securities to be allotted in each tranche, issue price, face value, 
discount(s) permitted under applicable law (now or hereafter), 
premium amount on issue/conversion of Securities, listings on 
stock exchanges in India as the Board in its absolute discretion 
deems fit and to make and accept any modifications in the proposal 
as may be required by the authorities involved in such issues, to do 
all acts, deeds, matters and things and to settle any questions or 
difficulties that may arise in regard to the issue(s)”

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT for the purpose of giving effect to the 
above resolutions, the Board be and is hereby authorized to do all 
such acts, deeds, matters and things including but not limited to 
finalization and approval of the preliminary as well as final offer 
document(s), placement document or offering circular, as the case 
may be, execution of various transaction documents, creation of 
mortgage/ charge in accordance with Section 180 of the Companies 
Act 2013 or such other provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and 
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the Rules made thereunder, in respect of any Securities as may 
be required either on pari passu basis or otherwise as it may in its 
absolute discretion deem fit and to settle all questions, difficulties 
or doubts that may arise in regard to the issue, offer or allotment 
of Securities and utilization of the issue proceeds as it may in its 
absolute discretion deem fit without being required to seek further 
consent or approval of the members or otherwise to the end and 
intent that the members shall be deemed to have given their 
approval thereto expressly by the authority of this resolution”

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board be and is hereby authorised 
to delegate (to the extent permitted by law) all or any of the powers 
herein conferred to any committee of directors or any executive 
director or directors or any other officer or officers of the Company 
to give effect to the aforesaid resolutions”

By Order of the Board 

  Sd/- 
(Pradeep K. Srivastava) 

(Company Secretary & Compliance Officer)

Place : New Delhi  
Date : August 22, 2016 

NOTES:
1. A MEMBER OF THE COMPANY ENTITLED TO ATTEND 

AND VOTE AT THE MEETING IS ENTITLED TO APPOINT A 
PROXY TO ATTEND AND VOTE INSTEAD OF HIMSELF AND 
THE PROXY NEED NOT BE A MEMBER OF THE COMPANY. 
PROXIES, IN ORDER TO BE EFFECTIVE MUST BE RECEIVED, 
DULY FILLED AND AUTHENTICATED AT REGISTERED 
OFFICE OF THE COMPANY NOT LESS THAN 48 HOURS 
(FORTY-EIGHT HOURS) BEFORE THE SCHEDULED TIME OF 
THE MEETING.

2. The relevant Explanatory Statement pursuant to Section 102 
(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 setting out material facts 
relating to the business at item no. 5 to item no. 10 of the 
Notice as set out above, is annexed hereto.

3. Member/Proxies should bring the Attendance Slip in the 
Meeting duly filed in, for attending the meeting.

4. Statutory Registers under the Companies Act, 2013 is available 
for the inspection at the Registered Office of the Company 
during business hours.

5. Corporate Members are requested to send a duly certified 
copy of the Board Resolution, pursuant to Section 113 of the 
Companies Act, 2013, authorizing their representative to 
attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting.

6. Members are requested to bring their admission slips along 
with copy of the report & accounts to the Annual General 
Meeting.

7. Members who wish to obtain information of the Company 
or view the accounts for the financial year ended  
March 31, 2016, may visit the Company’s website www.kdil.in. 

8. The dividend as recommended by the Board of Directors, if 
declared at this Annual General Meeting, will be paid within 30 
days after the date of declaration:

 y To those shareholders whose names appear on the 
Company’s Register of Members after giving effect to 
all valid share transfers in physical form lodged with 
the Registrar and Transfer Agents (R&T Agents) of the 
Company on or before Friday, September 23, 2016.

 y In respect of shares held in electronic form (demat mode), 
dividend will be paid to those “deemed members” whose 
names appear in the statements of beneficial ownership 
furnished by National Securities Depository Limited 
(NSDL) and Central Depository Services (India) Limited 
(CDSL) as at the close  of business hours on Friday, 
September 23, 2016.

 y Physical shares – Payment of dividend through NECS: 
Members holding shares in physical form are advised 
to submit particulars of their bank account, viz. name 
and address of the branch of the bank, MICR Code of 
the branch, type of account and account number at the 
earliest to our Registrar and Share Transfer Agent, M/s 
Beetal Financial & Computer Services Private Limited.

9. Pursuant to the provisions of Section 205C of the Companies 
Act 1956 (Section 124 of the Companies Act, 2013), the 
amount of dividend remaining unclaimed for a period of 
seven years from the date of its transfer to Unpaid Dividend 
Accounts of the Company are required to be transferred to 
the Investor Education and Protection Fund. Therefore, the 
amount of unclaimed dividend for the financial year ended 
March 31, 2009 would be transferred to Investor Education 
and Protection Fund. As such, members who have not yet 
encashed their dividend warrant(s) for the financial year ended 
March 31, 2009 and/or subsequent years are requested to 
submit their claims to the Registrar and Share Transfer Agent 
of the Company without any delay.

10. This may be taken as notice of declaration of dividend for the 
financial year 2015-16 in accordance with Article 139 of the 
Article of Association of the Company in respect of dividend 
for that year when declared.

NOTICE FOR TWENTY FOURTH ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING
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11. The Register of Members and Transfer Books of the Company 
will remain closed from September 24, 2016 to September 
30, 2016 (both days inclusive) for the purpose of ascertaining 
eligibility to dividend, if declared.

12. Members are requested to intimate the Registrar and Share 
Transfer Agent of the Company - M/s Beetal Financial & 
Computer Services Private Limited, Beetal House, 3rd Floor, 
99 Madangir, Behind Local Shopping Center, Near Dada 
Harsukhdas Mandir, New Delhi – 110062, immediately of any 
change in their address in respect of equity shares held in 
physical mode and to their DPs in respect of equity shares in 
dematerialized form.

13. Members may avail nomination facility as provided under 
Section 72 of the Companies Act, 2013.

14. Members who hold shares in electronic form are requested 
to write their Client ID and DP ID numbers and those who 
hold shares in physical form are requested to write their Folio 
number in the attendance slip for attending the meeting to 
facilitate identification of membership at the meeting.

15. Across the world, there is an increasing focus on doing our 
share to help save our environment from further degradation. 
Recognizing this trend, the Ministry of corporate Affairs (vide 
circular nos. 17/2011 dated 21.04.2011 and 18/2011 dated 
29.04.2011 respectively), has undertaken a “Green Initiative 
in Corporate Governance” and allowed Companies to share 
documents/notices (including notice calling Annual General 
Meeting, Audited Financial Statements, Directors’ Report, 
Auditors’ Report, etc) with its shareholders through electronic 
mode. The move of the Ministry allows public at large to 
contribute to the green movement. To support this green 
initiative of the Government in full measure, shareholders who 
have not registered their e-mail addresses so far are requested 
to register their e-mail addresses. 

16. The Company hereby gives an opportunity to all the members, 
who have not get their e-mail id recorded, to get it registered 
to avail the facility to receive any communication through 
electronic mode.

17. Members are hereby informed that Dividend which remains 
unclaimed / un-encashed over a period of seven years, has 
to be transferred as per the provisions of Section 124 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 by the Company to “The Investor 
Education & Protection Fund” constituted by the Central 
Government under Section 125 of the Companies Act, 2013. 
It may please be noted that once unclaimed / un-encashed 
dividend is transferred to Investor Education & Protection 
Fund” as above, no claims shall lie in respect of such amount 
by the shareholder against the company.

18. In compliance with the provisions of Section 108 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules framed thereunder and 
Regulation  44 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the Members are provided 
with the facility to cast their vote electronically, through the 
e-voting services provided by CDSL, on all resolutions set forth 
in this Notice.

19. Detail of Directors seeking appointment/re-appointment at 
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting 
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Name of Directors Mr. Sanjay Dhingra Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla Ms. Ankita Mehrotra Mr. Ashok Kumar Gupta

Date of Birth 12th October, 1970 24th January, 1953 13th May, 1989 11th October, 1954

DIN 00025376 06651319 07412370 00016704
Relationship with other 
Directors Inter-se

 None None None  None 

Date of Appointment 18th June, 2003 08th October, 2015 23rd January, 2016 14th June, 2016

Qualification Graduate Ph.D. ,M.Sc. (Dairy Science), 
B.Sc (Hons) Agri & A.H.

B.Com & C.A. B.Com (Hons), CAIIB from India 
Institute of Banking, Diploma in 
Finance Management

Expertise in specific 
functional area

Vast experience in 
dairy business & 
FMCG Products

Product Development, 
Quality Assurance and 
Management, Business and 
Stakeholder Performance 
and Analysis

Accounts, Auditing & 
Taxation

Treasury Management, Debt 
Management, Capital Raising, 
International Operations and 
fund Management

Directorship held in other 
Listed Companies as on 
date

NIL NIL NIL NIL

Chairman/Member of the 
committee of the Board of 
Directors of the Company 
as on  March 31, 2016

Member of 
Management 
Committee

Member of CSR 
Committee

Member of Risk 
Management 
Committee

NIL Member of Audit Committee

Member of Stakeholders 
Relationship Committee

Member of Share Transfer 
Committee

Member of Remuneration, 
Compensation & Nomination 
Committee

Member of Risk Management 
Committee

NIL

Chairman/Member of the 
committee of the other 
companies in which he is 
a director as on   March 
31,  2016 

NIL NIL NIL NIL

Number of Shares held in 
the Company

152,154,714 NIL NIL NIL

Instructions for members for voting electronically are as under:-

i. The voting period begins on September 27, 2016 at 10:00 
AM and ends on September 29, 2016 at 5:00 PM. During this 
period shareholders’ of the Company, holding shares either 
in physical form or in dematerialized form, as on the cut-off 
date September 23, 2016 may cast their vote electronically. 

The e-voting module shall be disabled by CDSL for voting 
thereafter.

ii. The shareholders should log on to the e-voting website www.
evotingindia.com.

iii. Click on Shareholders.

iv. Now Enter your User ID 
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 a. For CDSL: 16 digits beneficiary ID, 

 b. For NSDL: 8 Character DP ID followed by 8 Digits Client ID, 

 c. Members holding shares in Physical Form should enter Folio Number registered with the Company.

v. Next enter the Image Verification as displayed and Click on Login.

vi. If you are holding shares in demat form and had logged on to www.evotingindia.com and voted on an earlier voting of any company, 
then your existing password is to be used. 

vii. If you are a first time user follow the steps given below:

For Members holding shares in Demat Form and Physical Form

PAN*

Enter your 10 digit alpha-numeric *PAN issued by Income Tax Department (Applicable for both demat 
shareholders as well as physical shareholders)

 y Members who have not updated their PAN with the Company/Depository Participant are requested 
to use the first two letters of their name and the 8 digits of the sequence number in the PAN field. 

 y In case the sequence number is less than 8 digits enter the applicable number of 0’s before the 
number after the first two characters of the name in CAPITAL letters. Eg. If your name is Ramesh 
Kumar with sequence number 1 then enter RA00000001 in the PAN field.

Dividend Bank Details

OR

Date of Birth (DOB)

Enter the Dividend Bank Details or Date of Birth (in dd/mm/yyyy format) as recorded in your demat 
account or in the company records in order to login.

 y If both the details are not recorded with the depository or company please enter the member id / 
folio number in the Dividend Bank details field as mentioned in instruction (iv).

(viii) After entering these details appropriately, click on “SUBMIT” tab.

(ix) Members holding shares in physical form will then reach directly the Company selection screen. However, members holding shares 
in demat form will now reach ‘Password Creation’ menu wherein they are required to mandatorily enter their login password in 
the new password field. Kindly note that this password is to be also used by the demat holders for voting for resolutions of any 
other company on which they are eligible to vote, provided that company opts for e-voting through CDSL platform. It is strongly 
recommended not to share your password with any other person and take utmost care to keep your password confidential. 

(x) For members holding shares in physical form, the details can be used only for e-voting on the resolutions contained in this notice.

(xi) Click on the EVSN for the relevant “KWALITY LIMITED” on which you choose to vote.

(xii) On the voting page, you will see Resolution Description and against the same the option “YES/NO” for voting. Select the option YES 
or NO as desired. The option YES implies that you assent to the Resolution and option NO implies that you dissent to the Resolution.

(xiii) Click on the “Resolutions File Link” if you wish to view the entire Resolution Details.

(xiv) After selecting the resolution you have decided to vote on, click on “SUBMIT”. A confirmation box will be displayed. If you wish to 
confirm your vote, click on “OK”, else to change your vote, click on “CANCEL” and accordingly modify your vote.

(xv) Once you “CONFIRM” your vote on the resolution, you will not be allowed to modify your vote.

(xvi) You can also take out print of the voting done by you by clicking on “Click here to print” option on the Voting page.

(xvii) If Demat account holder has forgotten the login password then Enter the User ID and image verification code and click on Forgot 
password & enter the details as promoted by the system. 

(xviii) Shareholders can also cast their vote using CDSL’s mobile app m-Voting available for android based mobiles. The m-Voting app can 
be downloaded from Google Play Store.
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(xix) Note for Non – Individual Shareholders and Custodians

 y Non-Individual shareholders (i.e. other than Individuals, 
HUF, NRI etc.) and Custodian are required to log on to 
www.evotingindia.com and register themselves as 
Corporates.

 y A scanned copy of the Registration Form bearing the 
stamp and sign of the entity should be emailed to 
helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com.

 y After receiving the login details a Compliance User 
should be created using the admin login and password. 
The Compliance User would be able to link the account(s) 
for which they wish to vote on.

 y The list of accounts linked in the login should be mailed 
to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com and on approval of 
the accounts they would be able to cast their vote. 

 y A scanned copy of the Board Resolution and Power of 
Attorney (POA) which they have issued in favour of the 
Custodian, if any, should be uploaded in PDF format in 
the system for the scrutinizer to verify the same.

(xx) In case you have any queries or issues regarding e-voting, 
you may refer the Frequently Asked Questions (“FAQs”) 
and e-voting manual available at www.evotingindia.com, 
under help section or write an email to helpdesk.evoting@
cdslindia.com.

20. Mr. Mukun Arora of M/s Mukun Vivek & Company, Company 
Secretaries has been appointed as the Scrutinizer to 
scrutinize the e-voting process in a fair and transparent 
manner.

21. The notice is being dispatched/emailed to all the members 
whose names appear on the register of members/list of 
beneficial owners as received from the National Securities 
Depository Ltd. (NSDL)/Central Depository Services (India) 
Ltd. (CDSL) on August 26, 2016 and voting rights shall be 
reckoned on the paid-up value of the shares registered in 
the name of the shareholders as on the same date.

 22. The Scrutinizer shall, within a period not exceeding three 
working days from the conclusion of the e-voting period, 
unblock the votes in the presence of at least two witnesses 
not in the employment of the Company and make a 
Scrutinizer’s Report of the votes cast in favour or against, if 
any, forthwith to the Chairman of the Company.

23. The results declared along with the Scrutinizer’s Report 
shall be placed on the Company’s website www.kdil.in 

within two days of the passing of the resolutions at the 
Annual General Meeting of the Company and communicate 
to Stock Exchanges, where the shares of the Company are 
listed.

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 102(1) OF 
THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013

ITEM NO. 5 & 6

Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla was appointed as an Additional Director 
of the Company with effect from October 08, 2015 by the Board 
of Directors under Section 161 of the Act and Article 109 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association. In terms of Section 161(1) of the 
Act, Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla holds office only upto the date of 
the forthcoming AGM but is eligible for appointment as a Director. 
A notice under Section 160(1) of the Act has been received from 
a Member signifying its intention to propose Dr. Satyendra Kumar 
Bhalla appointment as a Director. The Board also appointed Dr. 
Satyendra Kumar Bhalla as the Whole Time Director of the Company 
for the period from October 08, 2015 to October 07, 2020, subject 
to approval of the Members.

Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla is a Ph.D. and also holds a master degree 
in M.Sc in Dairy Science from Agra University. Before joining Kwality 
Limited he was Chief Executive with Maahi Milk Producer Co. Ltd 
Gujarat (Having 1000 Cr. Turnover) a new concept for Dairy Industry 
which is a hybrid of Co-operative and Professional Management. 
Worked as Chief Operating Officer with Mother Dairy Fruit & 
Vegetable Limited (A subsidiary of National Dairy Development 
Board) after completing an assignment as General Manager (QA) 
with GCMMF (Amul). He was President Operations with Schreiber 
Dynamix Dairy and was Senior Manager in Manufacturing Services 
and Quality Assurance in Nestle India Limited. He also worked 
with companies like Yaman Dairy and Juice Industries (Yaman 
Arab Republic) & with Karnataka Dairy Development corporation, 
during all his tenure he represented the company in FICCI, CIFTI and 
Bureau of Indian Standard etc. He was a Panel member in Export 
Inspection Council of India and on the academic board of Technical 
Education National Dairy Research Institute, Karnal. In excess of 35 
years hands on experience gained from within the dairy industry, 
with specific skills in Product development, Quality Assurance and 
Management, Business and Stakeholder Performance and Analysis. 
Business Growth and Development have always ensured that clear 
objectives and expectations are delivered and maintained.

The resolution seeks the approval of members for the appointment 
of Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla as Whole Time Director of the 
Company for a period of 5 years up to October 07, 2020 pursuant 
to Section 196,197 & 203 and other applicable provisions of the 

NOTICE FOR TWENTY FOURTH ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING
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Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules made thereunder. He will be 
liable to retire by rotation.

No Director, Key Managerial Personnel or their relatives, except 
Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla, to whom the resolution relates, are 
interested or concerned in the resolution.

ITEM NO. 7

The Board of Directors, at its meeting held on January 23, 2016 
appointed Ms. Ankita Mehrotra as an Additional Director of the 
company with effect from January 23, 2016, pursuant to section 
161 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with Article 109 of the Article 
of Association of the Company.

Pursuant to the provision of Section 161 of the Companies Act, 
2013, Ms. Ankita Mehrotra will hold office upto the date of the 
ensuing AGM. The Company has received notice in writing under 
the provisions of Section 160 of the Companies Act, 2013, from 
a member, along with a deposit of Rs.1,00,000/- proposing the 
candidature of Ms. Ankita Mehrotra for the office of Independent 
Director, to be appointed as such under the provisions of Section 
149 of the Companies Act,2013.

The Company has received from Ms. Ankita Mehrotra (i) consent 
in writing to act as director in Form DIR 2 pursuant to Rule 8 of 
Companies (Appointment & Qualification of Directors) Rules 2014, 
(ii) intimation in Form DIR 8 in terms of Companies (Appointment & 
Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014, to the effect that she meets 
the criteria of Independence as provided in Sub-section (6) of 
Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013.

The resolution seeks the approval of members for the appointment 
of Ms. Ankita Mehrotra as an Independent Director of the Company 
for a period up to January 22, 2021 pursuant to Section 149 and 
other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the 
Rules made thereunder. She will not be liable to retire by rotation.

No director, key managerial personnel or their relatives, except Ms. 
Ankita Mehrotra, to whom the resolution relates, are interested or 
concerned in the resolution.

ITEM NO. 8

The Board of Directors, at its meeting held on June 14, 2016 
appointed Mr. Ashok Kumar Gupta as an Additional Director of the 
company with effect from June 14, 2016, pursuant to section 161 
of the Companies Act, 2013, read with Article 109 of the Article of 
Association of the Company.

Pursuant to the provision of Section 161 of the Companies Act, 
2013, Mr. Ashok Kumar Gupta will hold office upto the date of the 
ensuing AGM. The Company has received notice in writing under 

the provisions of Section 160 of the Companies Act, 2013, from 
a member, along with a deposit of ` 1,00,000/- proposing the 
candidature of Mr. Ashok Kumar Gupta for the office of Independent 
Director, to be appointed as such under the provisions of Section 
149 of the Companies Act,2013.

The Company has received from Mr. Ashok Kumar Gupta (i) consent 
in writing to act as director in Form DIR 2 pursuant to Rule 8 of 
Companies (Appointment & Qualification of Directors) Rules 2014, 
(ii) intimation in Form DIR 8 in terms of Companies (Appointment & 
Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014, to the effect that he meets 
the criteria of Independence as provided in Sub-section (6) of 
Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013.

The resolution seeks the approval of members for the appointment 
of Mr. Ashok Kumar Gupta as an Independent Director of the 
Company for a period up to June 13, 2021 pursuant to Section 149 
and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the 
Rules made thereunder. He will not be liable to retire by rotation.

No Director, Key Managerial Personnel or their relatives, except Mr. 
Ashok Kumar Gupta, to whom the resolution relates, are interested 
or concerned in the resolution.

ITEM NO. 9

The Company is required under section 148 of the Act to have the 
audit of its cost records conducted by a cost accountant in practice. 
The Board of your Company has, on the recommendation of the 
Audit Committee, approved the appointment of M/s M K Jha & Co., 
Cost Accountants, as the Cost Auditors of the Company to conduct 
cost audit of the Company for the year ending 31st March, 2017 
at a remuneration of Rs.1,00,000/- (Rupees One lakh only) plus 
applicable service tax and out-of-pocket expenses.

M/s M K Jha & Co., Cost Accountants have furnished a certificate 
regarding their eligibility for appointment as Cost Auditors of the 
Company.

The Directors recommend the Ordinary Resolution for the approval 
of the member.

None of the Directors and KMP of the Company or their respective 
relatives is concerned or interested in the Resolution mentioned at 
Item No.9 of the Notice.

ITEM NO. 10

The Company has taken up and intends to take up in several 
growth initiatives in future like expansions, modernizations, new 
projects strengthening of procurement mechanism, establishment 
of milk chilling centers, overseas direct investment in subsidiary 
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companies/joint venture, working capital and other general 
corporate purposes, etc. and any other use which may be required 
in the normal business and as permitted under applicable law from 
time to time. Therefore, there is need to strengthen its financial 
position by augmenting long term resources. The Company plans 
to achieve this by issue of securities in international markets and/
or in domestic market.

Accordingly, the Company proposes to create, offer, issue and 
allot such number of Equity Shares, Global Depository Receipts 
(GDRs), American Depository Receipts( ADRs), Foreign Currency 
Convertible Bonds (FCCBs), Warrants Convertible/ Non- Convertible, 
Compulsory Convertible Preference Shares (CCPS) and/or Equity 
Shares through Depository Receipt Mechanism and/or Fully/ Partly 
Convertible Debentures and or Non-Convertible Debentures  with 
or without  warrants or any other financial instruments convertible 
into or linked to Equity Shares and/or any other instruments and/or 
combination of instruments with or without detachable warrants 
with a right exercisable by the warrant holders to convert or 
subscribe to the Equity Shares or otherwise, in registered or bearer 
form or any combination of Securities through public issues(s), 
private placement(s), or a combination thereof, including issuance 
of Securities through qualified institutional placement, Rights Issue 
or a combination thereof as per SEBI (ICDR) Regulations. 

The Board may in their discretion adopt any one or more of the 
mechanisms prescribed above to meet its objectives as stated in 
the aforesaid paragraphs without the need for fresh approval from 
the Members of the Company. 

The pricing of the Securities that may be issued to qualified 
institutional buyers pursuant to a qualified institutional placement 
shall be freely determined subject to such price not being less than 
the price calculated in accordance with Chapter VIII of the SEBI (ICDR) 
Regulations. The Company may, in accordance with applicable 
law, offer a discount of not more than 5% or such percentage as 
permitted under applicable law on the price determined pursuant 
to the SEBI (ICDR) Regulations. The “Relevant Date” for this purpose 
will be the date when the Board or the Committee of the Board 
thereof decides to open the qualified institutional placement for 
subscription.

The Special Resolution also seeks to give the Board powers to 
issue Securities in one or more tranche or tranches, at such time 
or times, at such price or prices and to such person(s) including 
institutions, incorporated bodies and/or individuals or otherwise 
as the Board in its absolute discretion deem fit. The detailed terms 
and conditions for the issue(s)/offering(s) will be determined by the 
Board or its committee in its sole discretion in consultation with the 
advisors, lead managers, underwriters and such other authority or 

authorities as may be necessary considering the prevailing market 
conditions and in accordance with the applicable provisions of law 
and other relevant factors.

The Equity Shares allotted or arising out of conversion of any 
Securities would be listed. The offer/issue/allotment/conversion 
would be subject to the availability of regulatory approvals, if any. 
The conversion of Securities held by foreign investors into Equity 
Shares would be subject to the applicable foreign investment cap 
and relevant foreign exchange regulations. As and when the Board 
does take a decision on matters on which it has the discretion, 
necessary disclosures will be made to the stock exchanges as may 
be required under the provisions of the SEBI (Listing Obligations 
and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015.

Section 62(1)(c) of the Companies Act 2013 provides, inter alia, that 
when it is proposed to increase the issued capital of a company by 
allotment of further Equity Shares, such further Equity Shares shall 
be offered to the existing Members of such company in the manner 
laid down in Section 62 of the Companies Act, 2013 unless the 
Members in a General Meeting decide otherwise. Since, the Special 
Resolution proposed in the business of the Notice may result in 
the issue of Equity Shares of the Company to persons other than 
Members of the Company, consent of the Members is being sought 
pursuant to the provisions of Sections 42, 62 and other applicable 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 as well as applicable Rules 
notified by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs and in terms of the 
provisions of the Listing Agreement executed by the Company with 
the stock exchanges where the Equity Shares of the Company are 
listed.

The Special Resolution, if passed, will have the effect of allowing the 
Board to offer, issue and allot Securities to the Investors, who may or 
may not be the existing Members of the Company.

None of the Directors and Key Managerial Personnel of the 
Company or their respective relatives is concerned or interested in 
the passing of the Resolutions at Item No. 10.

By Order of the Board 

Sd/-

   (Pradeep K. Srivastava) 
(Company Secretary & Compliance Officer)

Place :  New Delhi  
Date : August 22, 2016   
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Dear Shareholders,

Your Directors have pleasure in presenting the Twenty Fourth Annual Report of the Company together with Audited Accounts of the 
Company for the financial year ended March 31, 2016.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Details
Year ended 
31.03.2016     
(` in crore)

Year ended 
31.03.2015     
(` in crore)

Turnover 5724.22 5269.17

Profit before Interest, Depreciation, Extraordinary Items & Tax 378.46 329.56

Interest & Finance Charge 147.27 134.14

Depreciation 22.83 24.96

Profit before Extraordinary Item & Tax 208.35 170.46

Extraordinary Items - -

Profit before Tax 208.35 170.46

Tax Expense 64.1 29.53

Profit/(Loss) after Tax 144.24 140.93

COMPANY PERFORMANCE
The Company’s Standalone net revenue for the current year is 
` 5724.22 crores as compared to ` 5269.17 crores in previous 
financial year up by 8.63%. Profit before Tax at ` 208.35 crores is 
22.22% higher than that of last year of `  170.46 Crores. Profit 
after Tax for the Financial Year 2015-2016 stood at ` 144.24 crores 
as compared to ` 140.93 crores in the previous year registering a 
growth of 2.34%.

The Company’s Consolidated net revenue for the year is  
` 6414.05 crores as compared to ` 5878.33 crores up by 9.11%. 
Profit before Tax at `  237.70 crores is 21.23% higher than that of 
last year of `  196.06 Crores. Profit after Tax for the Financial Year 
2015-2016 stood at ` 173.60 crores compared to ` 166.52 crores in 
the previous year registering a growth of 4.25%.

DIVIDEND
Based on the performance of your Company, the Directors are 
pleased to recommend a final dividend of ` 0.10 per equity share 
of ` 1 each i.e 10%, which will be paid after your approval at the 
ensuing Annual General Meeting. The final dividend, if approved by 
the members of the Company would involve a cash outflow of `  
2.34 Crores (excluding dividend tax of ` 0.48 crores). 

The dividend will be paid to members whose names appear on the 
company’s register of members, after giving effect to all valid share 
transfers in physical form lodged with the Registrar and Transfer 
Agents (RTA) of the company on or before , and in respect of shares 

held in electronic form (demat mode), dividend will be paid to 
those “deemed members” whose names appear in the statement 
of beneficial ownership furnished by National Securities Depository 
Limited (NSDL) and Central Depository Services (India) Limited 
(CDSL) at the close of business hours on September 23, 2016.

CHANGE IN NATURE OF BUSINESS
There has been no change in the nature of business of the Company.

PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES OR 
INVESTMENTS 
Loans, Guarantees and Investments covered under section 186 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 form part of the notes to the financial 
statements provided in the Annual Report.

TRANSFER TO RESERVE
Pursuant to section 123 of the Companies Act, 2013 the company 
is not mandatorily required to transfer any amount to the reserves. 
Accordingly the company has not transferred any amount to the 
reserves during the year.

WARRANTS AND ALLOTMENT OF SECURITIES:
Consequent upon receipt of the approval of the members at the 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on October 18, 2014 and 
the regulatory approvals to the extent required, your Company 
had allotted 3,10,88,082 Convertible Warrants @ ` 48.25 each on 
preferential basis, convertible into one equity shares of the face 
value of ̀  1/- each for every warrant. Further 3,10,88,082 Convertible 
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Warrants are converted into 3,10,88,082 equity shares and received 
listing and trading approval from both the Stock Exchanges. The 
details of allotment of shares by the Board are given below:

Sr. 
No.

Name Category No. of Shares 
Allotted 

Date of 
Allotment

1. M/s Pashupati 
Dairies Pvt. Ltd.

Non-promoter 1,55,44,041 24-01-2015

2. Mrs. Sonika 
Gupta

Non-promoter 51,81,347 12-03-2016

3. Mr. Sidhant 
Gupta

Non- promoter 51,81,347 09-04-2016

4. M/s Sidhaant & 
Sons (HUF)

Non-promoter 51,81,347 09-04-2016

PARTICULARS OF CONTRACTS OR ARRANGEMENTS 
MADE WITH RELATED PARTIES
Particulars of contracts or arrangements with related parties 
referred to in Section 188(1) of the Companies Act, 2013, in the 
prescribed Form AOC-2, is appended as Annexure 1 to the Board’s 
report.

MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS AFFECTING 
FINANCIAL POSITION BETWEEN THE END OF THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR AND DATE OF REPORT.
There have been no material changes and commitments, if any, 
affecting the financial position of the Company which have 
occurred between the end of the financial year of the Company to 
which the financial statements relate and the date of the report.

SIGNIFICANT DEVELOPMENTS 
The financial year 2015-16 was in many respects a year for taking 
your Company into a new growth orbit. Most significantly, your 
Company made strong inroads towards transforming itself from 
a B2B to a B2C company. As part of this strategy, your Company 
enhanced its focus on the retail side of its business. It built capacities 
to strengthen its product pipeline with a view to launch 10-12 high-
margin value-added  products over the next 12-18 months. It also 
made significant progress in widening its distribution network 
to penetrate deeper into the fast growing markets covering the 
northern areas of India. Your Company added over 200 new dealers 
(taking the total number of dealers to 1800 up from 1600 in the 
previous year) and increased its point of sales to 40,000 during the 
year (up by 25% from the previous year). 

Your Company realises building a strong team is essential to succeed 
and stay ahead of the curve. In a highly competitive market, your 
Company focused on strengthening its team extensively and hired 
several best-in-class professionals from the industry (extending 
from hospitality,FMCG, co-operatives to consumer retail segment) 

to augment its competencies. Further, your Company focused 
towards building a robust IT infrastructure within the organization 
to have best business practices, enable informed and quick 
decisions making. It also worked towards revamping its systems, 
with focus on real time tracking of business performance and data 
analytics. 

During the year, your Company ventured into strategic business 
arrangements with several world class Agencies such as McCANN 
& Cheil India for Creative Direction, Adfactors for Public Relations, 
Digital Quotient for Social Media Marketing, Zenith Optimedia for 
Media Planning and Ernst & Young for IT enhancements . 

To enhance brand visibility your Company appointed Bollywood 
superstar Mr. Akshay Kumar as its new brand ambassador of 
along with its ongoing ATL and BTL activations carried out across 
Northern India.. 

On the procurement front, your Company worked towards 
enhancing direct procurement from farmers by investing in 
deeper relationship with 3 lakh farmers across 4500 villages. It also 
identified new locations to add a number of milk chilling centres 
over the next two years. 

During the year, we are proud to inform you that Kwality became 
India’s first private dairy company to give ESOPs to all its employees, 
irrespective of designation. This will go a long way towards keeping 
the workforce highly motivated and committed to our growth 
agenda.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)
The Board of Directors formulated the Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) Policy for your Company pursuant to the 
provisions of Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with 
the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Rules, 
2014, on the recommendations of the CSR Committee. The CSR 
Policy outlines the CSR vision of your Company which is based 
on embedded tenets of trust, fairness and care. The initiatives 
undertaken by your Company during the financial year 2015-16 in 
CSR have been detailed in this Annual Report.

The Annual Report on CSR activities in accordance with the 
Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014, is 
set out herewith as “Annexure [2]” to this Report.

CREDIT RATING
Brickwork Ratings has reaffirmed the Fund Based Long Term 
rating as “BWR A+” for bank loan facilities for an amount of  
` 1100 crores, Non Fund Based Short Term rating as “BWR A1” for 
an amount of ` 50 crores and assigned “BWR A+” for issue of Non-
Convertible Debentures of ` 100 crores.
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EXPORTS AND OVERSEAS EXPANSION 
In FY15-16 the exports of the company showed an increase of 37.8% 
at ` 730.51 Crores in comparison to ` 530.21 Crores of previous 
year. In the next fiscal year the Company is expecting to continue 
this growth in exports due to growing of International market. 
Your Company has increased its focus on export of dairy products 
from India, exporting across continents like Asia, Africa & Australia 
and to more than 28 countries including Japan, UAE, Seychelles, 
Bangladesh , Sri Lanka ,  Jordan , Niger , Morocco etc.. Apart from 
exports from India, your company has established “Kwality Dairy 
Products-FZE, a wholly owned subsidiary in the free trade zone of 
UAE. This company is engaged in import of dairy products from 
various countries like Australia, New Zealand and Eastern European 
countries including Turkey, Ireland, Holland, Poland and Ukraine 
and selling products, both domestically and export to GCC, Middle 
East, FarEast, Bangladesh, China, Thailand and Africa among others. 

SUBSIDIARY COMPANY & CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Your Company has a wholly owned subsidiary under the name and 
style of “Kwality Dairy Products – FZE” in free trade zone of United 
Arab Emirates to increase its global foot print and to develop and 
cater to the new markets.

Your Company has prepared Consolidated Financial Statements 
in accordance with Section 129(3) of the Companies Act, 2013, 
Regulation 33 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and Accounting Standard as 
specified under Section 133 of Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 
7 of Companies (Accounts) Rules 2014. The Audited Consolidated 
Financial Statements together with the Independent Auditor’s 
Report thereon are annexed and form part of this Annual Report. 
These consolidated financial statements provide all relevant 
financial information about the Company and its Wholly Owned 
Subsidiary.

In accordance with Section 136 of the Companies Act, 2013, the 
Audited financial statements, including the consolidated financial 
statements and related information of the Company and audited 
accounts of subsidiary, are available on our website www.kdil.
in. These documents will also be available for inspection during 
business hours at our registered office.

AWARDS AND RECOGNITION
Mr. Anand Ruhela, IT Head has been conferred with an award for 
being “100 Most Innovative CIO of India” by World CSR Day & World 
Sustainability Congress. This CIO Excellence Award recognizes great 
leaders across leadership levels in individual & organization who 
aims at believing that perfection has no limit and targets are merely 
a milestones, not an end of the journey.

Further your company was selected as top Indian Company in Dun 
& Bradstreet Corporate Award 2014, under sector “Food & Agro 
Processing”.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
In conformity with the provisions of Regulation 34 (2)(c) of the 
SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015, the Cash Flow Statement for the year ended on March 31, 
2016 is attached as a part of the Annual Accounts of the Company.   

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
The management discussion and analysis of the Company for the 
year under review, as required under Regulation 34 of SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 with 
the stock exchanges, is given as a separate Section in Annual Report.

BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY REPORT
A Business Responsibility Report as per Regulation 34 of the SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulation, 
2015  detailing the various initiatives taken by your Company on 
the environmental, social and governance front forms an integral 
part of this report.

KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNELS (KMP):
The Companies Act, 2013 introduced the new concept of Key 
Managerial Personnel (KMP) which includes the Managing Director, 
Chief Executive Officer or  Manager, Whole Time Director, Company 
Secretary and Chief Financial Officer. The Key Managerial Personnel 
would guide the Board to achieve their defined objectives and 
purposes by adhering to good Corporate Governance practices. 
KMP would also be looked upon by the Regulators for the non-
compliances. 

During the Financial Year, the Key Managerial Persons of the 
Company are:

Name Designation

Mr. Sanjay Dhingra Managing Director

Mr. Manjit Dahiya Whole Time Director

Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla Whole Time Director

*Mr. Sunit Shangle Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

Mr. Pradeep K. Srivastava Company Secretary & 
Compliance Officer

*Mr. Sunit Shangle resigned from the designation of Chief Financial 
Officer and Mr. Satish Kumar Gupta joined at the same position with 
effect from July 04, 2016.
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DIRECTORS

INDUCTIONS
During the year Mr. Sanjay Dhingra (DIN: 00025376) Chairman and 
Managing Director of the Company decided to step down from 
the post of Chairman of the company w.e.f. October 08, 2015, and 
therefore the Board of Directors appointed Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna 
(DIN: 03073914) (Independent Director) as the Chairman of the 
Company, so as to follow Good Corporate Governance practices in 
its full spirit.

Ms. Ankita Mehrotra (DIN: 07412370) and Mr. Ashok Kumar Gupta 
(DIN: 00016704)  have been Co-opted as Additional Director(s) 
of the Company w.e.f. from January 23, 2016 and June 14, 2016 
to hold the office upto this Annual General Meeting pursuant to 
Section 161 of the Companies Act, 2013 and in respect of whom the 
Company has received a notice in writing from member(s) under 
Section 160 of the Companies Act, 2013 signifying their intension 
to propose the directors as a candidate for the office of a director of 
the Company. The Board recommends the said resolution.

Further pursuant to the provisions of Sections 161, 196, 197, 203 
and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 
Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla (DIN: 06651319) has been Co-opted 
as Additional Director and further as Whole-Time Director of the 
Company w.e.f. from October 08, 2015 subject to the approval of 
the members at the ensuing Annual General Meeting.

RE-APPOINTMENTS
During the Financial Year 2015-16, the Board of your Company 
is constituted of Seven Directors comprising of Dr. Rattan Sagar 
Khanna, Chairman and Non-Executive Independent Director, Mr. 
Sanjay Dhingra, Managing Director, Mr. Manjit Dahiya, Whole Time 
Director, Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla, Whole Time Director, Mr. 
Sidhant Gupta, Non-Executive Director, Mr. Arun Srivastava, Non-
Executive Independent Director, and Ms. Ankita Mehrotra, Non-
Executive Independent Director.

As per the Companies Act, 2013 Mr. Sanjay Dhingra, Managing 
Director of Company is liable to retire by rotation at the ensuing 
Annual General Meeting and being eligible, offers himself for re-
appointment.

The Board recommends his appointment/re-appointment. A 
resolution seeking your approval on this item is included in the 
Notice convening the Annual General Meeting.

RESIGNATIONS
Due to some personal and unavoidable circumstances, Ms. Pinky 
Singh and Mr. Arun Srivastava have tendered their resignation 

from the position of Non-Executive Independent Director of the 
Company w.e.f January 23, 2016 and June 14, 2016.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
Pursuant to the requirement of Section 134(3)(c) of the Companies 
Act, 2013 with respect to Director Responsibility statement, and 
based on the representation received from operating management, 
the Directors hereby confirm:

a) That in the preparation of the annual accounts for the period 
ended on March 31, 2016, the applicable accounting standards 
have been followed and there are no material departures;

b)  That the directors had selected such accounting policies and 
applied them consistently and made judgments and estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the company at the end of the 
financial year March 31, 2016 and the profit and loss of the 
company for that period;

c)  That the directors had taken proper and sufficient care for the 
maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance 
with the provisions of this Act for safeguarding the assets of 
the company and for preventing and detecting fraud and 
other irregularities; 

 d)  That the directors had prepared the annual accounts for the 
period ended on March 31, 2016 as on going concern basis; 

e)  The directors have laid down internal financial controls, which 
are adequate and are operating effectively; and

f)  The directors had devised proper systems to ensure compliance 
with provisions of all applicable laws and that such systems 
were adequate and operating effectively.

DEPOSITS
Your company has not raised any public deposit during the period 
under review. Therefore there was no public deposit outstanding as 
at the beginning or at the end of the period.

MANUFACTURING OPERATION
Your Company believe that our strong processing and 
manufacturing capability is a significant contributor to our 
continued growth and success. Further, we place a significant 
emphasis on quality control and product safety at each step of our 
manufacturing process and have obtained several quality control 
certifications and registrations for our facilities and products.

We continue to increase our operational efficiencies for 
strengthening our competitive position. We believe that we have 
adopted best practices in line with international standards across 
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our production facilities, drawing on our management’s expertise 
and experience in facility management.

As part of our growth strategy, we intend to continue to invest 
in increasing our manufacturing capacities for our existing dairy 
products as well as develop manufacturing capabilities for new 
products, particularly high margin products such as cheese, UHT 
milk, flavored milk and paneer.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company’s risk management framework is based on a clear 
understanding of various risks, disciplined risk assessment and 
measurement procedures and continuous monitoring. The policies 
and procedures established for this purpose are continuously 
benchmarked with international best practices.

Further details form part of Corporate Governance Report.

AUDITORS
At the Annual General Meeting held on September 24, 2014 
M/s P.P. Mukerjee & Associates, Chartered Accountants, were 
appointed as statutory auditors of the Company as to hold office 
till the conclusion of the  Annual General Meeting to be held in the 
financial year 2019. In terms of the first proviso to Section 139 of 
the Companies Act, 2013, the appointment of the auditors shall 
be placed for the ratification at every Annual General Meeting. 
Accordingly, the appointment of M/s P.P. Mukerjee & Associates, 
Chartered Accountants is placed at the AGM for ratification by the 
shareholders. In this regard, the Company has received a certificate 
from the auditors to the effect that if they are reappointed, it 
would be in accordance with the provisions of Section 141 of the 
Companies Act, 2013.

SECRETARIAL AUDITOR  
M/s. Mukun Vivek & Company, Company Secretaries, was appointed 
to conduct the secretarial audit of the Company for the financial 
year 2015-16, as required under Section 204 of the Companies Act, 
2013 and Rules made thereunder. The secretarial audit report for 
FY 2015-16 forms part of the Annual Report as Annexure 3 to the 
Board’s Report.

SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS
During the year, your Company has obtained the permitted use of 
“Kwality” artwork confined to its use in relation to dairy products 
& beverage offerings from the founding Father of Kwality Group, 
Sh. P. L Lamba, but the same was challenged in Delhi High Court 
by Graviss Holdings Private Limited claiming that the copyright in 
the artistic work in word “Kwality” vests with them, but the case was 
withdrawn shortly and your company successfully came out of the 
branding related legal dispute.

EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN
In accordance with Section 134(3)(a) of the Companies Act, 2013, 
an extract of the annual return in the prescribed format MGT-9 is 
appended as Annexure 4 to the Board’s Report.

LISTING 
The equity shares of the Company continue to be listed on the BSE 
Limited (BSE) and National Stock Exchange of India Limited (NSE). 
The annual listing fees for the current year have been paid to the 
BSE Limited (BSE) and National Stock Exchange of India Limited 
(NSE).

PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES
The table containing the names and other particulars of 
employees in accordance with the provisions of Section 197(12) 
of the Companies Act, 2013, read with Rule 5(1) of the Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 
2014, is appended as Annexure 5 to the Board’s Report.

Details of employees, employed for the whole year and are in receipt 
of remuneration of ` 1,02,00,000/- or more, or if employed for the 
part of the year and in receipt of ` 8,50,000/- or more a month, 
under rule 5(2) of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration 
of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014.

Name of 
Employee

Date of 
Joining

Gross 
Remuneration

Educational 
Qualification

Age Experience 
(years)

Last 
Employment

Designation

Sanjay Dhingra 22.09.2003 1,30,20,000 Graduation 45 20 NA Managing 
Director

POLICY ON DIRECTORS’ APPOINTMENT AND 
REMUNERATION
The Current policy is to have an appropriate mix of executive and 
non-executive directors to maintain the independence of the 
Board, and separate its functions of governance and management. 
As on March 31, 2016, the Board consists of 7 members, three of 
whom are Executive, one Non Executive, and three are Independent 
directors. The Board periodically evaluate the need for change in its 
composition and size.

The policy of the Company on director’s appointment and 
remuneration, including criteria for determining qualifications, 
positive attributes, independence of a director and other matters 
provided under Sub-section (3) of Section 178 of the Companies 
Act, 2013, adopted by the Board, is appended as Annexure 6 to the 
Board’s report. We affirm that the remuneration paid to the directors 
is as per the terms laid out in the nomination and remuneration 
policy of the Company.
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DECLARATION BY INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS
The Company has received necessary declaration from each 
independent director under Section 149(7) of the Companies  
Act, 2013, that he/she meets the criteria of independence laid 
down in Section 149(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 
25 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015. 

BOARD EVALUTION
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 mandates that the Board shall monitor 
and review the Board evaluation framework. The framework 
includes the evaluation of directors on various parameters  
such as:

 y Board dynamics and relationships

 y Information flows

 y Decision making

 y Relationship with stakeholders

 y Company performance and strategy

 y Tracking Board and Committee’s effectiveness

 y Peer evaluation

The Companies Act, 2013 states that a formal annual evaluation 
needs to be made by the Board of its own performance and that 
of its committees and individual directors. Further Schedule IV of 
the Companies Act, 2013 states that the performance evaluation 
of independent directors shall be done by the entire Board of 
Directors, excluding the director being evaluated.

The evaluation of all the directors and the Board as a whole was 
conducted based on the criteria and framework adopted by the 
Board. The evaluation process has been explained in the corporate 
governance report section in this Annual Report. The Board 
approved the evaluation results as collected by the Remuneration, 
Compensation and Nomination Committee.      

NUMBER OF MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
During the Financial Year 2015-16 the Board met Thirteen times. 
The dates of the meetings are as under:

Date of Board Meetings

12.05.2015 29.05.2015 26.06.2015 23.07.2015

14.08.2015 24.08.2015 08.10.2015 23.10.2015

02.11.2015 14.11.2015 23.01.2016 20.02.2016

12.03.2016

KWALITY EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN 2014 
(“ESOP 2014”)
The details of the grants allotted under KWALITY EMPLOYEE STOCK 
OPTION PLAN 2014” (“ESOP 2014”) and also the disclosures in 
compliance with SEBI (Share Based Employee Benefits) Regulations, 
2014 and Section 62 (1)(b) read with Rule 12(9) of the Companies 
(Share Capital & Debentures) Rules, 2014 is as follow:
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Sr. No. Particulars Details

1. Date of shareholders’ approval for the options granted under the scheme July 07, 2014

2. Total number of options approved for grants under the scheme 1,00,00,000

3. Vesting requirements 1 year from the date of grant

4. Exercise price or pricing formula ` 38 per share

5. Maximum term of options granted 5 years from the date of vesting

6. Source of shares Direct Allotment

7. Variation of terms of options None

8. Options granted during the year and till March 31, 2016 19,87,000

9. Options lapsed NIL

10. Options vested during the year and up to March 31, 2016 NIL

11. Options exercised during the year and up to March 31, 2016 NIL

12. The total number of shares arising as a result of exercise of option; NIL

13. Money realised by exercise of options during the year and up to March 31, 2016 NIL

14. Total number of options outstanding and exercisable at the end of the year 19,87,000

15. Method used to account for the options where the Company has calculated 
the employee compensation cost using the intrinsic value of the stock options, 
the difference between the employee compensation cost so computed and the 
employee compensation cost that shall have been recognised if it had used the 
fair value of the options and the impact of this difference on profits and on EPS 
of the company shall also be disclosed

The Company has calculated the 
employee compensation cost using 
the intrinsic value method. Had the Fair 
Value method been used, in respect 
of stock option granted the employee 
compensation cost would have been 
higher by ` 309.25 Lacs, Profit after tax 
lower by ` 202.22 Lacs, the basic and 
diluted EPS would have been lower by  
` 1.43 and 1.39 respectively

16. Weighted-average exercise prices and weighted-average fair values of options 
(shall be disclosed separately for options whose exercise price either equals or 
exceeds or is less than the market price of the stock)

NA

17. Employee wise details of options granted to:

Senior Managerial personnel 

Any other employee who receives a grant in any one year of option amounting 
to 5% or more of option granted during that year 

Identified employees who were granted option, during any one year, equal 
to or exceeding 1% of the issued capital (excluding outstanding warrants and 
conversions) of the company at the time of grant

As per note 1 below

18. Diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS) pursuant to issue of shares on exercise of 
option calculated in accordance with Accounting Standard (AS) 20 ‘Earnings Per 
Share

NA

19. A description of the method and significant assumptions used during the year 
to estimate the fair values of options, including the following weighted-average 
information:

Risk-free interest rate

Expected life

Expected volatility

Expected dividends

The price of the underlying share in market at the time of option grant

NA
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Note 1- Employee wise details of options granted to:-

I Senior Managerial Personnel

S. No. Employees Name Grade No. of Option

1. Sanjay Dhingra Managing Director NIL

2. Manjit Dahiya Whole Time Director 40,000

3. Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla Whole Time Director NIL

4. Sunit Shangle Chief Finance Officer 35,000

5. Pradeep K. Srivastava Company Secretary 15,000

II Any other employee who receives a grant of options in any one year of option amounting to five percent or more of options granted 
during that year.

S. No. Employees Name Grade No. of Option
1. Nawal Sharma President-Business Transformation 2,00,000

III Identified employees who were granted option, during any 
one year, equal to or exceeding one percent of the issued 
capital (exceeding outstanding warrants and conversions) of 
the company at the time of grant - None

ENERGY CONSERVATION, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION 
AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO
Information required under Section 134(3)(m) of the Companies 
Act, 2013, read with the Rule 8 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 
2014 is set out in an Annexure 7 to this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
A separate section on Corporate Governance and a certificate from 
the statutory auditors of the Company regarding compliance with 
the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated under SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015 forms part of this Annual Report.

GREEN INITIATIVES
Your Company is committed to offer products that meet 
internationally accepted green product standards. Your Company 
continues to accord highest priority in developing eco-friendly 
products which meet the best international standards. Accordingly 
your company has initiated number of R&D programs towards 
developing products based on sustainable design philosophy 
starting from raw material selection to formulation development to 
manufacture, application and waste control.

APPRECIATION
We would also like to place on record our sincere appreciation for 
the commitment, dedication and hard work put in by every member 
of the Kwality Limited. To them goes the credit for the Company’s 
achievements.

We are very grateful to National Dairy Research Institute (NDRI) 
for providing us with invaluable support. National Dairy Research 
Institute (NDRI) had played a role in our growth and development.

Our Bankers, Insurers, Shareholders, Investors, Suppliers and 
Transport Contractors have been of great help to us in managing 
our growth and are our partners in success.

We acknowledge their contributions and commit ourselves to 
continue and strengthen this fruitful alliance in all times to come.

Your Directors take this opportunity to express their deep sense 
of gratitude to the Central and State Governments, customers, 
vendors and the society at large for their continual support.

And to you, our shareholders, we are deeply grateful for the 
confidence and faith that you have always reposed in us.

For & on behalf of the Board of Directors
    

Sd/- 
Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna 

                                                                         Chairman               
DIN: 03073914

Place: New Delhi
Date: August 22, 2016
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Annexure 1 to Board’s Report
Form No. AOC-2

(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Form for disclosure of particulars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the company with related parties referred to in  
sub-section (1) of section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including certain arm’s length transactions under third proviso thereto

1.  Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm’s length basis:

 There were no contracts or arrangements or transactions entered into during the year ended March 31, 2016, which were not at arm’s 
length basis.

2.  Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions at arm’s length basis:

Name of Related Party and 
nature of Relationship

Nature of 
contracts/
Arrangement /
Transactions

Duration of the 
contracts / 
arrangements
/transactions

Salient terms of the contracts or 
arrangements or transactions 
including the value, if any:

Transaction 
Amount paid (in 
lac)

Pashupati Dairies Private Limited
Nature: Enterprise in which KMP 
have significant influence

Rent

Royalty

5 years The Contract is an arrangement 
for taking land, building, plant and 
machinery including the godown, 
belonging to Pashupati Dairies 
Private Limited.

60.00

10.28

Kwality Dairy Products FZE
Nature: Subsidiary Company

Corporate 
Guarantee 

NA NA 2984.98
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Annexure 2 to Board’s Report

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Activities

[Pursuant to clause (o) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of the Act 
and Rule 9 of the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility) 
Rules, 2014]

1. A BRIEF OUTLINE OF THE COMPANY’S CSR POLICY, 
INCLUDING OVERVIEW OF PROJECTS OR PROGRAMS 
PROPOSED TO BE UNDERTAKEN AND A REFERENCE TO 
THE WEB-LINK TO THE CSR POLICY AND PROJECTS OR 
PROGRAMS.

CSR INITIATIVES
Kwality Limited’s Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) philosophy 
is holistic and integrated with the core business strategy for 
addressing social and environmental impacts of business.  It 
addresses the well-being of all stakeholders. With a view to 
implement the CSR activities of the Company, Kwality Limited has 
registered a Trust, named as “Sahayogi Foundation”. During the year 
2015-16, the following activities were undertaken under the CSR 
Initiatives: 

1. Productivity enhancement programme

 Kwality Limited is implementing “Productivity enhancement 
programme” which includes the following activities:  

 a)  Animal Health Camps
   With a view to create awareness about the curative and 

preventive measures related to infertility and mastitis, 
42 animal health camps were organised across the 
project area. Total 1470 cases were attended during 
these camps, out of which cases were of deworming 
followed by infertility and mastitis. The health camp team 
comprised of veterinarians from Kwality Limited and local 
veterinarians.

            

 b)  Calf Rally
   In order to create awareness about the importance of 

calf management and promote healthy calf rearing 
practices, a cow calf rally was organised in Baraut area 
in collaboration with Godrej Agrovet Limited and Vastal 
Limited. 24 cow calves participated in the programme. 
The three best calves were declared the winners on the 
parameters of the scores of the breed characters namely 
body weight, face, eyes & skin. During the programme, 
Dr. Sandeep Patil & Dr. A.K.Mittal delivered a talk on the 
modern calf rearing practices and the importance of calf 
starter & exclusively formulated feed for the calf.

          

 c)  Dugdh Utpadak Sangoshthi
   Poor breeding, feeding, management, lack of awareness, 

lack of input services etc. are the challenges towards 
harnessing the potential of dairy animals in the project 
area. This year, 240 Dugdh Utpadak Sangoshthis were 
conducted to create awareness about the animal 
management practices. Total 9600 milk producers 
participated in these programmes.

          

 d)  Clean Milk Production Campaign
   In order to create awareness at the village level and 

procure good quality raw milk, Kwality Limited organised 
campaign on “Clean Milk Production” throughout 
the project area. Under the programme around 1150 
VLC villages were covered in which about 28,800 milk 
producer members participated.
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2)   Mega Credit Camp

 A “Mega Credit Camp” was organised at Sultanpur on 
September 29, 2015 by Kwality Limited in collaboration with 
Baroda Uttar Pradesh Grameen Bank and NABARD to promote 
self-employment through dairying in the Sultanpur region. 
Loan application of 60 milk producers was processed for 
the disbursement of loan for dairy animal purchase.  Kwality 
Limited also distributed awards to the best performing VLCs 
in terms of quantity and quality. With a view to encourage 
women participation, women managed VLCs were recognized 
and rewarded. During the programme, 50 school children from 
socio – economically disadvantaged families were distributed 
school bags alongwith lunch boxes. Total 550 milk producers 
attended the programme. The entire event was covered by DD 
National
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3)  Capacity building

a)  Training programmes
 Employees are a key determinant of an organization’s success. 

Maintaining a well-trained, well-qualified workforce is of 
paramount importance in achieving a competitive niche. In 
order to upgrade the knowledge & skills of the employees, a 
series of in-house and out bound training programmes were 
organised

 

Details of the programmes are as under:

S.No. Training Programme No. of 
programmes

No. of 
participants

1. Effective communication 2 60
2. Teambuilding 2 80
3. MCC Management 4 106
4. Clean Milk Production 12 294
5. VSP Orientation 2 224
6. ERP Operations 4 112
7. Quality Sensitisation 4 134
8. Time Management 2 96
9. Food Safety & Standards 

Regulations 
3 108

10. Milk Pricing 10 258
Total 45 1472

b)  Farmer Induction Programme
 In order to strengthen the milk producer centric approach and 

further building the confidence of the milk producers, a one 
day farmer induction programme was organised at Central 
Institute for Research on Cattle (CIRC), Meerut. Around 70 milk 
producers participated in the programme
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4)  Grameen Samvad Karyakram

 Under the “Grameen Samvad Karyakram”, Radio and TV talks 
of the progressive milk producers and the professionals 
specialized in the field of Veterinary, Agriculture, and 
Dairy Science etc. were organised. The radio talks were 
broadcasted under “Goonje Swar Gaon Ke” and “Krishi Jagat’’ 
programmes on All India Radio. 6 milk producers from Kwality 
Limited participated in the “Krishi Darshan” programme of 
Doordarshan.

5)  Women empowerment through SHG formation

 Women constitute almost half of the total population in the 
world. It is quite unfortunate that in almost all the societies, 
women have less power than men, have less control over 
resources and receive lesser wages for their work. Kwality 
Limited recognizes and appreciates the need for meaningful 
participation of women in the decision making process 
through promoting Self Help Groups (SHGs) of women. 5 SHGs 
were organised at Sultanpur during the year. These SHGs are 
engaged in the procurement of raw milk and supplying milk 
to Kwality Limited. The SHG members are taking care of all the 
VLC operations in the respective SHGs

 

2. THE COMPOSITION OF THE CSR COMMITTEE

 The Composition of the CSR Committee as on March 31, 2016 
is as follows:

Name of the Member Nature of Directorship
Mr. Sanjay Dhingra Managing Director
Mr. Sidhant Gupta Non-Executive Director
Mr. Rattan Sagar Khanna Independent Director
Mr. Rajinder Singh Member
*Mr. Sunit Shangle Member
Mrs. Pushplata Tripathi Member

*Mr. Sunit Shangle resigned as Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company with effect from July 04, 2016 and Mr. S K Gupta has been 
appointed as Member of the committee.

3.   AVERAGE NET PROFIT OF THE COMPANY FOR LAST 
THREE FINANCIAL YEARS: ` 14415.08 Lakh

4.   PRESCRIBED CSR EXPENDITURE (TWO PER CENT OF THE 
AMOUNT AS IN ITEM 3 ABOVE): ` 288.30 LAKH

5.  DETAILS OF CSR SPENT DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR: 

 (a)  Total amount spent for the financial year; ` 297.90 Lakh

 (b)  Amount unspent, if any; NIL

 (c) Manner in which the amount spent during the financial 
year is detailed below.
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CSR Projects/ activities Sector in 
which the 
project is 
covered

Location 
where 
project is 
undertaken: 
State(Local 
Area/District)

Amount 
Outlay 
(Budget) 
Project/ 
Program 
wise( 
Lakh)

Amount spent on the 
projects or programs 
(Lakh)

Cumulative 
Expenditure 
upto the 
reporting 
period 
(Lakh)

Amount 
spent: Direct 
or through 
implementing 
agency**

1.Direct 
Expenditure

2. 
Overheads*

1) Supply of Balanced feeds

2)Supply  of feed supplement 
& medicines

3)Animal health camps

4) Calf Rally

5) Dugdh Utpadak 
Sangoshthis

Productivity  
Enhancement 

---- - Do ----

---- - Do ----

---- - Do ----

---- - Do ----

U.P (510)
Haryana (120)

U.P (450)
Haryana(105)

U.P (42)

U.P (1) 

U.P ( 190) 
Haryana( 50) 

 

282.14 Lacs

3.42 Lacs

0.81 Lacs 

0.15 Lacs 

0.41 Lacs

9.5 Lacs

0.17 Lacs 

0.04 Lacs

0.007 Lacs

0.02 Lacs

291.64 Lacs

3.59 Lacs

0.85 Lacs

0.157 Lacs

0.43 Lacs

Direct

Direct

Direct

Direct

Direct

6)Training 

7) Loan Mela for Farmers 

Capacity 
Building

Livelihood
Enhancement

U.P (15)
Haryana (7)

U.P (1)

 0.27 Lacs 

 

0.91 Lacs

0.013 Lacs

0.04 Lacs

0.283 Lacs

0.95 Lacs

Direct

Direct

6.  In case the Company has failed to spend the two percent of the average net profit of the last three financial years or any part 
thereof, the company shall provide the reasons for not spending the amount in its Board report.-N.A

7.  The CSR Committee confirms that the implementation and monitoring of the CSR Policy is in compliance with the CSR 
objectives and Policy of your Company.

         Sd/-
Dr. Rattna Sagar Khanna 

Chairman 
Place: New Delhi
Date:  August 22, 2016

Annexure 2 to Board’s Report
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SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT
For The Financial Year Ended On March 31, 2016
[Pursuant to Section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No.9 of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial 
Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,
The Members,
Kwality Limited
KDIL House, F-82,
Shivaji Place, Rajouri Garden
New Delhi-110027

We have conducted Secretarial Audit of compliance with the 
applicable statutory provisions and adherence to good corporate 
practices by M/s Kwality Limited (hereinafter called the Company) 
for the year ended 31st March 2016. Secretarial Audit was conducted 
in a manner that provided us a reasonable basis for evaluating the 
corporate conducts/ statutory compliances and expressing our 
opinion thereon.

Based on our verification of the Company’s books, papers, minute 
books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained by the 
Company and also the information provided by the Company, its 
officers, agents and authorized representatives during the conduct 
of Secretarial Audit, we hereby report that in our opinion, the 
Company has, during the audit period covering the financial year 
ended 31st March, 2016 complied with the statutory provisions 
listed hereunder and also, that the Company has proper board-
processes and compliance-mechanism in place to the extent, in the 
manner and subject to the reporting made hereinafter:

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and 
returns filed and other records maintained by the Company for the 
financial year ended 31st March, 2016 according to the provisions 
of:

(i) The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made 
thereunder; 

(ii) The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA’) and 
the rules made thereunder; 

(iii) The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws 
framed thereunder; 

(iv) Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules 
and regulations made thereunder to the extent of Foreign 
Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External 
Commercial Borrowings – provisions of Overseas Direct 
Investment and External Commerical Borrowings are not 
applicable. 

(v) The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under 
the Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI 
Act’) 

 (a) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial 
Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 2011; 

 b) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of 
Insider Trading) Regulations, 1992 (upto 14th May 2015) 
and Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition 
of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015 (effective 15th May 
2015); 

 c) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of 
Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2009;

 d) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based 
Employee Benefits) Regulations, 2014 - Not applicable 
as the Company has not issued any shares/options 
to directors/employees under the said guidelines / 
regulations during the year under review; 

 e) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and 
Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008 - Not 
applicable as the Company has not issued any debt 
securities which were listed during the year under review; 

 f ) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars 
to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) Regulations, 1993 
regarding the Companies Act and dealing with client;

 g) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of 
Equity Shares) Regulations, 2009 – Not applicable as the 
Company has not delisted / propose to delist its equity 
shares from any Stock Exchange during the year under 
review; and

 h) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback 
of Securities) Regulations, 1998 - Not applicable as the 
Company has not bought back or propose to buy-back 
any of its securities during the year under review.

(vi) The management has identified and confirmed the following 
laws as being specifically applicable to the Company: 

 a. Food Safety and Standards Act, 2006, rules and regulations 
therender; 
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 b. Legal Metrology Act, 2009 and rules and regulations 
thereunder; 

 c. Infant Milk Substitutes, Feeding Bottles and Infant Foods 
(Regulation of Production, Supply and Distribution) Act, 
1992 and rules thereunder (Local Infant Code); 

 d. Agricultural Produce (Grading and Marketing) Act, 1937; 

 e. Bureau of Indian Standards (BIS) Act, 1986; 

We have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of 
the following:

 (i) Secretarial Standards with respect to Meetings of Board 
of Directors (SS-1) and General Meetings (SS-2) issued by 
The Institute of Company Secretaries of India and made 
effective 1st July, 2015).

 (ii) The Listing Agreement entered into by the Company with 
BSE Limited and SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (effective 1st December, 
2015). 

During the period under review, the Company has complied with 
provisions of the Act, Rules, applicable Regulations, Guidelines, 
Standards, etc. mentioned above 

We further report that,

 y The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with 
proper balance of Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors, 
Independent Directors and a Woman Director. The changes 
in the composition of the Board of Directors that took place 
during the period under review were carried out in compliance 
with the provisions of the Act.

 y Adequate notice is given to all Directors to schedule the 
Board Meetings; agenda and detailed notes on agenda were 
sent atleast seven days in advance, and a system exists for 
seeking and obtaining further information and clarifications 
on the agenda items before the meeting and for meaningful 
participation at the meeting.

 y Majority decision is carried through, while the dissenting 
members’ views, if any, are captured and recorded as part of the 
minutes.

 y The members of the company accorded its consent to the 
board of directors to create, offer, issue and allot in one or 
more tranches for value of upto ` 10,000 millions number of 
securities in accordance with section 180 of the Companies Act, 
2013 and rules made thereunder  

We further report that based on review of compliance mechanism 
established by the Company and on the basis of the Compliance 
Report issued by the Company Secretary and taken on record by the 
Board of Directors at their meeting(s), we are of the opinion that the 
management has adequate systems and processes commensurate 
with its size and operations, to monitor and ensure compliance with 
all applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidelines.

 y As informed, the Company has responded appropriately to 
notices received from statutory /regulatory authorities including 
by taking corrective measures wherever found necessary. 

We further report that, the compliances by company of applicable 
financial laws i.e. Direct and Indirect tax laws and maintains  of 
Financial books and records and books of accounts has not been 
reviewed in this audit since the same have been subject to reviewed 
by statutory financial audit and other designated professional. 

We further report that during the review period no major action 
having a bearing on the Company’s affairs in pursuance of the 
above referred laws, rules, regulations, guidelines, standards, etc. 
above have taken place.

Date: 22.08.2016     For Mukun Vivek & Company
Place: New Delhi        Company Secretary

Vivek Sinha
Partner 

M. No. A16315
C.P No. 5215

Note: This report is to be read with letter of even date by the 
Secretarial Auditors, which is annexed as Annexure A and Forms an 
integral part of this report.
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‘Annexure A’

To,
The Members, 
Kwality Limited 
CIN: L74899DL1992PLC255519
KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place, 
Rajouri Garden 
New Delhi - 110027

Our Secretarial Audit Report of even date is to be read along with this letter.

Management’s Responsibility
1. It is the responsibility of the management of the Company to maintain secretarial records, devise proper systems to ensure compliance 

with the provisions of all applicable laws and regulations and to ensure that the systems are adequate and operate effectively. 

Auditor’s Responsibility
2. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these secretarial records, standards and procedures followed by the Company with 

respect to secretarial compliances. 

3. We believe that audit evidence and information obtained from the Company’s management is adequate and appropriate for us to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

4. Wherever required, we have obtained the management’s representation about the compliance of laws, rules and regulations and 
happening of events, etc. 

Disclaimer
5. The Secretarial Audit Report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor of the efficacy or effectiveness with 

which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company. 

Date: 22.08.2016                                             For Mukun Vivek & Company
Place: New Delhi        Company Secretary

Vivek Sinha
Partner 

M. No. A16315
C.P No. 5215
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FORM NO. MGT-9
EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN
as on the financial year ended on 31st March, 2016
[Pursuant to section 92(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 12(1) of the Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014]

I. REGISTRATION AND OTHER DETAILS:
Sr. No. 
(i) CIN L74899DL1992PLC255519
(ii) Registration Date 21st August, 1992
(iii) Name of the Company Kwality Limited 
(iv) Category / Sub-Category of the Company Public Company 
(v) Address of the Registered office and contact details Address: KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place, Rajouri Garden, 

New Delhi-110027
Contact: 011-4700650 (100 Lines)

(vi) Whether listed company Yes 

Name of Stock Exchange:

(i) BSE Limited

(ii) National Stock Exchange of India Limited

(vii) Name, Address and Contact details of Registrar 
and Share Transfer Agents

Name: Beetal Financial & Computer Services Private Limited
Address: Beetal House, 3rd Floor, 99 Madangir, Behind Local 
Shopping Centre, Near Dada Harsukhdas Mandir,  
New Delhi – 110062
Contact: 011-29961281/82/83

II    PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY
 All the business activities contributing 10 % or more of the total turnover of the company shall be stated:-

Sr. No Name and Description  of main products / 
services

NIC Code of the Product/ service %  to total turnover of the 
company

1. Manufacture of dairy products 1050 100%

III  PARTICULARS OF HOLDING, SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATE COMPANIES -
   S.No. NAME AND ADDRESS OF THE 

COMPANY
CIN/GLN HOLDING/ SUBSIDIARY

/ASSOCIATE
% of shares held Applicable Section

1 Kwality Dairy Products FZE NA Subsidiary 100% 2(87)

IV  SHAREHOLDING PATTERN (Equity Share Capital Breakup As Percentage of Total Equity)* 

  (i)  Category-wise Share Holding

Category of 
Shareholders

No. of Shares held at the beginning of the year No. of Shares held at the end of the year % Change during 
the year

Demat Physical Total % of Total 
Shares

Demat Physical Total % of Total 
Shares

A. Promoters

(1) Indian

a)Individual/ HUF 15,21,54,714 - 15,21,54,714 69.56 15,21,54,714 - 15,21,54,714 67.95 (1.61)

b) Central Govt. - - - - - - - - -
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Category of 
Shareholders

No. of Shares held at the beginning of the year No. of Shares held at the end of the year % Change during 
the year

c)  State Govt(s) - - - - - - - - -

d)  Bodies Corp. - - - - - - - - -

e) Banks / FI - - - - - - - - -

f )  Any Other…. - - - - - - - - -

Sub-total (A) (1):- 15,21,54,714 - 15,21,54,714 69.56 15,21,54,714 - 15,21,54,714 67.95 (1.61)

(2) Foreign - - - - - - - - -

a) NRIs-Individuals

b) Other –Individuals - - - - - - - - -

c) Bodies Corp. - - - - - - - - -

d) Banks/FI - - - - - - - - -

e) Any Other…. - - - - - - - - -

Sub-total (A) (2):- - - - - - - - - -

Total shareholding 
of Promoter (A) = (A)
(1)+(A)(2)

15,21,54,714 - 15,21,54,714 69.56 15,21,54,714 - 15,21,54,714 67.95 (1.61)

B. Public-
Shareholding
1.Institutions

a) Mutual Funds - - - - - - - - -

b) Banks / FI 1,03,837 - 1,03,837 0.05 1,24,182 - 1,24,182 0.06 0.01

c)Central Govt - - - - - - - - -

d)State Govt(s) - - - - - - - - -

e)Venture capital Funds - - - - - - - - -

f ) Insurance Companies - - - - - - - - -

g)FIIs 8,20,000 - 8,20,000 0.37 7,02,082 7,02,082 0.31 (0.06)

h) Foreign Venture 
Capital Funds

- - - - - - - - -

i) Others - Foreign 
Financial Institution / 
Banks

- - - - 34,96,272 - 34,96,272 1.56 1.56

Sub-total (B)(1):- 9,23,837 - 9,23,837 0.42 43,22,536 43,22,536 1.93 1.51

Non- Institutions

a) Bodies Corp.

i) Indian 81,74,769 1,55,80,037 2,37,54,806 10.86 2,42,61,568 35,996 2,42,97,564 10.85 (0.01)

ii) Overseas

b) Individuals

i) Individual shareholders 
holding nominal share 
capital upto ` 1 lakh

1,40,64,958 60,74,288 2,01,39,246 9.21 1,72,11,341 58,25,669 2,30,37,010 10.29 1.08
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Category of 
Shareholders

No. of Shares held at the beginning of the year No. of Shares held at the end of the year % Change during 
the year

ii) Individual 
shareholders holding 
nominal share capital in 
excess of ` 1 lakh

1,89,08,917 9,25,000 1,98,33,917 9.07 1,76,37,271 - 1,76,37,271 7.88 (1.19)

c) Others (specify)

i) NRI 6,26,733 - 6,26,733 0.29 4,94,215 - 4,94,215 0.22 (0.07)

ii) Hindu Undivided 
Family

6,20,109 - 6,20,109 0.28 10,79,995 - 10,79,995 0.48 0.2

iii) Clearing Members 1,26,113 - 1,26,113 0.06 3,38,517 - 3,38,517 0.15 0.09

iv) Trusts 5,51,000 - 5,51,000 0.25 5,50,000 - 5,50,000 0.25 0

Sub-total (B)(2):- 4,30,72,599 2,25,79,325 6,56,51,924 30.02 6,15,72,907 58,61,665 6,74,34,572 30.12 0.1

Total Public 
Shareholding (B)=(B)
(1)+ (B)(2)

4,39,96,436 2,25,79,325 6,65,75,761 30.44 6,58,95,443 58,61,665 7,17,57,108 32.05 1.61

C. Shares held 
by Custodian for 
GDRs & ADRs

Not Applicable

Grand Total 
(A+B+C)

19,61,51,150 2,25,79,325 21,87,30,475 100 21,80,50,157 58,61,665 22,39,11,822 100 -

(ii)  Shareholding of Promoter

Sr. No. Shareholder’s Name No. of shares held at the beginning of the year  
(As on April 1, 2015)

No. of share held at the end of the year  
( As on March 31, 2016)

No. of shares % of total shares 
of the company

% of shares pledged/
encumbered of total 
shares

No. of shares % of total shares 
of the company

% of shares pledged/
encumbered of total 
shares

1. Sanjay Dhingra* 15,21,54,714 69.56 27.27 15,21,54,714 67.95 22.31

* Change in shareholding % due to increase in paid-up capital of the company.
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(iii)  Change in Promoters’ Shareholding (please specify, if there is no change)

Sr. No. Shareholder’s 
Name

Shareholding Date* Increase/ 
(Decrease) in 
shareholding

Reason Cumulative shareholding 
during the year   (01.04.2015 

to 31.03.2016)Shares at the beginning 
(01.04.2015)/ end of the 
year (31.03.2016)

% of Total shares of 
the Company No. of shares % of Total 

shares of the 
Company 

1. Sanjay Dhingra 152154714

152154714

69.56

67.95

01.04.2015

31.03.2016

 Nil Due to 
Increase 

in Paid 
up Share 

Capital

152154714 67.95

(iv)  Shareholding Pattern of top ten Shareholders (other than Directors, Promoters and Holders of GDRs and ADRs):

Sr. No. Shareholder’s Name Shareholding Date* Increase/
(Decrease) in 
shareholding

Reason Cumulative shareholding 
during the year ( 01.04.2015 

to 31.03.2016)

Shares at the 
beginning 
(01.04.2015) / end of 
the year (31.03.2016)

% of Total shares 
of the Company

No. of 
shares

% of Total 
shares of the 
Company

1 Pashupati Dairies 
Private Limited 

15544041 7.11 01.04.2015

15544041 6.94 31.03.2016 - - 15544041 6.94

2 Ved Prakash Gupta 5831519 2.67 01.04.2015

5831519 2.61 31.03.2016 - - 5831519 2.61

3 Sonika Gupta 0 0 01.04.2015

12.03.2016 5181347 Allotment

5181347 2.31 31.03.2016 5181347 2.31

4 Nomura Singapore 
Limited

0 0 01.04.2015

07.08.2015 257000 Transfer

14.08.2015 410000 Transfer

21.08.2015 780000 Transfer

28.08.2015 200000 Transfer

06.11.2015 350000 Transfer

13.11.2015 68000 Transfer

20.11.2015 68000 Transfer

       25.12.2015 (300000) Transfer

31.12.2015 (605100) Transfer        

08.01.2016 (100000) Transfer

15.01.2016 160000 Transfer

18.03.2016 (150000) Transfer

25.03.2016 (125000) Transfer

1012900 0.45 31.03.2016 1012900 0.45
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Sr. No. Shareholder’s Name Shareholding Date* Increase/
(Decrease) in 
shareholding

Reason Cumulative shareholding 
during the year ( 01.04.2015 

to 31.03.2016)

Shares at the 
beginning 
(01.04.2015) / end of 
the year (31.03.2016)

% of Total shares 
of the Company

No. of 
shares

% of Total 
shares of the 
Company

5 Nishid Babulal Shah 0 0 01.04.2015

08.05.2015 126944 Transfer

15.05.2015 52362 Transfer

22.05.2015 16794 Transfer

05.06.2015 181900 Transfer

12.06.2015 222000 Transfer

10.07.2015 99000 Transfer

17.07.2015 5000 Transfer

24.07.2015 7000 Transfer

31.07.2015 99000 Transfer

07.08.2015 9000 Transfer

14.08.2015 31100 Transfer

21.08.2015 50000 Transfer
28.08.2015 7500 Transfer

04.09.2015 35000 Transfer

18.09.2015 2900 Transfer

30.10.2015 15000 Transfer

06.11.2015 10000 Transfer

20.11.2015 1750 Transfer

27.11.2015 4000 Transfer 

25.12.2015 24000 Transfer

1000250 0.45 31.03.2016 1000250 0.45

6 Aakanksha Magan 983000 0.45 01.04.2015

10.04.2015 (1000) Transfer

17.04.2015 (500) Transfer

01.05.2015 (340) Transfer

08.05.2015 (1660) Transfer

05.06.2015 (10722) Transfer

12.06.2015 (3000) Transfer

19.06.2015 (3000) Transfer

26.06.2015 (4000) Transfer

03.07.2015 (5000) Transfer

10.07.2015 (23778) Transfer

17.07.2015 (10000) Transfer

24.07.2015 (14000) Transfer

31.07.2015 (12000) Transfer

07.08.2015 (1000) Transfer

14.08.2015 (3500) Transfer
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Sr. No. Shareholder’s Name Shareholding Date* Increase/
(Decrease) in 
shareholding

Reason Cumulative shareholding 
during the year ( 01.04.2015 

to 31.03.2016)

Shares at the 
beginning 
(01.04.2015) / end of 
the year (31.03.2016)

% of Total shares 
of the Company

No. of 
shares

% of Total 
shares of the 
Company

21.08.2015 (7766) Transfer

28.08.2015 (500) Transfer

31.12.2015 (5506) Transfer

08.01.2016 (3000) Transfer

29.01.2016 900 Transfer
19.02.2016 5950 Transfer

04.03.2016 (1000) Transfer

11.03.2016 (1000) Transfer

18.03.2016 (500) Transfer

25.03.2016 500 Transfer

877578 0.39 31.03.2016 877578 0.39

7 Ajitnath Financial 
Consultants LLP

0 0 01.04.2015

08.05.2015 56272 Transfer

15.05.2015 63227 Transfer

22.05.2015 11401 Transfer

05.06.2015 151453 Transfer

12.06.2015 57047 Transfer

19.06.2015 600 Transfer

10.07.2015 45000 Transfer

17.07.2015 62000 Transfer

24.07.2015 23000 Transfer

31.07.2015 30000 Transfer

07.08.2015 22400 Transfer

14.08.2015 25000 Transfer

21.08.2015 40000 Transfer

28.08.2015 22500 Transfer

04.09.2015 25000 Transfer

18.09.2015 2000 Transfer

16.10.2015 18000 Transfer

20.11.2015 6350 Transfer

27.11.2015 4000 Transfer

665250 0.30 31.03.2016 665250 0.30

8 Nikhita Nishid Shah 0 0 01.04.2015

08.05.2015 60261 Transfer

15.05.2015 51093 Transfer

22.05.2015 16646 Transfer

05.06.2015 151000 Transfer
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Sr. No. Shareholder’s Name Shareholding Date* Increase/
(Decrease) in 
shareholding

Reason Cumulative shareholding 
during the year ( 01.04.2015 

to 31.03.2016)

Shares at the 
beginning 
(01.04.2015) / end of 
the year (31.03.2016)

% of Total shares 
of the Company

No. of 
shares

% of Total 
shares of the 
Company

12.06.2015 96000 Transfer

10.07.2015 80000 Transfer

17.07.2015 2000 Transfer

24.07.2015 4000 Transfer

31.07.2015 39000 Transfer

07.08.2015 19000 Transfer

14.08.2015 10000 Transfer

21.08.2015 71000 Transfer

28.08.2015 2500 Transfer

04.09.2015 15000 Transfer

18.09.2015 4400 Transfer

06.11.2015 25000 Transfer

20.11.2015 4350 Transfer

27.11.2015 4000 Transfer

25.12.2015 6000 Transfer

661250 0.30 31.03.2016 661250 0.30

9 Quant Capital 
Securities Private 
Limited

0 0 01.04.2015

23.10.2015 100000 Transfer

27.11.2015 (2491) Transfer

04.12.2015 52393 Transfer

11.12.2015 600098 Transfer

18.12.2015 (160000) Transfer

15.01.2016 (63272) Transfer

22.01.2016 (35000) Transfer

18.03.2016 (18000) Transfer

31.03.2016 160000 Transfer

633728 0.28 31.03.2016 633728 0.28

10 Quant Capital 
Holdings Private 
Limited 

0 0 01.04.2015

23.10.2015 50000 Transfer

11.12.2015 294096 Transfer

18.12.2015 105904 Transfer

31.12.2015 500000 Transfer

08.01.2016 (400000) Transfer

12.02.2016 (320000) Transfer
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Sr. No. Shareholder’s Name Shareholding Date* Increase/
(Decrease) in 
shareholding

Reason Cumulative shareholding 
during the year ( 01.04.2015 

to 31.03.2016)

Shares at the 
beginning 
(01.04.2015) / end of 
the year (31.03.2016)

% of Total shares 
of the Company

No. of 
shares

% of Total 
shares of the 
Company

31.03.2016 400000 Transfer

630000 0.28 31.03.2016 630000 0.28

11 Amar Nath 2425000 1.10 01.04.2015

23.10.2015 (50000) Transfer

30.10.2015 (150000) Transfer

13.11.2015 (236000) Transfer

20.11.2015 (145000) Transfer

27.11.2015 (400000) Transfer

04.12.2015 (130000) Transfer

11.12.2015 (10000) Transfer

18.12.2015 (600000) Transfer

25.12.2015 (704000) Transfer

04.03.2016 36430 Transfer

11.03.2016 (34280) Transfer

2150 0.001 31.03.2016 2150 0.001

12 Jagjeet Singh Sahi 2114755 0.97 01.04.2015

03.07.2015 (40000) Transfer

10.07.2015 (688689) Transfer

17.07.2015 (70976) Transfer

24.07.2015 (406623) Transfer

31.07.2015 (333123) Transfer

07.08.2015 (62626) Transfer

14.08.2015 (89652) Transfer

21.08.2015 (423066) Transfer

0 0 31.03.2016 0 0

13 Promila Chandhoke 2077955 0.95 01.04.2015

31.07.2015 (226052) Transfer

07.08.2015 (260648) Transfer

14.08.2015 (385915) Transfer

21.08.2015 (341392) Transfer

09.10.2015 (668091) Transfer

195857 0.09 31.03.2016 195857 0.09

14 Ninderjit Singh 1769201 0.80 01.04.2015

07.08.2015 (270236) Transfer

16.10.2015 (777267) Transfer

23.10.2015 (259540) Transfer

462158 0.21 31.03.2016 462158 0.21
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Sr. No. Shareholder’s Name Shareholding Date* Increase/
(Decrease) in 
shareholding

Reason Cumulative shareholding 
during the year ( 01.04.2015 

to 31.03.2016)

Shares at the 
beginning 
(01.04.2015) / end of 
the year (31.03.2016)

% of Total shares 
of the Company

No. of 
shares

% of Total 
shares of the 
Company

15 Almondz Global 
Securities Limited

1301428 0.59 01.04.2015

10.04.2015 846 Transfer

17.04.2015 (582) Transfer

24.04.2015 (103) Transfer

01.05.2015 10804 Transfer

08.05.2015 (10965) Transfer

22.05.2015 2000 Transfer

29.05.2015 9551 Transfer

05.06.2015 (119399) Transfer

12.06.2015 (104193) Transfer

19.06.2015 (29562) Transfer

26.06.2015 (500) Transfer

03.07.2015 (14000) Transfer

10.07.2015 (450612) Transfer

17.07.2015 14000 Transfer

24.07.2015 (95921) Transfer

31.07.2015 (202017) Transfer

07.08.2015 (66830) Transfer

14.08.2015 206055 Transfer

21.08.2015 (274457) Transfer

28.08.2015 (100518) Transfer

04.09.2015 (25) Transfer

09.10.2015 19377 Transfer

16.10.2015 (4177) Transfer

23.10.2015 (38200) Transfer

30.10.2015 (1000) Transfer

06.11.2015 (1999) Transfer

13.11.2015 3999 Transfer

27.11.2015 (26000) Transfer

04.12.2015 (3750) Transfer

11.12.2015 1750 Transfer

18.12.2015 8215 Transfer

25.12.2015 (18215) Transfer

31.12.2015 (12000) Transfer

15.01.2016 700 Transfer

22.01.2016 3505 Transfer
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Sr. No. Shareholder’s Name Shareholding Date* Increase/
(Decrease) in 
shareholding

Reason Cumulative shareholding 
during the year ( 01.04.2015 

to 31.03.2016)

Shares at the 
beginning 
(01.04.2015) / end of 
the year (31.03.2016)

% of Total shares 
of the Company

No. of 
shares

% of Total 
shares of the 
Company

29.01.2016 (605) Transfer

05.02.2016 400 Transfer

12.02.2016 (3000) Transfer

19.02.2016 (1000) Transfer

04.03.2016 43 Transfer

11.03.2016 177 Transfer

18.03.2016 4780 Transfer

25.03.2016 (5000) Transfer

3000 0.0013 31.03.2016 3000 0.0013

16 RNA Capital Markets 
Limited

990184 0.45 01.04.2015

08.05.2015 (44658) Transfer

15.05.2015 (6259) Transfer

22.05.2015 23561 Transfer

29.05.2015 (371) Transfer

05.06.2015 69 Transfer

12.06.2015 3132 Transfer

19.06.2015 2959 Transfer

26.06.2015 2992 Transfer

30.06.2015 1000 Transfer

03.07.2015 (8000) Transfer

10.07.2015 (494654) Transfer

17.07.2015 84662 Transfer

24.07.2015 (147431) Transfer

31.07.2015 (172800 )Transfer

07.08.2015 (44529) Transfer

14.08.2015 7100 Transfer

21.08.2015 (2458) Transfer

28.08.2015 15018 Transfer

04.09.2015 2000 Transfer

11.09.2015 (632) Transfer

18.09.2015 (1000) Transfer

25.09.2015 (3700) Transfer

30.09.2015 (1500) Transfer

02.10.2015 (2000) Transfer

09.10.2015 4000 Transfer

16.10.2015 (98865) Transfer

23.10.2015 (4795) Transfer
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Sr. No. Shareholder’s Name Shareholding Date* Increase/
(Decrease) in 
shareholding

Reason Cumulative shareholding 
during the year ( 01.04.2015 

to 31.03.2016)

Shares at the 
beginning 
(01.04.2015) / end of 
the year (31.03.2016)

% of Total shares 
of the Company

No. of 
shares

% of Total 
shares of the 
Company

30.10.2015 (90025) Transfer

06.11.2015 5000 Transfer

13.11.2015 7000 Transfer

20.11.2015 6826 Transfer

27.11.2015 (25000) Transfer

04.12.2015 2000 Transfer

11.12.2015 23670 Transfer

18.12.2015 (7000) Transfer

25.12.2015 93000 Transfer

31.12.2015 (104000) Transfer

08.01.2016 15735 Transfer

15.01.2016 32000 Transfer

22.01.2016 68721 Transfer

29.01.2016 (5298) Transfer

05.02.2016 10000 Transfer

12.02.2016 54256 Transfer

19.02.2016 16903 Transfer

26.02.2016 3000 Transfer

04.03.2016 (3476) Transfer

11.03.2016 2000 Transfer

18.03.2016 (147264) Transfer

25.03.2016 (3446) Transfer

31.03.2016 2000 Transfer

59627 0.03 31.03.2016 59627 0.03

17 Unicorn Dealtrade 
Private Limited

846851 0.39 01.04.2015

17.07.2015 (112772) Transfer

23.10.2015 (83205) Transfer

30.10.2015 (32680) Transfer

04.12.2015 (68039) Transfer

25.12.2015 (268000) Transfer

31.12.2015 (65000) Transfer

08.01.2016 (23000) Transfer

194155 0.09 31.03.2016 194155 0.09
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(v) Shareholding of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel:

Sr. No. Shareholder’s Name Shareholding Date* Increase/ 
(Decrease) in 
shareholding

Reason Cumulative shareholding 
during the year ( 01.04.2015 to 
31.03.2016)

Shares at the 
beginning 
(01.04.2015)/ 
end of the year 
(31.03.2016)

% of Total 
shares of the 
Company

No. of shares % of Total 
shares of the 
Company 

1. Sanjay Dhingra 152154714

152154714

69.56

67.95

01.04.2015

31.03.2016    Nil

Due to 
increase 
in paid-
up capital 

152154714 67.95

2. Rattan Sagar Khanna - - - - - - -

3. Sidhant Gupta - - - - - - -

4. Manjit Dahiya - - - - - - -

5. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla - - - - - - -

6. Pinky Singh - - - - - - -

7. Ankita Mehrotra - - - - - - -

8. Arun Srivastava - - - - - - -

9. Pradeep K. Srivastava - - - - - - -

10. Sunit Shangle - - - - - - -

* During the period paid-up capital of the Company has been increased due to conversion of 51,81,347 outstanding Convertible Warrants 
in to Equity Shares of the Company of the face value of ` 1 each.

V. INDEBTEDNESS
Indebtedness of the Company including interest outstanding/accrued but not due for payment
             (Amount in Lacs)

Secured Loans 
excluding deposits

Unsecured
Loans

Deposits Total
Indebtedness

Indebtedness at the beginning of the financial year
i) Principal Amount 94264.32 15519.1 Nil 109783.42
ii) Interest due but not paid 76.05 Nil Nil 76.05
iii) Interest accrued but not due Nil 52.74 Nil 52.74
Total (i+ii+iii) 94340.37 15571.84 Nil 109912.21
Change in Indebtedness during the 
financial year
·   Addition
·   Reduction

15381.55
Nil

8559.48
Nil

Nil
Nil

23941.03
Nil

Net Change 15381.55 8559.48 Nil 23941.03
Indebtedness  at the end  of the financial year
i) Principal Amount 109620.23 23981.39 Nil 133601.62
ii) Interest due but not paid 101.69 Nil Nil 101.69
iii) Interest accrued but not due Nil 149.93 Nil 149.93
Total (i+ii+iii) 109721.92 24131.32 Nil 133853.24
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VI.   REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL
 A.  Remuneration to Managing Director, Whole-time Directors and/or Manager:                    (Amount in `)

Sr. 
no.

Particulars of Remuneration Name of MD/WTD/ Manager Total
Amount

Sanjay Dhingra 
(Managing 
Director)
DIN: 00025376

Manjit Dahiya
(Executive 
Director) 
DIN: 07182188

Satyendra Kumar 
Bhalla
(Executive Director)
DIN:06651319

Sidhant Gupta 
(Executive 
Director)
DIN:00555513*

1. Gross salary
(a) Salary as per provisions 
contained in section 17(1) of the 
Income-tax Act, 1961
(b) Value of perquisites u/s
17(2) Income-tax Act, 1961
(c) Profits in lieu of salary under 
section 17(3) Income- tax Act, 1961

1,30,20,000

Nil

Nil

18,77,806

Nil

Nil

19,24,729

Nil

Nil

8,33,000

Nil

Nil

1,76,55,535

Nil

Nil

2. Stock Option (in numbers)** Nil 40,000 Nil Nil 40,000

3. Sweat Equity Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

4.
Commission
-   as % of profit
-   others, specify…

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

5. Others, please specify Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

Total (A) 1,30,20,000 18,77,806 19,24,729 8,33,000 1,76,55,535

Ceiling as per the Act***
 ` 35,62,51,700 (Being 10% of Net Profit of the Company as per Section 198 of the 

Companies Act, 2013

* Mr. Sidhant Gupta resigned from the position of Executive Director w.e.f. May 29, 2015 and has been appointed as Non-executive Director.

** Mr. Manjit Dhiya has been granted 40,000 number of Stock Options w.e.f. July 23, 2015.

*** Remuneration paid to Managing Director & Executive Director is within the ceiling provided under section 197 of the Companies Act, 
2013.

B.  Remuneration to other directors:

Independent Directors
Name of Directors Fees for attending Board/

Committee Meetings
   Commission       Others           Total

Rattan Sagar Khanna          1,50,000         Nil            Nil         1,50,000
Arun Srivastava          1,50,000         Nil            Nil         1,50,000
Pinky Singh          1,20,000        Nil            Nil         1,20,000
Ankita Mehrotra          30,000        Nil            Nil         30,000
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C. Remuneration to Key Managerial Personnel Other than MD/Manager/WTD:

Sr. no. Particulars of Remuneration Key Managerial Personnel

Company 
Secretary

CFO Total

1. Gross salary
(a) Salary as per provisions contained in section 17(1) of the Income-tax 
Act, 1961
(b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) Income-tax Act, 1961
(c) Profits in lieu of salary under section17(3) Income-tax Act, 1961

12,07,655

Nil
Nil

27,89,132

Nil
Nil

39,96,787

Nil
Nil

2. Stock Option (in numbers)* 15,000 35,000 50,000

3. Sweat Equity Nil Nil Nil

4. Commission
 -   as % of profit
 -  Others, specify… Nil Nil Nil

5. Others, please specify (allowance etc) Nil Nil Nil

Total 12,07,655 27,89,132 39,96,787

* Mr. Pradeep K. Srivastava and Mr. Sunit Shangle has been granted 15,000 and 35,000 number of Stock Options respectively  

w.e.f. July 23, 2015

VII.  PENALTIES / PUNISHMENT/ COMPOUNDING OF OFFENCES:
No penalties/punishment/compounding of offences were levied under Companies Act, 2013
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Information required under Section 197 of the Companies Act, 
2013 read with Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of 
Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014.

A. Ratio of remuneration of each Director to the median 
remuneration of all the employees of your Company for 
the financial year 2015-16 is as follows:

Name of Director Total 
Remuneration 

(`)

Ratio of 
remuneration 
of director to 
the Median 

remuneration
Mr. Sanjay Dhingra 1,30,20,000 93.7
Mr. Manjit Dahiya 18,77,806 13.51
Dr. Satyendra 
Kumar Bhalla

19,24,729 13.85

Mr. Sidhant Gupta 8,33,000 6.00

Notes:

1. The information provided above is on standalone basis.

2. The aforesaid details are calculated on the basis of 
remuneration for the financial year 2015-16.

3. Median remuneration of the Company for all its employees is ` 
1,38,960 for the Financial Year 2015-16.

4. Mr. Manjit Dahiya and Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla joined the 
Board on May 12, 2015 and October 08, 2015 respectively.

B. Ratio of percentage increase in the remuneration of each 
Director and CFO & Company Secretary in the Financial 
Year 2015-16 are as follows:

Name Designation Remuneration 
(in `)

Increase 
(%)

2015-16 2014-15

* Sanjay Dhingra Managing 
Director

1,30,20,000 1,30,20,000 NIL

**Mr. Manjit Dahiya Whole Time 
Director

18,77,806 NIL N.A

**Dr. Satyendra Kumar 
Bhalla

Whole Time 
Director

19,24,729 NIL N.A

***Mr. Sidhant Gupta Non 
Executive 
Director

8,33,333 1,00,00,000 NIL

Mr. Sunit Shangle CFO 27,89,132 23,86,000 16.9

****Mr. Pradeep K. 
Srivastava

Company 
Secretary

12,07,655 NIL N.A

Name Designation Remuneration 
(in `)

Increase 
(%)

2015-16 2014-15

****Ms. Deepa Kapoor Company 
Secretary

1,29,000 8,35,000 N.A

*Mr. Sanjay Dhingra step down from the post of Chairman of the company 
w.e.f October 08, 2015

**Mr. Manjit Dahiya and Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla joined the Board on 
May 12, 2015 and October 08, 2015 respectively.

***Mr. Sidhant Gupta resigned from the position of Whole Time Director 
w.e.f May 29, 2015 and therefore the percentage for increase in salary is 
computed for such period.

**** Mr. Pradeep K. Srivastava was appointed and Ms. Deepa Kapoor 
resigned from the position of Company Secretary w.e.f. May 29, 2015 and 

therefore the percentage for increase in salary is computed for such period.

C. Percentage of increase in the median remuneration of all 
employees in the Financial Year 2015-16:

Particulars 2015-16  
(in `)

2014-15 
(in `)

Increase  
(%)

Median Remuneration 
of all employees per 
annum

1,38,960 1,11,943 24.13

D. Number of Permanent employees on the rolls of the 
company as on March 31, 2016 are 831

E. Comparison of average percentage increase in salary of 
employees other than the Key Managerial Personnel and 
percentage increase in the key managerial remuneration:

Particulars 2015-16 2014-15 Increase 
(%)

Average salary of all 
employees (other 
than Key Managerial 
Personnel)

2,91,264 2,97,374 (2.05)

Key Managerial Personnel
Salary of Mr. Sanjay 
Dhingra-MD

1,30,20,000 1,30,20,000 NIL

Salary of Mr. Manjit 
Dahiya-WTD

18,77,806 NIL NA

Salary of Dr. Satyendra 
Kumar Bhalla-WTD

19,24,729 NIL NA

Salary of Mr. Sunit 
Shangle-CFO

27,89,132 23,86,000 16.9
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Particulars 2015-16 2014-15 Increase 
(%)

Salary of Mr. Pradeep 
K. Srivastava-Company 
Secretary

12,07,655 NIL NA

Salary of Ms. Deepa 
Kapoor-Company 
Secretary

1,29,000 8,35,000 NA

*Mr. Sanjay Dhingra step down from the post of Chairman of the company 
w.e.f October 08, 2015

**Mr. Manjit Dahiya and Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla joined the Board on 
May 12, 2015 and October 08, 2015 respectively.

*** Mr. Pradeep K. Srivastava was appointed and Ms. Deepa Kapoor resigned 
from the position of Company Secretary w.e.f. May 29, 2015

F. Key Parameters for the variable component of 
remuneration paid to the Directors:

 The key parameters for the variable component of 
remuneration to the Directors are decided by the 
Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee in 
accordance with the principles laid down in Nomination and 
Remuneration Policy.

 Detailed Policy of Remuneration, Compensation and 
Nomination Committee forms part of Corporate Governance 
report.

G. Affirmation:

 It is affirmed that the remuneration paid to the Directors, Key 
Managerial Personnel and senior management is as per the 
Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee.
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NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION POLICY
Our policy on the appointment and remuneration of Directors and 
Key Managerial Personnel provides a framework based on which 
our human resources management aligns their recruitment plans 
for the strategic growth of the Company. The nomination and 
remuneration policy is provided herewith pursuant to Section 
178(4) of the Companies Act and Regulation 19 of SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015. The 
Policy is also available on our website www.kdil.in

INTRODUCTION
The Company considers human resources as its invaluable assets. 
This policy on nomination and remuneration of directors and Key 
Managerial personnel (KMP’s) has been formulated in terms of the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Listing Agreement 
to pay equitable remuneration to the directors and KMPs of the 
company and to harmonize the aspirations of human resources 
consistent with the goals of the company.

Objective and purpose of the policy

The objectives and purpose of this policy are:

 y To formulate the criteria for determining qualifications, 
competencies, positive attributes and independence for the 
appointment of a director (executive/ non-executive) and 
recommend to the Board policies relating to the remuneration 
of the directors and KMPs. To address the following items: 
committee member qualifications, committee member 
appointment and removal; committee structure and operations; 
and committee reporting to the Board. 

 y To formulate the criteria for evaluation of performance of all the 
directors on the Board;

 y To devise a policy on Board diversity; and

 y To lay out remuneration principles for employees linked to their 
effort, performance and achievement relating to the Company’s 
goal.

Constitution of the Remuneration, Compensation and 
Nomination Committee

The Board has constituted the Remuneration, Compensation 
and Nomination Committee of the Board. This is in line with the 
requirements under the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’).

The Board has authority to reconstitute this committee from time 
to time.

Definitions

The Board means Board of Directors of the Company. 

‘Directors’ means Directors of the Company.

The Committee means the Remuneration, Compensation 
and Nomination Committee of the Company as constituted 
or reconstituted by the Board, in accordance with the Act and 
applicable listing agreements and/or regulations.

The Company means Kwality Limited.

Independent Director means a director referred to in Section 
149(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules.

Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) means: 
 i. the Chief Executive Officer or the Managing Director or 

Manager
 ii. the Company Secretary
 iii. the Whole-Time Director
 iv. the Chief Financial Officer
 v. such other officer as may be prescribed

Unless the context otherwise requires, words and expressions used 
in this policy and not defined herein but defined in the Companies 
Act, 2013 and Listing Agreement as may be amended from time to 
time shall have the meaning respectively assigned to them therein.

General

This Policy is divided into three parts:

Part - A covers the matters to be dealt with and recommended by 
the committee to the Board;

Part - B covers the appointment and nomination; and 

Part - C covers remuneration and perquisites etc.

Part - A

Matters to be dealt with, perused and recommended to the Board 
by the Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee

The following matters shall be dealt with by the committee:

Size and composition of the Board

Periodically reviewing the size and composition of the Board to 
ensure that it is structured to make appropriate decisions, with 
a variety of perspectives and skills, in the best interests of the 
Company as a whole.
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Directors

Formulate the criteria determining qualifications, positive attributes 
and independence of a director and recommending candidates 
to the Board, when circumstances warrant the appointment of a 
new director, having regard to the range of skills, experience and 
expertise, on the Board and who will best complement the Board.

Succession plans

Establishing and reviewing Board and senior executive succession 
plans to ensure and maintain an appropriate balance of skills, 
experience and expertise on the Board and KMP’s.

Evaluation of performance

Make recommendations to the Board on appropriate performance 
criteria for the directors.

Formulate the criteria and framework for evaluation of performance 
of every director on the Board of the Company.

Board diversity

The committee is to assist the Board in ensuring that diversity 
of gender, thought, experience, knowledge and perspective is 
maintained in the Board nomination process, in accordance with 
the Board Diversity Policy.

Remuneration framework and policies

The committee is responsible for reviewing and making 
recommendations to the Board on:

(a)  the remuneration of the managing director, whole-time 
directors and KMPs;

(b)  the total level of remuneration of non-executive directors 
and for individual remuneration for non-executive directors, 
including any additional fees payable for membership of 
Board committees;

(c)  the remuneration policies for all employees including KMPs, 
includes base pay, incentive payments, equity awards, 
retirement rights and service contracts, having regard to the 
need to :

 (i)   attract and motivate talent to pursue the Company’s 
long-term growth;

 (ii)  demonstrate a  clear  relationship  between  executive 
compensation and performance; and

 (iii)  be reasonable and fair, having regard to the best 
governance practices and legal requirements.

(d)  the Company’s equity-based incentive schemes, including a 
consideration of performance thresholds and regulatory and 
market requirements;

(e) the Company’s superannuation arrangements and compliance 
with relevant laws and regulations in relation to superannuation 
arrangements; and

(f )  the Company’s remuneration reporting in the financial 
statements and remuneration report.

PART - B

Policy for the appointment and removal of directors, and KMPs.

Appointment criteria and qualifications

The criteria for the appointment of directors, and KMPs are as 
follows:

 y The committee shall identify and ascertain the integrity, 
qualification, expertise and experience of the person for 
appointment as director and KMP and recommend to the Board 
his/ her appointment.

 y A person to be appointed as director and KMP should possess 
adequate qualification, expertise and experience for the 
position he/she is considered for appointment. The committee 
has discretion to decide whether qualification, expertise and 
experience possessed by a person is sufficient / satisfactory for 
the concerned position.

 y A person, to be appointed as director, should possess 
impeccable reputation for integrity, deep expertise and insights 
in sectors / area relevant to the Company, ability to contribute 
to the Company’s growth, and complementary skills in relation 
to the other Board members.

Term / Tenure

Managing Director / Whole-Time Director

The Company shall appoint or re-appoint any person as its 
managing director and CEO or whole-time director for a term not 
exceeding five years at a time. No re-appointment shall be made 
earlier than one year before the expiry of the term.

Independent Director

An independent director shall hold office for a term of up to five 
consecutive years on the Board of the Company and will be eligible 
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for re-appointment on passing of a special resolution by the 
Company and disclosure of such appointment in the Board’s report.

No independent director shall hold office for more than two 
consecutive terms, but such independent director shall be eligible 
for appointment after the expiry of three years of ceasing to become 
an independent director. Provided that an independent director 
shall not, during the said period of three years, be appointed in 
or be associated with the Company in any other capacity, either 
directly or indirectly. However, if a person who has already served 
as an independent director for five years or more in the Company 
as on April 1, 2014 or such other date as may be determined by the 
committee as per regulatory requirement, he / she shall be eligible 
for appointment for one more term of five years only.

At the time of appointment of an independent director, it should 
be ensured that the number of Boards on which such independent 
director serves is restricted to seven listed companies as an 
independent director and three listed companies as an independent 
director in case such person is serving as a whole-time (executive) 
director of a listed company.

Removal

Due to any of the reasons for disqualification mentioned in 
the Companies Act, 2013, rules made thereunder or under any 
other applicable Act, rules and regulations, the committee 
may recommend to the Board with reasons recorded in writing 
the removal of a director or KMP subject to the provisions and 
compliance of the said Act, rules and regulations.

Retirement

The whole-time directors and KMP shall retire as per the applicable 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the prevailing policy 
of the Company. The Board will have the discretion to retain the 
whole-time directors and KMP in the same position / remuneration 
or otherwise, even after attaining the retirement age, for the benefit 
of the Company.

PART - C

Policy relating to the remuneration of directors and KMPs.

General

 y The remuneration / compensation / commission to directors 
will be determined by the committee and recommended to the 
Board for approval.

 y The remuneration and commission to be paid to the managing 
director shall be in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013, and the rules made thereunder.

 y Increments to the existing remuneration / compensation 
structure may be recommended by the committee to the Board 
which should be within the limits approved by the shareholders 
in the case of managing director.

 y Where any insurance is taken by the Company on behalf of 
its Managing Director, Chief Financial Officer, the Company 
Secretary for indemnifying them against any liability, the 
premium paid on such insurance shall not be treated as part of 
the remuneration payable to any such personnel. Provided that 
if such person is proved to be guilty, the premium paid on such 
insurance shall be treated as part of the remuneration.

Remuneration of KMPs 

Policy on the remuneration of KMPs:

The KMP of the Company shall be paid monthly remuneration 
as per the Company’s HR policies and/or as may be approved by 
the Committee. The break-up of the pay scale and quantum of 
perquisites including, employer’s contribution to P.F, pension 
scheme, medical expenses, club fees etc. shall be as per the 
Company’s HR policies.

This Remuneration Policy shall apply to all future / continuing 
employment/engagement(s) with the Company. In other respects, 
the Remuneration Policy shall be of guidance for the Board. Any 
departure from the policy shall be recorded and reasoned in the 
Committee and Board meeting minutes.

Minimum remuneration to Managing Director/ Whole Time 
Director

The Managing Director/Whole-time Director shall be eligible for 
remuneration as may be approved by the Shareholders of the 
Company on the recommendation of the Committee and the Board 
of Directors. The break-up of the pay scale, performance bonus 
and quantum of perquisites including, employer’s contribution 
to P.F, pension scheme, medical expenses, club fees etc. shall be 
decided and approved by the Board on the recommendation of the 
Committee and shall be within the overall remuneration approved 
by the shareholders and Central Government, wherever required.

If, in any financial year, the Company has no profits or its profits are 
inadequate, the Company shall pay remuneration to its Managing 
Director/Whole Time Director in accordance with the provisions of 
Schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013 or, if it is not able to comply 
with such provisions, with the approval of the Central Government.
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Remuneration to non-executive / Independent Directors

Remuneration

The Non-executive and independent directors are entitled for 
sitting fee for attending each meeting of the Board which can be 
revised from time to time, depending on individual contribution, 
the Company’s performance, and the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder.

Stock options

Independent directors shall not be entitled to any stock option of 
the Company.

Policy review

This policy is framed based on the provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013 and rules thereunder and requirements of Regulation 19 of 
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015 with the stock exchanges.

In case of any subsequent changes in the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013 or any other regulation which makes any of 
the provisions in the policy inconsistent with the Act or regulations, 
the provisions of the Act or regulations would prevail over the 
policy, and the provisions in the policy would be modified in due 
course to make it consistent with the law.

This policy shall be reviewed by the Remuneration, Compensation 
and Nomination Committee as and when changes need to be 
incorporated in the policy due to changes in regulations or as may 
be felt appropriate by the committee. Any change or modification 
in the policy as recommended by the committee would be given 
for approval to the Board.
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INFORMATION AS PER SECTION 134 READ WITH COMPANIES (ACCOUNTS) RULES, 2014 AND FORMING PART OF THE DIRECTOR’S 
REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2016

CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO

CONSERVATION OF ENERGY

Power and Fuel Consumption:

(a) Electricity                                  2015-16 2014-15

 Purchased

 Units 6,369,864  9,567,754                     

 Total Amount (`) 60,020,702  69,938,550                      

 Rate Per Unit (`) 9.42      7.31                

(b) Fuels 

 (Diesel, FO, Burada, Husk &Turi)

 Quantity (ltrs/Kgs) 60,21,968 18,180,840     

 Total Amount (`)  80,051,464  147,790,129                        

 Rate per Unit (`)  13.29  8.13 

TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION

R & D / PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

The Company has an in-house R & D / Product Development Laboratory to develop pure, hygienic, and nutritious products adhering to 
best Quality Standards. Continuous efforts are made to ensure qualitative improvement and safety of products and optimum efficiency in 
operations.

Specific Areas in which R & D / Product Development have been undertaken:

 y Processing of Fresh Raw Milk.

 y Nutrification of milk with appropriate nutrients.

 y Improvement of Shelf life of Dairy products.

 y Tamper Proof Packaging of Products.

 y Development of desi ghee “LivLite” brand containing 85% less cholesterol as compared to the normal ghee marketed across the world.

 y Consumer acceptance of new Dairy products.

Benefit Derived

 y Enhanced shelf Life of the Products.

 y Nutritious and Superior Products have allowed Company to expand its market share.

 y Creation of a niche market for low cholesterol ghee.   

Future plan of action

 y Invent and develop new present age nutritionally-balanced healthy products. 

 y Foraying in the nutraceuticals market.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO: 

   INR in  crores                   
Total foreign exchange earned and used:      2015-16                           2014-15 
(i)  Earnings        :                            730.51 530.21                 

(ii) Expenditure* : 707.71 515.86

*Foreign Exchange Expenditure incurred on capital goods, raw material, professional fees, capital investments in subsidiary, loan to 
subsidiary, foreign tour and travel and miscellaneous expenses.

  

For & on behalf of the Board of Directors 
          

           Sd/-

Place:        New Delhi                                                                 Dr.  Rattan Sagar Khanna
Date: August 22, 2016                                     Chairman
                   DIN: 03073914
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Effective corporate governance practices constitute the strong 
foundation on which successful commercial enterprises are built to 
last. The company’s philosophy on corporate governance overseas 
business strategies and ensures fiscal accountability, ethical 
corporate behavior and fairness to all stakeholders comprising 
regulators, employees, customers, vendors, investors and the 
society at large.

We are committed to defining, following and practicing the highest 
level of corporate governance across all our business functions. 
Our corporate governance is a reflection of our value system 
encompassing our culture, policies and relationships with our 
stakeholders. Integrity and transparency are key to our corporate 
governance practices and performance and ensure that we retain 
and gain the trust of our stakeholders at all times. 

Pursuant to SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 (“SEBI Listing Regulations”) the Company has 
executed fresh Listing Agreements with the Stock Exchange(s).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS:-
The Board of Directors is the governing body of the Company and 
holds the ultimate responsibility for the success or failure of the 
Company. The Board formulate the strategies to be followed in 
achieving the goals and objectives of the Company. 

The composition of the Board is to have an appropriate mix of 
Executive and Non- Executive Independent Directors to maintain 
the independence of the Board and to separate its functions of 
governance and management. 

The Board of Directors possess the requisite qualification, 
knowledge and experience which enables them to provide 

effective leadership to the business. The Board is at the core of the 
corporate governance practice and overseas how the management 
serves and protects the long term interest of all the stakeholders.

Composition of the Board:

i. As on March 31, 2016, the company has seven Directors, out 
of which three are Executive Directors, three are Independent 
Directors and one is Non-Executive Director. The composition 
of the Board is in conformity with Regulation 17 of the SEBI 
Listing Regulations read with Section 149 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 (“Act”).

ii. None of the Directors on the Board hold directorship in more 
than ten public companies. Further none of them is member 
of more than ten committees or chairman of more than five 
committees across all the public companies in which he/she is 
a director. None of the directors are related to each other.

iii. Independent Directors are non-executive directors as defined 
under Regulation 16(1) (b) of the SEBI Listing Regulations 
read with Section 149(6) of the Act. The maximum tenure of 
Independent Directors is in compliance with the Act. All the 
Independent Directors have confirmed that they meet the 
criteria as mentioned under Regulation 16(1) (b) of the SEBI 
Listing Regulations read with Section 149(6) of the Act.

iv. The names and categories of the Directors on the Board, their 
attendance at Board Meetings held during the year and the 
number of Directorship and Committee Chairmanships/ 
Memberships held by them in other public companies as on 
March 31, 2016 are given herein below.

Name of the Director Category Number of board 
meetings during the 
year 2015-16

Whether  
attended last 
AGM held on 
September  
30, 2015

Number of 
Directorship 
in other 
Companies

Number of Committee 
Positions held in other 
public companies

Held Attended Chairman Member

Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna Non-Executive Independent Director 13 13 Yes NIL NIL NIL

Mr. Sanjay Dhingra Executive Director 13 13 Yes 1 NIL NIL

Mr. Manjit Dahiya Executive Director 12 12 Yes NIL NIL NIL

Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla Executive Director 6 6 NA NIL NIL NIL

Mr. Sidhant Gupta Non-Executive Director 13 12 Yes NIL NIL NIL

Mr. Arun Srivastava Non-Executive Independent Director 13 13 Yes 1 NIL NIL

Ms. Ankita Mehrotra Non-Executive Independent Director 2 2 NA NIL NIL NIL

*Ms. Pinky Singh Non-Executive Independent Director 11 11 Yes NIL NIL NIL

*Ms. Pinky Singh resigned from the position of Independent Director w.e.f. January 23, 2016.

Corporate Governance 
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v. Thirteen Board Meetings were held during the year and the 
gap between two meetings did not exceed one hundred and 
twenty days. The dates on which the said meetings were held 
are as follows:

Date of Board Meetings
12.05.2015 29.05.2015 26.06.2015 23.07.2015
14.08.2015 24.08.2015 08.10.2015 23.10.2015
02.11.2015 14.11.2015 23.01.2016 20.02.2016
12.03.2016

 The necessary quorum was present for all the meetings.

vi. During the year 2015-16, information as mentioned in Part A 
of Schedule II of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 has been placed before the 
board for its consideration.

vii. The terms and conditions of appointment of the Independent 
Directors are disclosed on the website of the company.

viii. During the year, a meeting of the Independent Director was 
held on March 30, 2016. The Independent Directors, inter-alia, 
reviewed the performance of non-independent directors, 
Chairman of the Company, taking into account the views of 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors and the Board as a 
whole.

ix. The Board periodically reviews the compliance reports of all 
laws applicable to the company, prepared by the company.

x. Details of equity shares of the company held by the Directors 
as on March 31, 2016 are given below:

Name Category Number of equity 
shares

Mr. Sanjay Dhingra Executive 
Director

15,21,54,714

 Directors Profile:

 Sanjay Dhingra (DIN: 00025376) 

 Kwality Limited is managed by the Board of Directors 
headed by Shri Sanjay Dhingra. He has rich experience over 
two decades in diversified activities such as Manufacturing, 
Trading & International Marketing in the FMCG sector. He 
has led the group’s activities from the front. It is his visionary 
attributes that has manifested in the expansion of the business 
and enlargement of the value chain both in upstream and 
downstream sectors.

 His business acumen combined with his grass root level 
exposure in the FMCG Industry has been instrumental in 
making Kwality Limited one of the fastest growing companies 
in the Dairy Sector. Under his able leadership the company has 
successfully established itself as a dominant player in the dairy 
industry in the country. 

 Shri Sanjay Dhingra was felicitated by Hon’ble Union Finance 
Minister Mr. Pranab Mukherjee (currently our Hon’ble 
President) for being a successful, self-made industrialist and 
for his immense contribution to the Dairy sector.

 Sidhant Gupta (DIN: 00555513)

 Shri Sidhant Gupta was appointed on the Board of Directors of 
the Company on April 18, 2011. He is responsible for growth 
and strategic planning for the Company.  A  Management 
Graduate in Finance from one of the reputed college Shri 
Venkateswara College, University of Delhi, India. 

 Shri Sidhant Gupta has been instrumental in bringing about 
technological and managerial excellence in the Company’s 
operations. His rich experience, expertise in business 
management and foresightedness has been instrumental 
in elevating “Kwality Limited” to its current position wherein 
the Company has seen fresh growth perspectives including 
the initiative to incorporate foreign subsidiary, expand the 
company’s global footprint and tap various international 
markets with tremendous growth in terms of both top-line 
and bottom-line.

 He brought about radical changes, implemented business 
strategies, removed lacunas of internal system and enhanced 
the group’s value by launching new dairy products. A person 
of strong will and focused mind, he has been instrumental 
in bringing about coherency in operation matters leading to 
better efficiencies all around including optimum fund building 
and utilization.

 Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna (DIN: 03073914)

 Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna did his M.Sc. (Hons) from Punjab Agri 
University. He is Diploma holder in Semen Freezing Gynecology 
& Andrology from Royal Veterinary and Agriculture University, 
Copenhagen, Diploma in Farm & Science Journalism from 
Institute of Farm & Science Journalism, New Delhi. Over 35 
years, he has worked at senior positions in Dairy, Farming and 
in Agriculture Sector in the areas of manufacturing, consulting 
and marketing. He has joined the Board of “Kwality Limited” in 
May 2010.
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 Dr. Khanna is presently the trustee of M/s Ganesh Scientific 
Research Foundation New Delhi, Consultant of Namastey India 
Foods, Kanpur, Council Member and Consultant of Gerson 
Lehrman Group, New York, USA, Vice Chairman & Consultant 
of Centre for Institute of Animal Husbandry and Dairy 
Development, Noida, Member, Research Advisory Council, 
World Buffalo Trust, Noida.

 In the past, Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna has served, among others, 
as a Member & Chairman of various Dairy Associations including 
Consultant of Department of Animal Husbandry, Fisheries 
& Veterinary Services, Chief Executive Officer Animal Feeds 
Business in Dabur Ayurved Limited, Advisor to the GCMMF, 
General Manager in Gujrat Co-operative Milk Marketing 
Federation, New Delhi, Managing Director of Rajasthan 
Cooperative Dairy Federation, Jaipur, Resident Representative 
(Northern Region) of National Dairy Development Board, New 
Delhi, and Head (Projects) of Indian Dairy Corporation, Baroda.

 He has been providing his valuable inputs on major initiatives 
taken by the Company as well as the technologies introduced 
in the Company. He is actively involved in introduction and 
launch of our anchor Brand “Dairy Best - Livlite”. Dr. Khanna 
has also extended his expertise in implementation and 
establishment of collection centres and MCC’s of the Company.

 As an investor protection activist and proponent of good 
corporate governance, Dr. Khanna has been the guiding force 
in company’s CSR initiatives. An old war horse in Dairy Business, 
his experience has been a valuable asset for the company.

 Manjit Dahiya (DIN: 07182188)

 Mr. Manjit Dahiya holds more than 25 years of experience in 
the Dairy Industry, expert in setting dairy plants, development 
of dairy product and implementing latest developments in 
dairy industry and is responsible for handling technical issue 
at the Plant and milk chilling centers. He is responsible for 
bringing lots of reforms in SMP, Ghee, Cheese, Paneer, Dairy 
Whitener and other dairy products which prove to be a boon 
for the company. He has expert knowledge in the products 
manufactured by Kwality Limited and its utilization. 

 He is also serving on the committee of the Board and has been 
instrumental in the promotion of the Company.

 Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla (DIN: 06651319)

 Dr. S.K. Bhalla is a passionate leader with a long track record of 
Successful management of Premier dairies of India. An inspiring 
and motivational manager with first-rate interpersonal skills, 
ability, zeal and zest to develop the vision of any company 

managed. Possess ability to push performance improvement 
whilst at the same time delivering growth.

 In excess of 35 years hands on experience gained from within 
the dairy industry, with specific skills in Product development, 
Quality Assurance and Management, Business and Stakeholder 
Performance and Analysis. Business Growth and Development 
have always ensured that clear objectives and expectations 
are delivered and maintained.

 Ankita Mehrotra (DIN: 07412370)

 Ms. Ankita Mehrotra, a graduate in commerce and an associate 
member of The Institute of Chartered Accounts of India with 
a strong background in Accounts & Auditing, Taxation and 
good academic qualification. She brings to the board her vast 
expertise in the field of implementation and design of systems, 
audit and advisory services and also has business and financial 
expertise in financial accounting, taxation, auditing and 
management accounting. She is also a partner of Practising 
Chartered Accountancy Firm M/s Khatri & Mehrotra.

 Ashok Kumar Gupta (DIN: 00016704)

 A Graduate from of Shri Ram College of Commerce, University 
of Delhi, and thereafter did his CAIIB from India Institute of 
Bankers Mumbai and Finance Management course from Narsi 
Monji Institute of Management Studies Mumbai, Mr. Ashok 
Kumar Gupta has close to 40 years of experience in the banking 
sector, Mr. Gupta has served as an Executive Director at Canara 
Bank where his stewardship significantly boosted growth and 
profitability. Before he joined Canara Bank in July 2011, Mr. 
Gupta had an exceptionally distinguished career at the Punjab 
National Bank spanning over three decades. His extensive 
knowledge of the entire gamut of banking practices has stood 
him in good stead in discharging his duties. He has been to the 
fore in varied spheres like NPA recovery, corporate credit, Retail 
Banking, MSME, Treasury, Human Resources Development, 
Information & Technology and Transaction Banking. Mr. Gupta 
also received ‘Best techno savvy and customer friendly award’ 
in entire banking industry by IDRBT Hyderabad.

BOARD COMMITTEE’S: 
To enable better and more focused attention on the affairs of the 
Company, the board delegates particular powers to committees of 
the directors set up for the purpose. 

Currently, the Board has 6 (Six) Committees i.e. 

 y Audit Committee 

 y Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee
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 y Share Transfer Committee 

 y Stakeholders Relationship Committee / Investor Grievance  
Committee 

 y Corporate Social Responsibility Committee and 

 y Risk Management Committee. 

The composition, scope of work, numbers of the total meetings 
held during the financial year 2015-16 are as under:

A.  Audit Committee:

 i. The audit committee of the company is constituted in 
line with the provisions of Regulation 18 of SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015 read with Section 177 of the Act.

 ii. The terms of reference of the audit committee are broadly 
as under:

 y Oversight of the company’s financial reporting 
process and the disclosure of its financial information 
to ensure that the financial statement is correct, 
sufficient and credible; 

 y Recommendation for appointment, remuneration 
and terms of appointment of auditors of the 
company; 

 y Approval of payment to statutory auditors for any 
other services rendered by the statutory auditors;

 y Reviewing, with the management, the annual 
financial statements and auditor’s report thereon 
before submission to the board for approval, with 
particular reference to: 

 ¾ Matters required to be included in the Director’s 
Responsibility Statement to be included in Board’s 
Report in terms of clause (c) of sub-section 3 of 
section 134 of the Act;

 ¾ Changes, if any, in accounting policies and 
practices and reasons for the same;

 ¾ Major accounting entries involving estimates 
based on the exercise of judgement by 
management;

 ¾ Significant adjustments made in the financial 
statements arising out of audit findings;

 ¾ Compliance with listing and other legal 
requirements relating to financial statements;

 ¾ Disclosure of any related party transactions;

 ¾ Modified opinion(s) in the draft audit report;

 y Reviewing, with the management, the quarterly 
financial statements before submission to the board 
for approval; 

 y Reviewing, with the management, the statement of 
uses / application of funds raised through an issue 
(public issue, rights issue, preferential issue, etc.), the 
statement of funds utilized for purposes other than 
those stated in the offer document / prospectus / 
notice and the report submitted by the monitoring 
agency monitoring the utilisation of proceeds of 
a public or rights issue, and making appropriate 
recommendations to the Board to take up steps in 
this matter; 

 y Review and monitor the auditor’s independence and 
performance, and effectiveness of audit process; 

 y Approval or any subsequent modification of 
transactions of the company with related parties; 

 y Scrutiny of inter-corporate loans and investments; 

 y Valuation of undertakings or assets of the company, 
wherever it is necessary; 

 y Evaluation of internal financial controls and risk 
management systems; 

 y Reviewing, with the management, performance 
of statutory and internal auditors, adequacy of the 
internal control systems; 

 y Reviewing the adequacy of internal audit function, 
if any, including the structure of the internal audit 
department, staffing and seniority of the official 
heading the department, reporting structure 
coverage and frequency of internal audit; 

 y Discussion with internal auditors of any significant 
findings and follow up there on; 

 y Reviewing the findings of any internal investigations 
by the internal auditors into matters where there is 
suspected fraud or irregularity or a failure of internal 
control systems of a material nature and reporting 
the matter to the board; 



Kwality Limited Annual Report 2016102

 y Discussion with statutory auditors before the audit 
commences, about the nature and scope of audit as 
well as post-audit discussion to ascertain any area of 
concern; 

 y To look into the reasons for substantial defaults in 
the payment to the depositors, debenture holders, 
shareholders (in case of non-payment of declared 
dividends) and creditors; 

 y  To review the functioning of the Whistle Blower 
mechanism; 

 y Approval of appointment of CFO after assessing the 
qualifications, experience and background, etc. of the 
candidate; 

 y Carrying out any other function as is mentioned in 
the terms of reference of the Audit Committee. 

  The audit committee shall mandatorily review the 
following information:

 y management discussion and analysis of financial 
condition and results of operations;

 y statement of significant related party transactions 
(as defined by the audit committee), submitted by 
management;

 y management letters / letters of internal control 
weaknesses issued by the statutory auditors;

 y internal audit reports relating to internal control 
weaknesses; and

 y the appointment, removal and terms of remuneration 
of the chief internal auditor shall be subject to review 
by the audit committee.

 y statement of deviations:

 ¾ quarterly statement of deviation(s) including 
report of monitoring agency, if applicable, 
submitted to stock exchange(s) in terms of 
Regulation 32(1).

 ¾ annual statement of funds utilized for purposes 
other than those stated in the offer document/
prospectus/notice in terms of Regulation 32(7).

iii. The Company Secretary acts as Secretary of the Committee.

iv. The composition of the Audit Committee and the details of 
meetings attended by its members are given below:

Name of Director Category No. of 
Meeting 
Held

No. of 
Meeting 
Attended

Dr. Rattan Sagar 
Khanna

Chairman & 
Non-Executive 
Independent 
Director

9 9

*Mr. Arun Srivastava Non-Executive 
Independent 
Director

9 9

Mr. Sidhant Gupta Non-Executive 
Director

9 9

* Mr. Arun Srivastava has resigned from the position 
of Non-Executive Independent Director and therefore  
Ms. Ankita Mehrotra, Non-Executive Independent Director  has 
been appointed as member of the committee w.e.f. June 14, 2016

v. Nine audit committee meetings were held during the year. 
The dates on which the said  meetings of the Audit Committee 
were held are as under:

29.05.2015 26.06.2015 23.07.2015 14.08.2015
24.08.2015 23.10.2015 14.11.2015 23.01.2016
20.02.2016

B. Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee

i. The Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination 
Committee of the Company is constituted in line with the 
provisions of Regulation 19 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 read with Section 
178 of the Act, which shall comprise of at least three directors, 
all of whom shall be non-executive directors and at least half of 
the directors shall be Independent Directors. Chairman of the 
committee shall be an independent director.

ii. The broad terms of reference of the Remuneration, 
Compensation and Nomination Committee are as under:

 y Formulation of the criteria for determining 
qualifications, positive attributes and independence 
of a director and recommend to the Board a policy, 
relating to the remuneration of the directors, key 
managerial personnel and other employees;

 y Formulation of criteria for evaluation of performance 
of Independent Directors and the Board of directors;

 y Devising a policy on Board diversity;
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 y Identifying persons who are qualified to become 
directors and who may be appointed in senior 
management in accordance with the criteria 
laid down, and recommend to the Board their 
appointment and removal.

 y Whether to extend or continue the term of 
appointment of the independent director, on the 
basis of the report of performance evaluation of 
independent directors.

 y Performing such other duties and responsibilities 
as may be consistent with the provisions of the 
committee charter.

iii. The Remuneration, Compensation & Nomination Committee 
has been constituted to formulate the criteria for determining 
qualifications and independence of Directors and to 
recommend/review the remuneration of Managing Directors/
Whole Time Director and employees of the Company. 
The remuneration policy is directed towards rewarding 
performance base on review of achievements on a periodical 
basis. The remuneration policy is in consonance with industry 
practice

iv. The Remuneration policy of the Company for employees is 
based on the performance of the individual and performance 
of the Company. The policy aims at attracting and retaining 
high caliber talent and ensures equity, fairness and consistency 
in rewarding the employees.

v. The annual variable pay of senior managers is linked to the 
Company’s performance in general and the performance 
of their functions/business units for the relevant year and is 
measured against specific major performance areas which are 
closely aligned to the Company’s objectives.

vi. The Committee is also responsible to formulate the ESOP 
Scheme and to discharge all the function of the compensation 
committee under Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Share Based Employee Benefits) Regulations, 2014.

vii. The composition of the Remuneration, Compensation and 
Nomination Committee and the details of meetings attended 
by its members are given below:

Name of Director Category No. of 
meeting 
held

No. of meeting 
attended

Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna Chairman & 
Non-Executive 
Independent 
Director

6 6

*Ms. Pinky Singh Non-Executive 
Independent 
Director

6 6

**Mr. Arun Srivastava Non-Executive 
Independent 
Director

6 6

*Ms. Ankita Mehrotra Non-Executive 
Independent 
Director

0 0

***Mr. Sanjay Dhingra Executive Director 5 5

* Ms. Pinky Singh has resigned from the position of 
Non-Executive Independent Director and therefore  
Ms. Ankita Mehrotra, Non-Executive Independent Director has been 
appointed as member of the committee w.e.f.  January 23, 2016

** Mr. Arun Sirvastava has resigned from the position 
of Non-Executive Independent Director and therefore  
Mr. Sidhant Gupta, Non-Executive Director has been appointed as 
member of the committee w.e.f. June 14, 2016

*** Mr. Sanjay Dhingra, Managing Director has resigned from the 
membership of the Committee w.e.f October 8, 2015.

viii. Performance Evaluation Criteria for Independent Directors:

 The Performance evaluation criteria for independent directors 
is determined by the Remuneration, Compensation and 
Nomination Committee. An indicative list of factors that may 
be evaluated include participation and contribution by a 
director, commitment, effective deployment of knowledge 
and expertise, effective management of relationship with 
stakeholders, integrity and maintenance of confidentiality and 
independence of behavior and judgement.

ix. Remuneration Policy:

 Remuneration Policy in the Company is designed to create a 
high performance culture. It enables the Company to attract, 
retain and motivate employees to achieve results.  The 
Company considers human resources as its invaluable assets. 
This policy on nomination and remuneration of directors 
and Key Managerial Personnel (KMP’s) has been formulated 
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in terms of the provisions of Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015 to pay equitable remuneration to the directors and KMP’s 
of the company and to harmonize the aspirations of human 
resources consistent with the goals of the company.

 The company pays remuneration by way of salary, benefits, 
perquisites, and allowance (fixed component) and commission 
(variable component) to its Managing Director and the 
Executive Directors. 

 During the year 2015-16 the company paid sitting fees 
of `10,000 per meeting to its Non-Executive Directors 
for attending meetings of the Board. The members 
have at the AGM of the Company held on September  
30, 2015 approved for payment of commission to the Non-
Executives Directors within the ceiling of 1% of the net profits 
of the Company as computed under the applicable provisions 
of the Act. 

x. The Details of Remuneration during the year ended March 31, 
2016 as follows:-

 a. Non-Executive Directors:
 (In lakhs)

Name Commission Sitting Fees

Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna - 1.50
Mr. Sidhant Gupta - 1.10
*Mr. Arun Srivastava - 1.50
*Ms. Pinky Singh - 1.20
**Ms. Ankita Mehrotra - 0.30

 * Mr. Arun Srivastava and Ms. Pinky Singh have resigned from 
the position of Non-Executive Directors with effect from June 
14, 2016 and January 23, 2016 respectively.

 ** Ms. Ankita Mehrotra has been appointed as Independent 
Director with effect from January 23, 2016.

 b.  Managing Director and Executive Director
 (In lakhs)

Name of Director Salary Benefits/
Bonus/
Pension

Commission ESOP

Mr. Sanjay Dhingra 1,30,20,000 - - -
*Mr. Sidhant Gupta 8,33,333 - - -
Mr. Manjit Dahiya 18,77,806 - - 40,000
Dr. Satyendra 
Kumar Bhalla

19,24,729 - - -

 * Mr. Sidhant Gupta resigned form the position of whole-time 
Director of the company w.e.f. May 29, 2015. 

 C.  Stakeholders Relationship Committee
 i. The Stakeholder’s Relationship Committee is 

constituted in line with the provisions of Regulation 
20 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 read with Section 
178 of the Act.

 ii. The board has constituted a Stakeholders 
Relationship Committee to specifically look into 
redressal of shareholder’s and investor’s grievances 
such as transfer, dividend and demat related matters.

 iii. The broad terms of reference of the Stakeholder’s 
Relationship Committee are as under:

 � Consider and resolve the grievances of security 
holders of the company including redressal of 
investor complaints such as transfer or credit of 
securities, non-receipt of dividend/notice/annual 
reports, etc. and all other security-holders related 
matters.

 � Consider and approve issue of share certificates 
(including issue of renewed or duplicate share 
certificates), transfer and transmission of 
securities, etc.

 iv. Four Stakeholder’s Relationship Committee 
meetings were held during the year. The dates on 
which the said  meetings were held are as under:

06.04.2015 08.08.2015 06.10.2015 29.01.2016

 v. The composition of the Stakeholder’s Relationship 
Committee and the details of meetings attended by 
its members are given below:

Name of the 
Director

Category Number of meetings 
during the financial 

year 2015-16

Held Attended

Dr. Rattan 
Sagar Khanna

Non-Executive 
Independent 
Director

4 4

Mr. Sidhant 
Gupta

Non-Executive 
Director

4 4

Mr. Arun 
Srivastava

Non-Executive 
Independent 
Director

4 4
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vi.  Name, designation and address of Compliance 
Officer:

  Mr. Pradeep K. Srivastava
  Company Secretary 
  KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place,
  Rajouri Garden, New Delhi-110027
  Ph: 011-47006500 (100 lines)

vii. Details of investor complaints and addressed during 
the year 2015-16 are as follows:

Opening 
Balance

Received 
during the 

year

Resolved 
during the 

year

Closing 
Balance

0 9 9 0

D. Share Transfer Committee

 i. The Board has constituted Share Transfer Committee 
to approve transfer and transmission of shares and to 
approve sub-division, Consolidation and issue of new/
duplicate share certificates, whenever requested by the 
shareholders of the company.

 ii. Thirty Five Share Transfer Committee meetings were held 
during the year. The dates on which the said  meetings 
were held are as under:

08.04.2015 11.04.2015 16.04.2015 21.04.2015
05.05.2015 13.05.2015 20.05.2015 01.06.2015
08.06.2015 22.06.2015 06.07.2015 10.07.2015
20.07.2015 28.07.2015 11.08.2015 19.08.2015
25.08.2015 07.09.2015 19.09.2015 01.10.2015
10.10.2015 20.10.2015 03.11.2015 17.11.2015
01.12.2015 15.12.2015 29.12.2015 11.01.2016
19.01.2016 30.01.2016 12.02.2016 20.02.2016
29.02.2016 13.03.2016 26.03.2016

 iii. The composition of the Share Transfer Committee and the 
details of meetings attended by its members are given 
below:

Name of the 
Director

Category Number of meetings 
during the financial year 

2015-16
Held Attended

Dr. Rattan Sagar 
Khanna

Non-Executive 
Independent 
Director

35 35

Mr. Sidhant Gupta Non-Executive 
Director

35 19

Mr. Arun 
Srivastava

Non-Executive 
Independent 
Director

35 35

E.  CSR Committee

 CSR Committee of the Company is constituted in line with 
the provisions of Section 135 of the Act. The broad terms of 
reference CSR committee is as follows:

 y Formulate and recommend to the board, a CSR policy 
indicating the activities to be undertaken by the company 
as specified in Schedule VII of the Act;

 y Recommend the amount of expenditure to be incurred on 
the activities referred to above;

 y Monitor the CSR Policy of the Company from time to time

 Two meetings of the CSR Committee were held during the year 
on August 31, 2015 and February 20, 2016.

 The Composition of the CSR Committee and details of the 
meeting attended by its members are given below:

Name of the Director Category Number of 
meetings during 
the financial year 

2015-16
Held Attended

Mr. Sanjay Dhingra Executive Director 2 2
Mr. Sidhant Gupta Non-Executive Director 2 0
Dr. Rattan Sagar 
Khanna

Non-Executive 
Independent Director

2 2

Mr. Rajinder Singh Head Procurement-U.P. 2 2
*Mr. Sunit Shangle Chief Financial Officer 2 2
Mrs. Pushplata Tripathi Manager-Training & 

Development
2 2

* Mr. Sunt Shangle resigned as the Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company on July 4, 2106 and therefore Mr. Satish Kumar Gupta has 
been appointed as member of the Committee.
 
F. Risk Management Committee

 The Risk Management Committee of the Company is 
constituted in line with the provisions of Regulation 21 of SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015.

 The Board of the company has formed a risk management 
committee to frame, implement and monitor the risk 
management plan for the company. The committee is 
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responsible for reviewing the risk management plan and 
ensuring its effectiveness. Major risks identified by the 
businesses and functions are systematically addressed 
through mitigating actions on a continuing basis.

 One meeting of the Risk Management Committee were held 
during the year on September 10, 2015. The composition of 
the risk management committee and details of the meeting 
attended by its members are given below:

Name of Director Category Number of meetings 
during the financial 

year 2015-16
Held Attended

Mr. Sanjay Dhingra Executive 
Director

1 1

Mr. Sidhant Gupta Non-Executive 
Director

1 1

Mr. Arun 
Srivastava

Non-Executive 
Independent 
Director

1 1

CODE OF CONDUCT
Your Company has adopted a comprehensive code of conduct 
for its Board Members and Senior Management Personnel of 
the Company as per the requirement of Regulation 17(5) of SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015. The Board Members and Senior Management Personnel have 
affirmed their compliance with the said code of conduct. The code 
of conduct has been posted on the website of the Company. The 
declaration to this effect signed by Mr. Sanjay Dhingra, Managing 
Director of the Company forms part of the report.

GENERAL BODY MEETINGS:
i. General Meeting

 a. Annual General Meeting (“AGM”)

Year Date Time Location
2014-2015 30.09.2015 9.30 

A.M.
Lavanya, G.T. 
Karnal Road, Palla 
Bakhtavarpur Mord, 
Alipur, Delhi-110036

2013-2014 24.09.2014
2012-2013 30.09.2013

ii. Following Special Resolutions were passed at AGM held in 
2012-2013:-

 y Issuance of ADRs / ADs / GDs / FCCBs / QIBs or any other 
securities

 Following Special Resolutions were passed at AGM held in 
2013-2014:-

 y  Alteration of Clause No. 104 and 127 of Articles of 
Association.

 y Issuance of Shares on Preferential basis

 y Borrowing of money under section 180 (1) (c) of the 
Companies Act, 2013

 Following Special Resolutions were passed at AGM held in 
2014-2015:-

 y  To enter into related party transactions

 y To pay commission to Non Executive Directors within a 
ceiling limit of 1% of the net Profit of the Company

 y Issue of securities of the company for an amount of upto 
`10,000 Million

iii. During the year under review, no special resolution has been 
passed through the exercise of postal ballot.

iv. Postal Ballot

 The Company approached shareholders through Postal Ballot 
in July 2016. Details are as follows:

 y Name of Resolution: 

 � Issuance of Equity Shares on Preferential basis

 � Issuance of Convertible Warrants on Preferential basis

 � Issuance of Compulsorily Convertible Debentures on 
Preferential basis

 y Date of Postal Ballot Notice: June 14, 2016

 y Voting Period: July 09, 2016 to August 08, 2016

 y Date of declaration of result: August 09, 2016

 y Date of Approval: August 09, 2016

v. Procedure for Postal Ballot

 In compliance with sections 108 and 110 and other applicable 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read with related rules, 
the company provides electronic voting (e-voting) facility to 
all its members. The members have the option to vote either 
by physical ballot or through e-voting.

 The Company dispatches the postal ballot notices and forms 
along with postage prepaid business reply envelopes to its 
members whose name appear on the register of members as 
on a cut-off date. The postal ballot notice is sent to members 
in electronic form to the email address registered with their 
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depository participants (in case of electronic shareholding)/
the Company’s Registrar and Share Transfer Agent (in case of 
physical shareholding). The company also publishes a notice in 
the newspaper declaring the details of completion of dispatch 
and other requirements as mandated under the Act and 
applicable rules.

 Voting rights are reckoned on the paid-up value of the shares 
registered in the names of the members as on the cut-off date. 
Members desiring to exercise their votes by physical postal 
ballot forms are requested to return the forms, duly completed 
and signed, to the scrutinizer on or before the close of the 
voting period. Members desiring to exercise their votes by 
electronic mode are requested to vote before close of business 
hours on the last date of e-voting.

 The scrutinizer submits his report to the Chairman, after the 
completion of scrutiny, and the consolidated results of the 
voting by postal ballot are then announced by the Chairman/ 
authorized officer. The results are also displayed on the 
Company website, www.kdil.in, besides being communicated 
to the stock exchanges, depository and registrar and share 
transfer agent. The last date for the receipt of duly completed 
Postal Ballot Forms or e-voting shall be the date on which the 
resolution shall be the date on which the resolution would 
be deemed to have been passed, if approved by the requisite 
majority.

Remote e-voting and ballot voting at the AGM

To allow the shareholders to vote on the resolutions proposed at 
the AGM, the company has arranged for a remote e-voting facility. 
The company has engaged CDSL to provide e-voting facility to all 
the members. Members whose name appear on the register of 
members as on September 23, 2016 shall be eligible to participate 
in the e-voting.

The facility for voting through ballot will also be made available at 
the AGM, and the members who have not already cast their vote by 
remote e-voting can exercise their vote at the AGM.

OTHER DISCLOSURE
a. Related Party Transactions

 All material transactions entered into with related parties 
as defined under the Act and Regulation 23 of SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015 during the financial year were in the ordinary course of 
business. These have been approved by the audit committee. 
The Board has a policy for related party transactions which has 

been uploaded on the Company’s Website at the following link 
http://www.kdil.in/Insider-Code-of-Conduct.php

b. Details of non-compliance by the Company, penalties, 
strictures imposed on the Company by the stock exchanges 
or the SEBI or any statutory authority, on any matter related to 
capital markets, during the last three years 2013-14, 2014-15 
and 2015-16 respectively: NIL 

c. The company has adopted a Whistle Blower Policy and has 
established the necessary vigil mechanism as defined under 
Regulation 22 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations 2015 for directors and employees 
to report concerns about unethical behavior. No person has 
been denied access to the Chairman of the Audit Committee. 
The said policy has also been put up on the Company’s 
Website at the following link http://www.kdil.in/Insider-Code-
of-Conduct.php

d. The company has also adopted Policy on Determination of 
Materiality for Disclosures (http://www.kdil.in/Insider-Code-
of-Conduct.php), Policy on Archival of Documents (http://
www.kdil.in/Insider-Code-of-Conduct.php).

e. The company has also ensured the implementation of non-
mandatory items as prescribed in Part E of Schedule II of 
the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 such as:

 y A non-executive chairperson may be entitled to maintain 
a chairperson’s office at the listed entity’s expense and 
also allowed reimbursement of expenses incurred in 
performance of his duties.

 y Unmodified audit opinions/reporting

 y The internal auditor reports directly to the audit committee

f. Reconciliation of Share Capital Audit:

 A qualified Practicing Company Secretary carried out a share 
capital audit to reconcile the total admitted equity share capital 
with the National Securities Depository Limited (“NSDL”) and 
the Central Depository Services (India) Limited (“CDSL”) and 
the total issued and listed equity share capital. The audit report 
confirms that the total issued / paid up capital is in agreement 
with the total number of shares in physical form and the total 
number of dematerialized shares held with NSDL and CDSL.

g. Code of Conduct

 The members of the board and senior management personnel 
have affirmed the compliance with Code applicable to them 
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during the year ended March 31, 2016. The annual report 
of the company contains a certificate by the Managing 
Director in terms of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements), Regulations, 2015 on the compliance 
declarations received from Directors and Senior Management.

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
The audit committee reviews the consolidated financial statements 
of the Company and the investments made by its unlisted 
subsidiary companies. The minutes of the board meeting along 
with a report on significant developments of the unlisted subsidiary 
companies are periodically placed before the Board of Directors of 
the Company.

The Company does not have any material non-listed Indian 
subsidiary companies.

The Company has a policy for determining ‘material subsidiaries’ 
which is disclosed on its website at the following link- http://www.
kdil.in/Insider-Code-of-Conduct.php

MEANS OF COMMUNICATION
The quarterly, half yearly and annual results of the company are 
published in leading newspapers in India which include Business 
Standard, Financial Express, Jansatta. The results are also displayed 
on the Company’s Website www.kdil.in. Press releases made by the 
company from time to time are also displayed on the Company’s 
website. A Management Discussion and Analysis Report is a part of 
the Company’s Annual Report.

GENERAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
 i. Annual general Meeting for FY 2015-16

Date September 30, 2016
Time 09:30 AM
Venue  Lavanya, G.T. Karnal Road, Palla  

Bakhtavarpur Mord, Alipur, Delhi – 110036

 As required under Regulation 36(3) of the SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015, particulars of Director seeking re-appointment at the 
forthcoming AGM are given herein and in the Annexure to the 
Notice of the AGM to be held on September 30, 2016.

 ii. Financial Year and Book Closure:

Financial Year April 01 to March 31
AGM September 30, 2016
Dividend Payment The final dividend, if declared, 

shall be paid/credited on or 
before October 05, 2016

Book Closure/Record Date September 24, 2016 to 
September 30, 2016

 iii. Listing on Stock Exchanges

  Stock Code/Symbol:
  NSE : KWALITY
  BSE : 531882
  Listing fees as applicable have been paid

 iv.  Corporate Identity Number (CIN) of the Company: 
L74899DL1992PLC255519

 v. Dividend Policy:
   Dividends are declared at the Annual General Meeting 

of the shareholders based on the recommendation by 
the Board. The Board may recommend dividends, at its 
discretion, to be paid to our members. Generally, the 
factors that may be considered by the Board before 
making any recommendations for the dividend include, 
but are not limited to, future capital expenditure plans 
and capital requirements, profits earned during the 
financial year, cost of raising funds from alternate sources, 
cash flow position and applicable taxes including tax on 
dividend, as well as exemption under tax laws available 
to various categories of investors from time to time 
and general market conditions. The Board of Directors 
may also from time to time pay interim dividend(s) to 
shareholders.

 vi. Market Price Data:

Month NSE BSE
High  

(`)
Low  

(`)
Total 

number 
of equity 

shares 
traded

High 
(`)

Low  
(`)

Total number 
of equity 

shares traded

Apr-2015 50.85 37.80 76,33,920 50.90 38.00 20,44,097
May-2015 46.45 41.20 53,75,437 46.45 41.50 9,03,289
Jun-2015 53.00 41.60 1,08,04,242 52.95 41.10 34,24,100
Jul-2015 91.30 48.95 3,38,83,203 91.40 49.20 1,30,34,832
Aug-2015 97.90 62.00 2,90,45,644 98.35 62.40 1,05,02,585
Sep-2015 79.90 60.75 77,07,881 80.00 62.70 31,10,223
Oct-2015 113.35 72.80 3,57,76,965 113.50 72.50 1,33,79,032
Nov-2015 124.40 89.70 3,03,72,974 124.25 89.60 1,02,00,946
Dec-2015 153.80 104.10 5,08,30,050 153.70 103.60 1,49,93,208
Jan-2016 151.25 91.50 3,59,36,128 151.25 93.65 1,22,12,058
Feb-2016 119.80 78.50 1,98,78,041 119.75 78.45 64,71,665
Mar-2016 119.00 91.45 2,44,55,300 118.90 91.70 62,93,173
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 vii.  Performance of the Share Price of the Company in 
comparison to the BSE Sensex:
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 viii. Registrar and Share Transfer Agents

  Beetal Financial & Computer Services (P) Ltd.
  Beetal House, 3rd Floor, 99 Madangir,
  Behind Local Shopping Centre, Near Dada
  Harsukhdas Mandir,
  New Delhi-110062
 Phone no.: +91-11-29961281-83
 Fax: +91-11-29961284
 Email:  beetal@beetalfinancial.com, 
  beetalrta@gmail.com
 Website: www.beetalfinancial.com

 ix. Share Transfer System

   The share transfer activities in respect of the shares in 
physical mode are carried out by M/s. Beetal Financial & 
Computer Services (P) Ltd. The shares lodged for transfer 
are processed and share certificates duly endorsed are 
returned within the stipulated time, subject to documents 
being valid and complete in all respects.

   The Board of Directors of your Company have delegated 
the authority to approve the transfer of shares, 
transmission of shares or requests for deletion of name 
of the shareholder, etc., to the Share Transfer Committee 
and Registrar and Share Transfer Agent. The transactions 
requiring issuance of new share certificates are approved 
by the Shareholder’s Committee of the Board of directors 
of your Company.

   A summary of approved transfers, transmissions, deletion 
requests, etc., are placed before the Board of Directors 
from time to time as per SEBI Listing Regulations. Your 
Company obtains a half-yearly compliance certificate from 
a Company Secretary in Practice as required under Listing 
Regulations (including any statutory modification(s) or 
re-enactment(s) for the time being in force) and files a 
copy of the said certificate with BSE & NSE.

 x. Shareholding as on March 31, 2016:

 a.  Distribution of equity shareholding as on March 31, 2016

No. of Shares No. of Shareholders No. of Equity Shares

Total % of Share- 
Holder

Total % of 
Share 

Capital
1-5000 28208 96.67 15343033 6.85
5001-10000 563 1.92 3905813 1.74
10001-20000 192 0.65 2856652 1.28
20001-30000 71 0.24 1817692 0.81
30001-40000 28 0.09 994286 0.44
40001-50000 23 0.07 1048392 0.47
50001-100000 41 0.14 2999820 1.34
100001 & above 52 0.17 194946134 87.07

b. Categories of Equity Shareholders as on March 31, 2016

Category Number 
of equity 

shares held

Percentage 
of holding

Promoters & Promoter Group 152154714 67.95
Foreign Portfolio Investor 702082 0.31
Financial Institutions and Banks 124182 0.06
Foreign Financial  Institutions and 
Banks

3496272 1.56

Individuals- Nominal Value upto 
2 Lakh

24974131 11.15

Individuals- Nominal Value more 
2 Lakh

15700150 7.01

Body Corporate 24297564 10.85
HUF 1079995 0.48
NRI 494215 0.22
Trusts 550000 0.25
Clearing Member 338517 0.15
GRAND TOTAL 223911822 100.00
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Promoters

Indian Public and Others

Corporate Bodies

Bank, Financial Institutions 
and State and Central Government 

Foreign Institutional Investors

Foreign Portfolio Investor

NRI’s / OCBc / Foreign Nationals

Categories of Equity Shareholders as on March 31, 2016

68%
18%

11%

1%
2%

0%

0%

c. Top ten equity shareholders of the Company as on March 31, 
2016:

S. 
No

Name of the 
Shareholder

Number of 
equity shares 
held

Percentage of 
holding

1. Sanjay Dhingra 152154714 67.95
2. Pashupati 

Dairies Private 
Limited

15544041 6.94

3. Ved Parkash 
Gupta

5831519 2.60

4. Sonika Gupta 5181347 2.31
5. Nomura 

Singapore 
Limited

1012900 0.45

6. Nishid Babula 
Shah

1000250 0.45

7. Aakansha 
Magan

877578 0.39

8. Ajitnath 
Financial 
Consultants LLP

665250 0.30

9. Nikhita Nishid 
Shah

661250 0.30

10. Quant Capital 
Securities 
Private Limited

633728 0.28

 xi. Dematerialization of shares and liquidity:

   The Company’s shares are compulsorily traded in 
dematerialized form on NSE and BSE. Equity Shares of the 
Company representing 95.07% of the Company’s Equity 
Share Capital are dematerialized as on March 31, 2016.

   Under the Depository System, the International 
Securities Identification Number (ISIN) allotted to the 
Company’s Shares and Debentures is INE775B01025 and 
INE775B07014 respectively.

   Shareholders who continue to hold shares in physical 
form are requested to dematerialize their shares at the 
earliest and avail of the various benefits of dealing in 
securities in electronic/ dematerialized form. For any 
clarification, assistance or information, please contact M/s 
Beetal Financial and Computer Services Private Limited.

 xii.  Outstanding GDRs / ADRs / Warrants or any convertible 
instruments, conversion date and likely impact on equity:

   The Company has neither issued nor there are any 
outstanding GDRs / ADRs / outstanding as on March 
31, 2016. Your Company has 1,03,62,694 outstanding 
convertible Warrants as on March 31, 2016 which were 
also converted into 1,03,62,694 Equity Shares on April 09, 
2016.

   Further the Company has on August 09, 2016, through 
Postal Ballot accorded the consent of Shareholders for 
allotment of Equity Shares, Compulsorily Convertible 
Debentures and Convertible Warrants to M/s Bennett 
Coleman & Co Limited and M/s HT Media Limited (HT) 
as per Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI Regulations which 
would likely to increase the Share Capital of the Company.

 xiii.  Commodity price risk and or foreign exchange risk and 
hedging activities

   The Company takes due care with respect to price risk and 
foreign exchange fluctuations.

 xiv.  Transfer of unclaimed dividend to Investor Education and 
Protection Fund:

   In terms of Sections 205C of the Companies Act, 
1956 (including any statutory modification(s) or re-
enactment(s) for the time being in force), your Company 
is required to transfer the amount of dividend remaining 
unclaimed for a period of seven years from the date of 
transfer to the unpaid dividend account to the Investor 
Education and Protection Fund (IEPF). Shareholders are 
requested to ensure that they claim the dividend(s) from 
your Company before transfer of the said amounts to the 
IEPF.
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 xv. Plant Locations

  Village Softa, Tesil & Distt. Palwal, Faridabad,  
 Haryana-121004

  Bakra Mandi, Ajmer, Rajasthan,
  Village Kumarherha, NH-73, Saharanpur, U.P.
  Village Mumrejpur, Dibai, Bulandsaher, U.P.
  Village: Ram Nagar, Hardoi Road, Sitapur, UP
  Village: Jarar, Tehsil: Bah, District: Agra, UP

 xvi. Address for correspondence
  Kwality Limited                
  KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place        
  Rajouri Garden          
  New Delhi – 110027         
  CIN: L74899DL1992PLC255519       

 Address for correspondence
 The Company Secretary   
 Kwality Limited,         
 KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place,        
 Rajouri Garden,          
 New Delhi-110027.         
 Tel No: 011-47006500          
 Fax No: 011-25191800, 
 E-Mail: Investor@kdil.in, 
 Website: www.kdil.in

 Any Shareholder complaint / queries may be addressed to:
 Beetal Financial & Computer Services
 Private Limited
 Beetal house, 3rd Floor, 99 Madangir,
 Behind Local Shopping Centre, Near Dada
 Harsukhdas Mandir, New Delhi-110062
 Phone no.: 91-11-29961281-83,
 Fax: 91-11-29961284,
 Email: beetal@beetalfinancial.com  

    beetalrta@gmail.com

Detail of Directors seeking appointment/re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting

Name of Directors Mr. Sanjay Dhingra Dr. Satyendra Kumar 
Bhalla

Ms. Ankita Mehrotra Mr. Ashok Kumar 
Gupta

Date of Birth 12th October, 1970 24th January, 1953 13th May, 1989 11th October, 1954

DIN 00025376 06651319 07412370 00016704
Relationship with other 
Directors Inter-se

 None None None  None 

Date of Appointment 18th June, 2003 08th October, 2015 23rd January, 2016 14th June, 2016

Qualification Graduate Ph.D. ,M.Sc. (Dairy 
Science), B.Sc (Hons) Agri 
& A.H.

B.Com & C.A. B.Com (Hons), CAIIB 
from India Institute 
of Banking, 
Diploma in Finance 
Management

Expertise in specific 
functional area

Vast experience in dairy 
business & FMCG Products

Product Development, 
Quality Assurance and 
Management, Business 
and Stakeholder 
Performance and Analysis

Accounts, Auditing & 
Taxation

Treasury 
Management, Debt 
Management, 
Capital Raising, 
International 
Operations and 
fund Management
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DECLARATION BY THE MANAGING DIRECTOR UNDER REGULATION 17(5) OF SEBI (LISTING OBLIGATIONS 
AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS) REGULATIONS, 2015

I hereby confirm that:

the Company has obtained from all the members of the Board and Senior Management Personnel, affirmation(s) that they have complied 
with the Code of Conduct for Board Members and Senior Management Personnel in respect of the financial year ended 31st March, 2016.

 

 Sd/- 
Sanjay Dhingra 

Managing Director
Kwality Limited

KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place
Rajouri Garden, New Delhi-110027

       
Date: May 25, 2016
Place: New Delhi

Name of Directors Mr. Sanjay Dhingra Dr. Satyendra Kumar 
Bhalla

Ms. Ankita Mehrotra Mr. Ashok Kumar 
Gupta

Directorship held in 
other Listed Companies 
as on date

NIL NIL NIL NIL

Chairman/Member of 
the committee of the 
Board of Directors of 
the Company as on 31st  

March 2016

Member of Management 
Committee
Member of CSR Committee
Member of Risk Management 
Committee

NIL Member of Audit 
Committee
Member of Stakeholders 
Relationship Committee
Member of Share Transfer 
Committee
Member of 
Remuneration, 
Compensation & 
Nomination Committee
Member of Risk 
Management Committee

NIL

Chairman/Member of 
the committee of the 
other companies in 
which he is a director 
as on 31st   March  2016 

NIL NIL NIL NIL

Number of Shares held 
in the Company

152,154,714 NIL NIL NIL
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Certificate by the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer on compliance with the condition of Compliance Certificate under 
Regulation 17(8) of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015

The Board of Directors
Kwality Limited

We hereby certify that for the Financial Year 2015-16

1. We have reviewed the financial statements and the cash flow statement for the year and that to the best of our knowledge and belief 

 a. These statement do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material  fact or   contain statements that might be 
misleading;

 b. These statements together present a true and fair view of the listed entity’s affairs and are in compliance with existing accounting 
standards, applicable law and regulations.

2. There are, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no transactions entered into by the listed entity during the year which are fraudulent, 
illegal or violative of the listed entity’s code of conduct.

3. We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls for financial reporting and that we have evaluated the 
effectiveness of internal control systems of the listed entity pertaining to financial reporting and we have disclosed to the auditors 
and the audit committee, deficiencies in the design or operation of such internal controls, if any, of which we are aware and the steps 
we have taken or propose to take to rectify these deficiencies.

4. We have indicated to the Auditors and the Audit Committee

 a. significant changes in internal control over financial reporting during the year.

 b. significant changes in accounting policies during the year and that the same have been disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements; and

 c. instances of significant fraud of which we have become aware and the involvement therein, if any, of the management or an 
employee having a significant role in the listed entity’s internal control system over financial reporting.

Sd/- Sd/-
Sanjay Dhingra Sunit Shangle
Managing Director Chief Financial Officer
Kwality Limited Kwality Limited 
KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place
Rajouri Garden, New Delhi-110027 Rajouri Garden, New Delhi-110027

Date: May 25, 2016                           
Place: New Delhi 
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AUDITOR’S CERTIFICATE UNDER SCHEDULE V (E) OF SEBI (LISTING OBLIGATIONS AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS)  
REGULATIONS, 2015

COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

To The Members,
Kwality Limited

We have examined the compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance by Kwality Limited for the year ended on 31st March, 2016 as 
stipulated in Schedule V (E) of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, of the said Company with 
the Stock Exchanges.

The Compliance of the conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the management. Our examination was limited to  
procedures and implementations thereof, adopted by the Company for ensuring the compliance of the conditions of Corporate  
Governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the financial statements of the Company.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, we certify that the Company has 
complied with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the above-mentioned SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure  
Requirements) Regulations, 2015.

We further state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor the efficiency or effectiveness 
with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

Place: New Delhi                                                                   For P.P. Mukerjee & Associates
Date: May 25, 2016 Chartered Accountants

 Sd/-
 P.P. Mukerjee
 Proprietor
 Membership No. 089854
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We are India’s largest dairy product company with processing 
capacity of 3.41 million litres of milk per day. We have evolved 
into an integrated dairy based manufacturer servicing retail and 
institutional customers, with a wide range of dairy products. We 
are churning out quality and innovative dairy products for the 
Indian market and have established our presence through six milk 
processing units at Dibai, Saharanpur, Agra and Sitapur in Uttar 
Pradesh; Softa in Haryana; and Ajmer in Rajasthan.

The Business Responsibility disclosures in this Report illustrate our 
efforts towards creating enduring value for all stakeholders in a 
responsible manner. This Report is aligned with National Voluntary 
Guidelines on Social, Environmental and Economic Responsibilities 
of Business (NVG-SEE) released by Ministry of Corporate Aff airs, 
and is in accordance with Regulation 34(2)(f ) of the Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (SEBI) (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015. This Report provides an overview 
of the activities carried out by Kwality Limited under each of the 
nine principles as outlined in NVG.

SECTION A: GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE 
COMPANY 
1. Corporate Identity Number (CIN) of the Company: 

L74899DL1992PLC255519

2. Name of the Company: KWALITY LIMITED

3. Registered Address: KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place, Rajouri 
Garden, New Delhi-110027

4. Website: www.kdil.in

5. E-mail id: cs@kdil.in

6. Financial Year reported: 2015-16

7. Sector(s) that the Company is engaged in (industrial 
activity code-wise): 

NIC CODE DESCRIPTION

1050 Manufacture of Dairy Products

8. List three key products/services that the Company 
manufactures/provides (as in balance sheet)

 a) Manufacture/Processing and sale of milk, milk products 
and dairy products 

9. Total number of locations where business activity is 
undertaken by the Company 

 a) Number of International Locations (Provide details of  
 major 5): 

  To enhance international presence and expand to newer 
geographies, Kwality established its 100% subsidiary, 

BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY REPORT [Regulation 34(2)(f )]

Kwality Dairy Products, FZE (KDPF) at Jebel Ali Free Zone, 
Dubai.

 b) Number of National Locations: Kwality Limited 
manufacturing base in India is spread across Dibai, 
Saharanpur, Agra and Sitapur in Uttar Pradesh; Softa in 
Haryana; and Ajmer in Rajasthan.

10. Markets served by the Company – Local/State/National/
International 

 Kwality Limited cater to entire Indian market. The subsidiary 
imports the dairy products from India, Australia, New Zealand 
and Eastern European Countries including Turkey, Ireland, 
Holland, Poland and Ukraine, New Zealand which are sold 
both domestically and exported to GCC, Middle East, Far East, 
Bangladesh, China, Thailand and Africa, among others.

SECTION B: FINANCIAL DETAILS OF THE COMPANY
1. Paid up Capital (INR): 2239.12 Lacs

2. Total Turnover (INR):  644383.12 Lacs

3. Total profit after taxes (INR):  17359.58 Lacs 

4. Total Spending on Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) as 
percentage of profit after tax (%): 

 Your Company total spending on CSR for the Financial Year 
2015-16 is INR 297.90 Lacs which is 2.07 % of the Average Net 
Profit of the Company for last three financial year.   

5. List of activities in which expenditure in 4 above has been 
incurred:-

 a) Supply of Balanced feeds

 b) Supply  of feed supplement & medicines

 c) Animal health camps

 d) Calf Rally

 e) Dugdh Utpadak Sangoshthis

 f ) Training

 g) Loan Mela for Farmers

SECTION C: OTHER DETAILS
1. Does the Company have any Subsidiary Company/ 

Companies? -

 Yes, the Company has a Wholly Owned subsidiary viz. Kwality 
Dairy Products, FZE (KDPF) at Jebel Ali Free Zone, Dubai.
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2. Do the Subsidiary Company/Companies participate in the 
BR Initiatives of the parent company? If yes, then indicate 
the number of such subsidiary company(s) – 

 Company has a Wholly Owned Subsidiary at Jebel Ali Free 
Zone, Dubai. However company encourages its subsidiary to 
adopt its policies and practices.

3. Do any other entity/entities (e.g. suppliers, distributors 
etc.) that the Company does business with, participate in 
the BR initiatives of the Company? If yes, then indicate the 
percentage of such entity/entities? [Less than 30%, 30-
60%, More than 60%]- 

 The Company encourages its suppliers, dealers and other 
stakeholders to support various initiatives taken by the 
Company towards its business responsibility.

SECTION D: BR INFORMATION 
1. Details of Director/Directors responsible for BR –  

Mr. Sanjay Dhingra

a) Details of the Director/Director responsible for 
implementation of the BR policy/policies 

 1. DIN Number: 00025376 

 2. Name: Sanjay Dhingra 

 3. Designation : Managing Director

(b) Details of the BR head

S.NO Particulars  Details

1 DIN Number (if applicable) 00025376

2 Name Mr. Sanjay Dhingra

3 Designation Managing Director

4 Telephone number 011-47006500

5 e-mail id investors@kdil.in

2. Principle-wise (as per NVGs) BR Policy/policies –

 The National Voluntary Guidelines on Social, Environmental 
and Economic Responsibilities of Business (NVGs) released 
by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs has adopted nine areas of 
Business Responsibility. These are briefly are as under:- 

P1 Businesses should conduct and govern themselves 
with Ethics, Transparency and Accountability

P2 Businesses should provide goods and services that 
are safe and contribute to sustainability throughout 
their life cycle.

P3 Businesses should promote the wellbeing of all em-
ployees 

P4 Businesses should respect the interests of, and be 
responsive towards all stakeholders, especially those 
who are disadvantaged, vulnerable and marginalized 

P5 Businesses should respect and promote human 
rights 

P6 Businesses should respect, protect and make efforts 
to restore the environment

P7 Businesses, when engaged in influencing public and 
regulatory policy, should do so in a responsible man-
ner.

P8 Businesses should support inclusive growth and eq-
uitable development.

P9 Businesses should engage with and provide value 
to their customers and consumers in a responsible 
manner.
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 (a) Details of compliance (Reply in Y/N)

No. Questions P1 P2 P3 P4 P5 P6 P7 P8 P9
1 Do you have a policy/ poli-

cies for....
Y Y Y Y Y Y N Y Y

2 Has the policy being formu-
lated in consultation with 
the relevant stakeholders?

- - Y - - Y - - -

3 Does the policy conform to 
any national / international 
standards? If yes, specify? 
(50 words)-The Policies 
are based on and are in 
compliance with the ap-
plicable regulatory require-
ments and International 
Standards. The details Cer-
tifications received by the 
company please refer the 
Directors Report. 

Y Y Y Y Y Y NA Y NA

4 Has the policy being ap-
proved by the Board? Is yes, 
has it been signed by MD/ 
owner/ CEO/ appropriate 
Board Director?

- - - - - - - CSR  
Signed by 
Chairman

-

5 Does the company have a 
specified committee of the 
Board/ Director/ Official to 
oversee the implementa-
tion of the policy?

Y Y Y Y Y Y - Y Y

6 Indicate the link for the 
policy to be viewed online?

http://
www.kdil.
in/Insider-
Code-of-
Conduct.

php

http://www.
kdil.in/pdf/E-

H-S-policy.
pdf

These 
policies are 

internal 
policies 

and are not 
displayed on 
the website 

of the 
company but 

have been 
displayed on 
the intranet 
site of the 
company

http://kdil.
in/csr-policy.

php

http://
www.kdil.
in/Insider-
Code-of-
Conduct.

php

http://www.
kdil.in/pdf/E-

H-S-policy.
pdf

N.A. http://kdil.
in/csr-policy.

php

http://
www.kdil.
in/Insider-
Code-of-
Conduct

7 Has the policy been for-
mally communicated to all 
relevant internal and exter-
nal stakeholders?

Y Y Y Y Y Y - Y Y

8 Does the company have in-
house structure to imple-
ment the policy/ policies

Y Y Y Y Y Y - Y Y

9 Does the Company have 
a grievance redressal 
mechanism related to the 
policy/ policies to address 
stakeholders’ grievances 
related to the policy/ poli-
cies?

Y Y Y Y Y Y - Y Y

10 Has the company carried 
out independent audit/ 
evaluation of the working 
of this policy by an internal 
or external agency? *

Y Y Y Y Y Y - Y Y

 * Your Company has not carried out Independent audit of the policies; the Internal Audit Function periodically looks at the     
     implementation of the policies.
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 (b) If answer to the question at serial number 1 against any principle, is ‘No’, please explain why: (Tick up to 2 options)

No. Questions P1 P2 P3 P4 P5 P6 P7 P8 P9

1 The company has not understood the Principles - - - - - - - - -

2 The company is not at a stage where it finds itself in a 
position to formulate and implement the policies on 
specified principles

- - - - - - - - -

3 The company does not have financial or manpower 
resources available for the task

- - - - - - - - -

4 It is planned to be done within next 6 months - - - - - - - - -

5 It is planned to be done within the next 1 year - - - - - - - - -

6 Any other reason (please specify) - P7 The Company 
through the various agencies/ forums endeavors to 
promote growth and technological progress, econom-
ic reforms, inclusive development policies and sustain-
able business principles. Therefore, need for a formal 
policy has not been felt.

- - - - - - - - -

3. Governance related to BR 

a. Indicate the frequency with which the Board of 
Directors, Committee of the Board or CEO to assess the 
BR performance of the Company. Within 3 months, 3-6 
months, Annually, More than 1 year – 

 The Board of Directors of your Company, either directly or 
through its Committees, assesses various initiatives forming 
part of the BR performance of the Company on a periodic 
basis. The CSR Committee meets every quarter to review 
implementation of the projects / programmes/activities to be 
undertaken in the field of CSR. 

b. Does the Company publish a BR or a Sustainability 
Report? What is the hyperlink for viewing this report? How 
frequently it is published? - No

SECTION E: PRINCIPLE-WISE PERFORMANCE 
Principle 1 – ETHICS, TRANSPARENCY AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

A company’s governance practices have a direct bearing on its 
sustainable growth. Kwality have always traversed the ethical 
growth path guided by a principled leadership team, robust 
governance mechanisms and transparent accounting platforms. 
This has helped us to boost shareholder trust, gain competitive 
advantage as well as remain responsible towards our employees, 
our communities and the environment. 

To ensure that above principles translate into consistent practice, 
the below enablers lead us towards high standards of business 
conduct. 

Leadership 

Our Board of Directors lead the Company towards a sustainable 
growth path based on integrity, fairness and responsibility. The 
Board members bring to the table, a wealth of experience, the 
strength of entrepreneurship and the breadth of global perspective. 

Board Committees 

Dedicated board committees are formed to oversee important 
functions to increase the efficacy of governance. These are led 
by the top management team and comprise Audit Committee, 
Remuneration Committee, Shareholders’ / Grievance Committee 
and Committee of Directors. 

Code of Conduct & Policy 

Our code of conduct encourages and enables our employees 
to succeed by embracing fair practices. In addition to the code 
of conduct, various policies have also been designed to address 
specific purposes. We are continuously and consistently pushing 
the envelope on our commitment to the best benchmarks of 
governance. A Committee for Nomination and Remuneration to 
embed integrity in the selection of members of the management. 
We also actively solicit feedback from all our stakeholders on our 
business conduct and keep our code and policies updated. 

How many stakeholder complaints have been received in the 
past financial year and what percentage was satisfactorily 
resolved by the management? If so, provide details thereof, in 
about 50 words or so.

The Company has in place different mechanisms for receiving 
and dealing with complaints from different stakeholder’s viz. 
shareholders, customers, employees, vendors etc. There are 
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dedicated resources to respond to the complaints within a time 
bound manner. During the year, your Company received 9 (Nine) 
complaints from shareholders out of which 9 (Nine) have been 
resolved and none is pending.

Principle 2 

Business should provide goods and services that are safe and 
contribute to sustainability throughout their life cycle -

We believe in upholding the highest quality standards in our 
manufacturing and processing facilities and are committed 
to ensuring consumer safety in all stages of our procurement, 
processing and production cycle. Towards this ideal, we have 
devised various systems and processes that help us in monitoring 
and controlling quality in our product life-cycle. Accordingly, 
we ensure that processes and systems such as daily quality 
indexing, food safety certifications, quality audits, vendor quality 
improvement programs, trials and new product quality assessments 
are implemented in the various facets of our business operations. 
Further, we have a dedicated internal quality control team that 
comprised [50] members as of December 31, 2015. This team is 
responsible for ensuring compliance with good manufacturing 
practice guidelines in India.

We have received several quality certifications for our products 
and production facilities, including certification from FSSAI for 
Buttermilk, Mixed milk, Standardized Milk, Recombined Milk, Toned 
Milk, Double Toned Milk, Skimmed Milk, Full Cream Milk, Butter, 
Ghee, Yoghurt, Flavoured Milk, Cheese, Ripened Cheese, Processed 
Cheese, Whole Milk Powder, Skimmed Milk Powder, Partially 
Skimmed Milk Powder, Cream (not concentrated nor containing 
added sugar or other sweetening matter & curd). The AGMARK 
quality certification from the GoI for Ghee, and the ISI quality 
mark from the GoI for SMP and WMP helps enhance the consumer 
confidence in our products. In order to produce and process high-
quality international standards of milk and dairy products, our 
standards for food safety are based on Codex Standards for Hazard 
Analysis and Critical Control Points (HACCP) to ensure safe and 
quality products for consumers and also we have obtained FSSC 
22000 certifications (Food Safety Systems including ISO 22000:2005, 
ISO/TS 22002-1:2009, and additional FSSC 22000 requirements).

We are also in the process of implementing an Environmental 
Management System (ISO:14000 and planning to implement an 
Occupational Health & Safety System (ISO:18024) and have started 
the process for NABL accreditation of our Central Laboratory at 
Softa Plant (ISO:17025).

Your Company has been constantly improving its operational 
efficiencies for reducing the consumption of resources without 

comprising on the quality and quantity of its production. In order 
to reduce fresh water consumption in our manufacturing plants 
company reuse and recyle of water which stream back into the 
manufacturing process and Installation of Zero Discharge Facilities 
etc. In the area of energy management, your Company looks 
to responsibly manage and conserve energy by improving the 
efficiency of our production process and incorporating renewal 
energy technologies to supplement our power needs.

Your Company has strategically designed its distribution network 
in order to serve its dealers in the least possible time and 
transportation cost. Further, your Company derives its distribution 
plan using an ERP system to optimize freight cost.

Principle 3 

Businesses should promote the wellbeing of all Employees

1. Please indicate the Total number of employees: 822

2. Please indicate the Total number of employees hired on 
temporary/contractual/casual basis: 57 

3. Please indicate the Number of permanent women 
employees: 11 

4. Please indicate the Number of permanent employees with 
disabilities: NIL 

5. Do you have an employee association that is recognized by 
management? Company has no any employee association

6. What percentage of your permanent employees is 
members of this recognized employee association? NA

7. Please indicate the Number of complaints relating to 
child labour, forced labour, involuntary labour, sexual 
harassment in the last financial year and pending, as on 
the end of the financial year. NIL

No. Category No of com-
plaints filed 
during the fi-
nancial year

No of com-
plaints pend-
ing as on end 
of the finan-
cial year

1 Child labour / 
forced labour / 
involuntary la-
bour

NIL NIL

2 Sexual harass-
ment

NIL NIL

3 Discriminatory 
employment

NIL NIL
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8. What percentage of your under mentioned employees 
were given safety & skill up gradation training in the last 
year? 

 a. Permanent Employees: 100% 

 b. Permanent Women Employees: 100% 

 c. Casual/Temporary/Contractual Employees: 100% 

 d. Employees with Disabilities: NA 

Principle 4

Principle Business should respect the interests of, and be 
responsive towards all Stakeholders, especially those who are 
disadvantaged, vulnerable and marginalized.

1. Has the company mapped its internal and external 
stakeholders? Yes/No 

   Yes, the Company has mapped its internal and external 
stakeholders.

2. Out of the above, has the company identified the 
disadvantaged, vulnerable & marginalized stakeholders

 Yes, the Company has identified the disadvantaged, vulnerable 
& marginalized stakeholders

3. Are there any special initiatives taken by the company 
to engage with the disadvantaged, vulnerable and 
marginalized stakeholders. If so, provide details thereof, 
in about 50 words or so. 

 The Company has always engaged itself in special initiatives 
with the disadvantaged, vulnerable and marginalized 
stakeholders.

Principle 5 

Businesses should respect and promote human rights

1. Does the policy of the company on human rights cover 
only the company or extend to the Group/Joint Ventures/
Suppliers/Contractors/NGOs/Others?

 The Company’s Policy on Human Rights covers not only the 
Company but extends to its Group Companies, Joint Ventures, 
Suppliers, Contractors, NGOs, etc. 

2. How many stakeholder complaints have been received in 
the past financial year and what percent was satisfactorily 
resolved by the management? 

 During the last financial year, there were no complaints 
received from the stakeholders.

Principle 6 

Businesses should respect, promote and make efforts to restore 
the environment

1. Does the policy related to Principle 6 cover only the 
company or extends to the Group/Joint Ventures/
Suppliers/Contractors/NGOs/others. 

 The Company’s Corporate Environment Policy extends to 
cover the Company and its subsidiary

2. Does the company have strategies/ initiatives to address 
global environmental issues such as climate change, 
global warming, etc? Y/N. If yes, please give hyperlink for 
webpage etc. 

 Your Company has an Environment, Health & Safety Policy 
which is communicated to all employees. The EHS Policy is 
available on you Company’s website and can be accessed at 
http://www.kdil.in/pdf/E-H-S-policy.pdf

3. Does the company identify and assess potential 
environmental risks? Y/N

 Yes, the Company has a mechanism to identify and assess 
potential environmental risks in its plants and projects. 

4. Does the company have any project related to Clean 
Development Mechanism? If so, provide details thereof, 
in about 50 words or so. Also, if Yes, whether any 
environmental compliance report is filed?

 We are also in the process of implementing an Environmental 
Management System (ISO:14000), and also planning to 
implement an Occupational Health & Safety System (ISO:18024) 
and have started the process for NABL accreditation of our 
Central Laboratory at Softa Plant (ISO:17025)

5. Has the company undertaken any other initiatives on – 
clean technology, energy efficiency, renewable energy, 
etc. Y/N. If yes, please give hyperlink for web page etc.

 The Company has taken up several initiatives on clean 
technology, energy efficiency and renewable energy. 

6. Are the Emissions/Waste generated by the company within 
the permissible limits given by CPCB/SPCB for the financial 
year being reported? 

 Yes, the emissions / waste generated by the Company are 
within the permissible limits given by CPCB/ SPCB

7. Number of show cause/ legal notices received from CPCB/
SPCB which are pending (i.e. not resolved to satisfaction) 
as on end of Financial Year. - NIL
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Principle 7

Businesses, when engaged in influencing public and regulatory 
policy, should do so in a responsible manner

1. Is your company a member of any trade and chamber or 
association? If Yes, Name only those major ones that your 
business deals with: 

 The Company is Member of :

 (i) Confederation of Indian Industries ( CII)

 (ii) Federation of Indian Chambers of commerce and Industry 
( FICCI )

 (iii) Indian Dairy Association (IDA)

2. Have you advocated/lobbied through above associations 
for the advancement or improvement of public good? Yes/
No; if yes specify the broad areas ( drop box: Governance 
and Administration, Economic Reforms, Inclusive 
Development Policies, Energy security, Water, Food 
Security, Sustainable Business Principles, Others)

 Your Company participate actively in meetings with statutory 
agencies and help in Promote growth and technological 
progress, Sustainable business principles, Energy Sustainability, 
Water & Food Security etc.

Principle 8 

Businesses should support inclusive growth and equitable 
development

1. Does the company have specified programmes/initiatives/
projects in pursuit of the policy related to Principle 8? If 
yes details thereof

 In line with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and 
based on recommendation of the CSR Committee, the Board of 
Directors have adopted a CSR Policy. The CSR policy, inter-alia, 
deals with the objectives of the Company’s CSR initiatives, the 
guiding principles, the thrust areas of CSR, the responsibilities 
of the CSR Committee, the implementation plan and reporting 
framework. The details of the CSR initiatives undertaken by 
your Company are set out in the Corporate Social Responsibility 
section of this Annual Report.

2. Are the programmes/projects undertaken through in-
house team/own foundation/external NGO/government 
structures/any other organization? 

 The Company’s Social Responsibility Projects are implemented 
through in- house team.

3. Have you done any impact assessment of your initiative? 

 Yes, the Company has conducted impact assessments of its 
CSR Initiatives

4. What is your company’s direct contribution to community 
development projects- Amount in INR and the details of 
the projects undertaken. 

 The Company spent an amount of INR 297.90 Lacs on various 
CSR projects during the Financial Year 2015-16.  Details of 
the projects undertaken are given in Annual Report on CSR 
Activities enclosed as Annexure ‘2’ to the Directors’ Report.

5. Have you taken steps to ensure that this community 
development initiative is successfully adopted by the 
community? Please explain in 50 words, or so. 

 The Company ensures its presence is established right 
from the commencement of the initiatives. It collaborates 
with the communities right from need identification to 
project implementation phase. The Company has extensive 
engagement with various stakeholders. The feedback from 
the stakeholders are analysed and various actions like 
improvement actions are prioritized. 

Principle 9 

Businesses should engage with and provide value to their 
customers and consumers in a responsible manner

1. What percentage of customer complaints/consumer cases 
are pending as on the end of financial year. NIL

2. Does the company display product information on the 
product label, over and above what is mandated as per 
local laws? Yes/No/N.A. /Remarks(additional information)

 Yes, apart from the mandated declarations, additional 
declarations are furnished on the products/labels relating to 
the products and their usage. 

3. Is there any case filed by any stakeholder against the 
company regarding unfair trade practices, irresponsible 
advertising and/or anti-competitive behaviour during the 
last five years and pending as on end of financial year. If so, 
provide details thereof, in about 50 words or so. NIL

4. Did your company carry out any consumer survey/ 
consumer satisfaction trends?- YES
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To the Members of  
KWALITY LIMITED 

REPORT ON THE STANDALONE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of M/s 
Kwality Limited, which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 
2016,  the Statement of Profit and Loss and Cash Flow Statement 
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE 
STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters 
stated in Section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with 
respect to the preparation and presentation of these standalone 
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows of the Company in 
accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in 
India, including the Accounting Standards specified under Section 
133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 
2014. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act 
for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing 
and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and 
application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments 
and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, 
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial 
controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy 
and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the 
preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a 
true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these standalone 
financial statements based on our audit. We have taken into account 
the provisions of the Act, the accounting and auditing standards 
and matters which are required to be included in the audit report 
under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on 
Auditing specified under Section 143(10) of the Act. Those Standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and the disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 

including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal financial 
control relevant to the Company’s preparation of the financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on whether the Company has 
in place an adequate internal financial controls system over financial 
reporting and the operating effectiveness of such controls. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates 
made by the Company’s Directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the 
standalone financial statements.

OPINION
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according 
to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid standalone 
financial statements give the information required by the 
Act in the manner so required and give a true and fair view 
in conformity with the accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at  
March 31, 2016 and its profit and its cash flows for the year ended 
on that date.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS
1.  As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2015 

(“the Order”) issued by the Central Government of India in 
terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, we give 
in the Annexure a statement on the matters specified in the 
paragraph 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent applicable.

2.   As required by Section 143 (3) of the Act, we report that:
 a.  We have sought & obtained all the information and 

explanations which to the best of our knowledge and 
belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit;

 b.  In our opinion proper books of account as required by law 
have been kept by the Company so far as appears from 
our examination of those books.

 c.  The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss, and 
Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this Report are in 
agreement with the books of account.

 d.  in our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial 
statements comply with the Accounting Standards 
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specified under Section 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of 
the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014. 

 e.  on the basis of the written representations received from 
the directors as on March 31, 2016 taken on record by the 
Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as 
on March 31, 2016 from being appointed as a director in 
terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act.

 f.  with respect to the adequacy of the internal financial 
controls over financial reporting of the Company and 
operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our 
separate report in “Annexure-B” ; and 

 g. With respect to the other matters to be included in 
the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the 
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our 
opinion and to the best of our information and according 
to the explanations given to us:

 (i)  The Company has disclosed the impact of pending 
litigations on its financial position in its financial 
statements as referred to in Note 26.1 to the financial 
statements.

 (ii)  The Company has made provision, as required under 
the applicable law or accounting standards, for material 
foreseeable losses, if any, and as required on long–term 
contracts including derivative contracts.

 (iii)  There is no amount due to be transferred to the Investor 
Education and Protection Fund by the Company.

                                                          For P. P. Mukerjee& Associates 
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration Number -023276N

Sd/- 
P. P. Mukerjee 

Place : New Delhi  Proprietor 
Date  : 25th May, 2016  Membership Number 089854
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ANNEXURE A 

ANNEXURE TO THE AUDITOR’S REPORT  
OF M/S KWALITY LIMITED FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31ST MARCH 2016

I. In respect of Fixed Assets :

1. a)  The Company has generally maintained proper records 
showing full particulars including quantitative details and 
situation of fixed assets.

1. b The company has a regular programme of physical verification 
of its fixed assets in a phased manner. In accordance with this 
programme, certain fixed assets were verified during the year 
and no material discrepancy was noticed on such verification.

1. c According to the information and explanations given to us and 
on the basis of our examination of the records of the Company, 
all the title deeds are held in the name of the company.

2.  The physical verification of the inventory has been conducted 
at reasonable intervals by the management and no material 
discrepancies were noticed during physical verification. 

3. The Company has not granted any loan to companies, firms, 
Limited Liability Partnerships or other parties covered in the 
register maintained under section 189 of the Companies Act, 
2013 (‘the Act’) .

4. In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the provisions of section 185 and 186 
of the Companies Act, 2013 is not applicable to the Company 
during the year under review.

 5. The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public.

6.  We have broadly reviewed the cost records maintained by 
the company pursuant to the Companies (Cost Accounting 
Records ) Rules , 2011 prescribed by the Central Government 
under Section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013 and are of the 
opinion that prima facie the prescribed cost records have 
been maintained. We have, however, not made a detailed 
examination of the cost records with a view to determine 
whether they are accurate or complete.

7. In respect of Statutory dues :

7 a). According to the records of the Company examined by 
us, the Company has been generally regular in depositing 
with appropriate authorities undisputed statutory dues 
including Provident fund, Employees’ state insurance, 
Income tax, Sales tax, Service tax, Custom duty, Excise 
duty, Value added tax, Cess and other Statutory dues with 
appropriate authorities except an undisputed amount 
of Income Tax liability of `4163.12 Lacs (Previous Year  
`4763.33 Lacs) outstanding as at the last day of the financial 
year for a period exceeding six months from the date it became 
payable. 

7 b). According to the records of the Company examined by us and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, 
there are no dues of income-tax, sales tax, service tax, custom 
duty, excise duty, value added tax which have not been 
deposited on account of any dispute, except as under:-

Nature of Statute Nature of Dues Amount unpaid  
(`In Lacs)

Year to which 
the amount 
relates 

Forum where litigation is pending 

Haryana Livestock 
Development Board, 
Gurgaon

Milk Cess 202.12 (169.09 
deposited against 
371.21 under 
protest)

2002-2016 Supreme Court Of India 

---Do-- Interest on Milk Cess 1970.45 2002-2016 Supreme Court of India 

Punjab VAT Act VAT 22.04 2013-2014 Excise and Taxation Comm.(Appeal)

Kerala VAT Act VAT 1.40 2013-2014 High Court ( Kerala)

UP VAT Act VAT 42.93 2012-2015 Add. Comm. (Appeal) Ghaziabad, UP

Rajasthan VAT Act VAT 34.26 2015-2016 Commercial Taxation Officer (Jaipur)

Haryana VAT Act. VAT 12.00 2015-2016 Asstt. Commissioner (Haryana)
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8. The company has not defaulted in repayment of loans or 
borrowing or other dues to any financial institution, bank, 
Government or debenture holder.  

9. The company has not raised any money by initial public offer, 
further public offer or debt instrument during the year. The 
money raised by term loan has been applied for the purpose it 
has been raised.  

10. According to the information and explanations given to us, 
no fraud by the company or on the company by any officer or 
employee has been noticed or reported during the course of 
our audit. 

11. According to the information and explanations given to us and 
based on our examination of the records of the company, the 
managerial remuneration paid during the year is in accordance 
with the requisite approvals mandated by the provisions of 
section 197 read with Schedule V to the Companies Act, 2013.

12. In our opinion and according to information and explanations 
given to us, the company is not a Nidhi Company. Accordingly, 
paragraph 3(xii) of the order is not applicable.   

13. According to the information and explanations given to us and 
based on our examination of the records, all transactions with 
the related parties are in compliance with sections 177 and 188 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and the relevant details of such 
transactions have been disclosed in the financial statements 
as required by the applicable accounting standards. 

14. During the year under review the Company has made 
preferential allotment of shares in compliance to the 
requirement of section 42 of the Companies Act 2013, and the 
amount so raised have been used for the purpose for which 
the fund were raised.

15. According to the information and explanations given to us and 
based on our examination of the records, the company has not 
entered into any non-cash transaction with directors or any 
person connected with them. Accordingly, paragraph 3(xv) of 
the Order is not applicable.   

  16. The company is not required to be registered under section 
45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934.

         For P. P. Mukerjee& Associates 
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration Number -023276N

Sd/- 
P. P. Mukerjee 

Place : New Delhi  Proprietor 
Date  : 25th May, 2016  Membership Number 089854
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Annexure to the Auditor’s Report 

ANNEXURE B 

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of 
sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the 
Act’)

We have audited the internal financial controls over 
financial reporting of Kwality Limited (“the Company”) as of  
March 31, 2016 in conjunction with our audit of the standalone 
financial statements of the Company for the year ended on  
that date.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR INTERNAL 
FINANCIAL CONTROLS
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal control 
over financial reporting criteria established by the Company 
considering the essential components of internal control stated 
in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over 
Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India (‘ICAI’). These responsibilities include the design, 
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial 
controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly 
and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the 
Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention 
and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness 
of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable 
financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal 
financial controls over financial reporting based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on 
Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting (the 
“Guidance Note”) and the Standards on Auditing, issued by ICAI and 
deemed to be prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Companies 
Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial 
controls, both applicable to an audit of Internal Financial Controls 
and, both issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 
Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial 
controls over financial reporting were established and maintained 
and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the adequacy of the internal financial controls system over 
financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit 
of internal financial controls over financial reporting included 
obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls over 

financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on 
the Company’s internal financial controls system over financial 
reporting.

MEANING OF INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING
A company’s internal financial control over financial reporting is a 
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal financial 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and 
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures 
of the Company are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of the Management and directors of the Company; 
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition 
of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.

INHERENT LIMITATIONS OF INTERNAL FINANCIAL 
CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over 
financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper 
management override of controls, material misstatements due to 
error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections 
of any evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial 
reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal 
financial control over financial reporting may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

OPINION
In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, an 
adequate internal financial controls system over financial reporting 
and such internal financial controls over financial reporting were 
operating effectively as at March 31, 2016, based on the internal 
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control over financial reporting criteria established by the 
Company considering the essential components of internal control 
stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls 
Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India.

         For P. P. Mukerjee& Associates 
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration Number -023276N

Sd/- 
P. P. Mukerjee 

Place : New Delhi  Proprietor 
Date  : 25th May, 2016  Membership Number 089854
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(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
 Note No. As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
A EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
1 Shareholders’ funds

(a) Share capital 2 2,239.12 2,187.30 
(b) Reserves and surplus 3 73,880.03 56,681.61 
(c) Money received against warrants 4 1,250.00 1,875.00 

77,369.15 60,743.91 
2 Non-current liabilities

(a) Long-term borrowings 5 25,271.47 14,545.97 
(b) Long-term provisions 6 183.22 139.06 

25,454.69 14,685.03 
3 Current liabilities

(a) Short-term borrowings 7 1,03,286.19 94,006.68 
(b) Trade payables 8 3,933.59 5,113.86 
(c) Other current liabilities 9 11,359.04 7,043.11 
(d) Short-term provisions 10 4,797.88 3,881.92 

1,23,376.70 1,10,045.56 
TOTAL 2,26,200.53 1,85,474.50 

B ASSETS
1 Non-current assets

(a) Fixed assets
 (i) Tangible assets 11.A 6,388.15 6,068.61 
 (ii) Intangible assets 11.B 138.67 4.08 
 (iii) Capital work-in-progress 11.C 19,498.52 11,836.22 

26,025.34 17,908.91 
(b) Non-current investments 12 1,902.75 1,902.75 
(c) Long-term loans and advances 13 17,896.83 8,801.82 
(d) Other Non Current assets 14 72.58 167.36 
(e) Deferred Tax Assets (Net) 26.2 1,179.65 147.00 

47,077.15 28,927.84 

2 Current assets
(a) Inventories 15 14,260.63 26,457.86 
(b) Trade receivables 16 1,41,918.55 1,15,135.71 
(c) Cash and cash equivalents 17 5,420.68 2,855.09 
(d) Short-term loans and advances 18 17,311.60 12,050.83 
(e) Other current assets 19 211.92 47.16 

1,79,123.39 1,56,546.65 
TOTAL 2,26,200.53 1,85,474.50 
Notes forming part of the financial statements 1-26

In terms of our report attached.       

For P.P. Mukerjee & Associates  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors  
Chartered Accountants                Sd/-               Sd/- 
Firm’s Registration No.023276N  (Sanjay Dhingra)  (Sidhant Gupta) 
                Sd/- Managing Director   Director   
CA P.P. Mukerjee DIN:- 00025376  DIN:- 00555513 
Membership No.:089854                Sd/-               Sd/- 
Proprietor (CA Sunit Shangle)  (Pradeep K. Srivastava) 
 Chief Finance Officer  Company Secretary 
Place  :  New Delhi M.No:- 087626  M.No.:- FCS6763 
Date   :  25-05-2016

Balance Sheet 
as at  31 March, 2016
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(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
Note No. For the year 

ended 
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015

1 Revenue from operations 20 5,72,422.91 5,26,917.10 
2 Other income 21 2,940.93 1,139.63 

3 Total revenue (1+2) 5,75,363.84 5,28,056.73 

4 Expenses
(a)   Cost of materials consumed 22.a 3,72,393.27 3,81,437.10 
(b)  Purchases of stock-in-trade 22.b 1,31,527.72 1,07,491.98 
(c)   Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and stock-in-trade 22.c 12,542.40 (9,689.79)
(d)  Employee benefits expense 23 3,268.40 2,348.63 
(e)  Finance costs 24 14,727.81 13,413.55 
(f )   Depreciation and amortisation expense 11 2,283.48 2,496.23 
(g)  Other expenses 25 17,785.17 13,512.38 

Total expenses 5,54,528.25 5,11,010.08 

5 Profit / (Loss) before tax  (3 - 4) 20,835.59 17,046.65 

6 Extraordinary / Exceptional Items                                -   -   

7 Profit / (Loss) Before Tax (5-6) 20,835.59 17,046.65

8 Tax expense:
(a)   Tax expense for current year 7,440.26 3,574.05 
(b)  (Less): MAT credit related to current year                                -   (569.02)
(c)   Net current tax expense 7,440.26 3,005.03 
(d)   Tax expense relating to prior years 3.20 16.05 
(e)   Deferred tax (1,032.65) (67.73)
Total Tax Expenses 6,410.80 2,953.35 

9 Profit / (Loss) from operations (7 -8) 14,424.79 14,093.30 

10 Earnings per share (of `1/- each):
(a)  Basic 6.59 6.84 
(b)  Diluted 6.43 6.79 

Notes forming part of the financial statements 1-26

In terms of our report attached.       

For P.P. Mukerjee & Associates  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors  
Chartered Accountants                Sd/-               Sd/- 
Firm’s Registration No.023276N  (Sanjay Dhingra)  (Sidhant Gupta) 
                Sd/- Managing Director   Director   
CA P.P. Mukerjee DIN:- 00025376  DIN:- 00555513 
Membership No.:089854                Sd/-               Sd/- 
Proprietor (CA Sunit Shangle)  (Pradeep K. Srivastava) 
 Chief Finance Officer  Company Secretary 
Place  :  New Delhi M.No:- 087626  M.No.:- FCS6763 
Date   :  25-05-2016

Statement of Profit and Loss 
for the year ended 31 March, 2016
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(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year ended 

31 March, 2016
For the year ended 

31 March, 2015

A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Profit / (Loss) before extraordinary items and tax       20,835.59     17,046.65 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation        2,283.48        2,496.23 

Amortisation of Expenses                 -   4.95

Employee Stock Option Reserve          607.42                  -   

Loss on sale on assets              8.26             (2.20)

(Profit) on sale on assets             (2.57)                  -   

Finance costs      14,727.81      13,413.55 

Interest income         (222.36)            (59.57)

Liability no longer payable           (14.53)          (113.59)

Fixed Assets Discard                 -             342.55 

Bad Debts & Other Balances W/off                 -             304.51 

Unrealised Exchange Fluctuation         (471.22)          (134.59)

Security Forfeited                 -            (176.50)

Other non-cash charges            39.11       16,955.40             10.70     16,086.04 

Operating profit / (loss) before working capital changes       37,790.99     33,132.69 

Changes in working capital:

Adjustments for (increase) / decrease in operating assets Liabilities:

Inventories      12,197.22       (9,709.88)

Trade receivables     (26,311.59)        4,697.79 

Short-term loans and advances       (5,260.77)       (9,009.15)

Other Current Assets         (164.76)           146.93 
Bank balances not considered as Cash and cash equivalents as defined in 
AS 3 Cash Flow Statements

        (942.64)          (519.61)

Long term Loans and Advances              0.21             21.00 

Long-term provision            44.15             64.07 

Trade payables       (1,165.76)           187.33 

Other current liabilities         (632.37)      (22,236.30)           244.10    (13,877.43)

Cash Generated from Operations       15,554.69     19,255.26 

Cash flow from extra ordinary Items                  -                   -   

Net income tax (paid) / refunds       (2,579.43)            (7.06)

Net cash flow from / (used in) operating activities (A)       12,975.27     19,248.20 

B. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditure on fixed assets, including capital advances     (22,514.29)     (15,172.28)

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets            19.86             10.30 

Purchase of long-term investments- Subsidiaries                 -         (1,276.19)

Interest received          222.36             59.57 

Cash Flow Statement  
for the year ended 31 March, 2016
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PARTICULARS
For the year ended 

31 March, 2016
For the year ended 

31 March, 2015

Net cash flow from / (used in) investing activities (B) (22,272.07) (16,378.59)

C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from long-term borrowings      16,167.46      13,572.49 

Repayment of long-term borrowings       (1,628.76)       (9,356.72)

Proceeds from Issue of Equity Shares/ Warrants        1,875.00        9,375.00 

Net increase / (decrease) in working capital borrowings        9,279.51       (1,671.88)

Finance cost     (14,604.98)     (13,395.05)

Dividends paid         (218.73)          (203.19)

Tax on dividend           (44.53)            (34.53)

Net cash flow from / (used in) financing activities (C)       10,824.97      (1,713.88)

Net increase / (decrease) in Cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)        1,528.17       1,155.73 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year        1,802.82          647.08 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year        3,330.99       1,802.81 

Reconciliation of Cash & cash equivalents with the Balance Sheet:

Cash and cash equivalents as per Balance Sheet (Refer Note 17)        5,493.26        3,022.45 
Less: Bank balances not considered as Cash and cash equivalents as 
defined in AS 3 Cash Flow Statements       (2,162.27)       (1,219.63)

Net Cash and cash equivalents (as defined in AS 3 CFS)        3,330.99       1,802.82 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year *        3,330.99       1,802.82 

* Comprises:

(a) Cash on hand          169.55             68.65 

(b) Balances with banks ( In Current Accounts)        3,161.43        3,330.99        1,734.17       1,802.82 

Notes forming part of the financial statements (1-26)

In terms of our report attached.       

For P.P. Mukerjee & Associates  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors  
Chartered Accountants                Sd/-               Sd/- 
Firm’s Registration No.023276N  (Sanjay Dhingra)  (Sidhant Gupta) 
                Sd/- Managing Director   Director   
CA P.P. Mukerjee DIN:- 00025376  DIN:- 00555513 
Membership No.:089854                Sd/-               Sd/- 
Proprietor (CA Sunit Shangle)  (Pradeep K. Srivastava) 
 Chief Finance Officer  Company Secretary 
Place  :  New Delhi M.No:- 087626  M.No.:- FCS6763 
Date   :  25-05-2016

(` In Lacs)
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1(i) General Information
 Kwality Limited (“The Company”) was incorporated on  

21st August 1992. The Company is engaged in manufacture/
processing and sale of milk, milk products and dairy 
products. The Company is listed both on Bombay Stock 
Exchange and National Stock Exchange. The Company is 
having manufacturing facility at Uttar Pradesh, Haryana and 
Rajasthan. The Company operates both in domestic and 
international markets.

1(ii) Significant Accounting Policies
(a)  Basis of Preparation of Accounts
 These financial statements are prepared in accordance with 

Indian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) under 
the historical cost convention on the accrual basis and comply 
with mandatory accounting standards as prescribed under 
Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘Act’) read with Rule 7 
of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014, the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2013 (to the extent notified) and guidelines 
issued by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) 
and as adopted consistently by the Company except where 
a newly issued accounting standard is initially adopted or a 
revision to an existing accounting standard requires a change 
in the accounting policy hitherto in use.

 All Assets and Liabilities have been classified as current or 
non-current as per the Company’s normal operating cycle 
and other criteria set out in Schedule III as per Companies Act 
2013. Based on the nature of products and the time between 
the acquisition of the same of processing and their realization 
in cash or cash equivalents, the Company has ascertained its 
operating cycle as twelve months for the purpose of current 
and non-current classification of its assets and liabilities. 

(b) Use of Estimates
 The preparation of financial statements are in conformity with 

generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities as at the date of the financial 
statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Accounting estimates could 
change from period to period. Actual results could differ from 
these estimates. Differences between the actual results and 
estimates are recognised in the financial statements in the year 
which results are known/ materialised. If material, their effects 
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Any 
revision to accounting estimates is recognized prospectively 
in the current and future periods.

(c)  Revenue recognition
 Sale of Goods
 Sale is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of 

ownership of the goods have passed to the customer. Sales are 
recorded net of sales returns, sales tax, rebates, trade discounts 
and price differences.

 Income from Services
 Revenue from milk processing and other services, if any, 

are recognized as and when services are rendered and are 
accounted on an accrual basis.

 Interest Income
 Interest income is recognized on time proportion basis taken 

into account the amount outstanding and the rate applicable.

 Exports Benefits
 Exports benefits are recognized on accrual basis in the 

statement of profit and loss when the reasonable right to 
receive the same is established.

(d)  Fixed Assets
 Tangible Assets
 Tangible Assets are stated at acquisition cost, net of 

accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any. Cost includes freight, duties, taxes, other expenses 
incidental to acquisition and installation and also includes 
financing cost relating to borrowed funds attributable to the 
construction or acquisition of qualifying fixed assets upto the 
date the assets are ready for use. Where the acquisition of 
fixed assets are financed through long term foreign currency 
loans (having a term of 12 months or more at the time of their 
origination) the exchange differences on such loans are added 
to or subtracted from the cost of such fixed assets.

 Subsequent expenditures related to an item of fixed asset 
are added to its book value only if they increase the future 
benefits from the existing asset beyond its previously assessed 
standard of performance.

 Losses arising from the impairment and gains or losses arising 
from disposal of fixed assets are recognized in the Statement 
of Profit and Loss.

 Intangible Assets
 Acquired computer software are capitalized at cost of 

acquisition (Including License fees paid), net of accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment losses if any and 
are disclosed as intangible assets.
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 Other intangible assets are shown at cost of acquisition net of 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment loss 
if any.

(e)  Depreciation:
 Depreciation on Fixed Assets is provided to the extent of 

depreciable amount on the Written down value (WDV). 
Pursuant to the requirement of the Companies Act 2013 (The 
Act), The company has revised the depreciation rates based 
on useful life of the assets as prescribed in Schedule II of the 
Companies Act, 2013 except in respect of the following assets 
where based on the internal technical assessment of the 
estimated economic useful lives of the fixed assets, the useful 
life is different than those prescribed in Schedule II are used:

S.no Head of Assets Particulars  Useful Life
1 Plant & Machinery Storing & Handling 

Units
2 Years

2 Plant & Machinery AMCU 3 Years

 Intangible asset are amortised on Written Down Value over 
the useful life of the asset up to a maximum of five years 
commencing from the month when the asset is first put  
to use.

 The Company provides pro-rata depreciation from the day 
the asset is put to use and for any asset sold, till the date  
of sale.

(f)  Employee Benefits
 Short Term Employee Benefits:
 Short term employee benefits such as salaries, wages, bonus 

etc. are recognized as an expense at the undiscounted amount 
in the profit and loss account for the year in which employee 
renders the related service.

 Post-Employment Benefits
 Defined Contribution Plans:
 Company’s contribution to Employees Provident Fund 

Scheme, Employees State Insurance Contribution Scheme and 
Staff welfare fund are charged to the revenue of the year when 
the contribution to the respective fund is due

 Defined benefit plans:
 The Company’s gratuity scheme is a defined benefit plan. 

The present value of the obligation under such defined plan 
is determined based on actuarial valuation carried out at 
the end of the year by an independent actuary, using the 
Projected Unit Credit Method, which recognizes each period 
of service as giving rise to additional unit of employee benefit 
entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up 

the final obligation. The obligation is measured at the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows. Actuarial gains and 
losses arising on such valuation are recognized immediately in 
the Statement of Profit and Loss.

 Other Defined Plans:
 Benefits under the Company’s leave encashment constitute 

other long-term employee benefits. The liability in respect of 
vacation pay is provided on the basis of an actuarial valuation 
done by an independent actuary at the year end. Actuarial 
gains and losses are recognized immediately in the Statement 
of Profit and Loss. Termination Benefits are recognized as an 
expense in the year in which they are incurred.

 Employee Stock Option Plan (ESOP):
 The Employee Stock Option Plan (“The Scheme”) provides for 

grant of equity shares of the Company to the employees of 
the Company and its subsidiaries. The Scheme provides that 
employees are granted an option to acquire the equity shares 
of the Company that vests in a graded manner or as decided 
by Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee. 
The options may be exercised within a specified period. The 
Company follows the intrinsic value method to account for its 
stock based employee compensation plans. Compensation 
cost is measured as the excess, if any, of the fair market price of 
the underlying stock over the exercise price on the grant date 
and is amortised over the vesting period of the option on a 
straight line basis.

 The fair market price is the latest closing price on the date 
of the Board/ Committee meeting in which the options are 
granted, on the stock exchange on which the shares of the 
Company are listed. If the shares are listed on more than 
one stock exchange, than the stock exchange where there is 
highest trading volume on the said date is considered.

(g)   Inventories
 Raw Material, components, stores and spares are valued at 

lower of cost and net realisable value.

 Workin-progress and finished goods are valued at lower of 
cost and net realisable value. Cost includes direct materials, 
labour and related production overheads in the ordinary 
course of business. Net realizable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated cost of 
completion and estimated cost necessary to make the sale.

(h)  Investments
 Investments if any which are readily realizable and intended 

to be held for not more than a year from the date on which 
the investment is made are classified as current investment. All 
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other investments are classified as long term investment.

 Current investments are stated at lower of cost or fair value. 
Long-term investments are stated at cost however provision 
for diminution in their value is made to recognize a decline, 
other than temporary value of the investment.

 Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 
if any are held for long term and valued at cost reduced by 
diminution of permanent nature therein, if any. No profit and 
losses of the subsidiaries are accounted for.

(i)  Provision for Current and Deferred Tax
 Income Tax expenses comprise current tax and deferred tax 

charge or credit. Current tax provision is made based on the 
tax liability computed after considering tax allowances and 
exemptions under the Income tax Act, 1961. The deferred tax 
charge or credit resulting from the timing difference between 
taxable and accounting income and the corresponding 
deferred tax liability and assets are recognized using the tax 
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted on the 
balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognized and 
carried forward only to the extent that there is a reasonable 
certainty that sufficient future taxable income will be available 
against which such deferred tax assets can be realized.

 Minimum Alternative tax credit is recognized as an asset only 
when and to the extent there is convincing evidence that The 
Company will pay normal income tax during the specified 
period. Such asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
the carrying amount of the MAT credit asset is written down 
to the extent there is no longer a convincing evidence to the 
effect that The Company will pay normal income tax during 
the specified period.

(j)  Impairment of Assets
 The carrying amounts of The Company’s assets are reviewed 

at each balance sheet date in accordance with Accounting 
Standard 28 ‘Impairment of Assets’ to determine whether 
there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 
such indication exists, the Company estimates the recoverable 
amount of the asset. If such recoverable amount of the asset 
or the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to 
which the asset belongs is less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount 
and the reduction is treated as an impairment loss and is 
recognized in the statement of profit and loss. Where there is 
any indication that an impairment loss recognized for an asset 
in prior accounting periods may no longer exist or may have 
decreased, the Company books a reversal of the impairment 

loss not exceeding the carrying amount that would have 
been determined (net of amortization or depreciation) had 
no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior 
accounting periods.

(k)  Foreign Exchange Transactions
 Initial Recognition
 On initial recognition, all foreign currency transactions are 

recorded by applying to the foreign currency amount the 
exchange rate between the reporting currency and the foreign 
currency at the date of the transaction.

 Subsequent Recognition
 All monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency are 

restated using the exchange rate prevailing at reporting date. 
As at the reporting date, nonmonetary items which are carried 
in terms of historical cost denominated in a foreign currency 
are reported using the exchange rate at date of the transaction.

 Exchange Differences
 The Company has opted to avail the choice provided under 

paragraph 46A of AS-11 “The Effect of Changes in Foreign 
Exchange Rates” inserted vide Notification dated December 
29, 2011. Consequently, Exchange differences arising on long-
term foreign currency monetary items related to acquisition of 
depreciable capital asset added to or deducted from the cost of 
the asset and depreciated over the remaining useful life of the 
asset. For this purpose, the company treats a foreign monetary 
item as “long-term foreign currency monetary item”, if it has a 
term of 12 months or more at the date of its origination.

 All other exchange differences are recognized as income or 
expenses in the period in which they arise.

(l)  Government Grants
 Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable 

assurance that the company will comply with the conditions 
attached to them and the grants will be received. Government 
grants whose primary condition is that the company should 
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire capital assets are 
presented by deducting them from the carrying value of the 
assets.  The grant is recognized as income over the life of a 
depreciable asset by way of a reduced depreciation charge. 
Other government grants are recognized as income over the 
periods necessary to match them with the costs for which are 
intended to compensate on a systematic basis.

(m)  Borrowing Costs
 Borrowing Costs that are attributable to the acquisition, 

construction of qualifying assets till the time such assets are 
ready for the intended use, are capitalized as part of the cost 
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of such assets. A qualifying asset is one that necessarily takes 
substantial period of time to get ready for the intended use. All 
other borrowing costs are charged to revenue in the period in 
which these are incurred.

(n)  Business Segments
 The Company is engaged mainly in processing, manufacturing 

and trading of milk, milk products & dairy products. These, in 
the context of Accounting Standard 17 on Segment reporting, 
as specified in the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules 
2006, are considered to constitute one single primary segment. 
Hence Segment reporting is not required.

(o)  Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
 Provisions: Provisions are recognized when there is a present 

obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and there is a reliable estimate 
of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the Balance sheet date and are not discounted to 
its present value.

 Contingent Liabilities: Contingent liabilities are disclosed 
when there is a possible obligation arising from past events, the 
existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence 
or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future events 
not wholly within the control of the company or a present 
obligation that arises from past events where it is either not 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 
or a reliable estimate of the amount cannot be made, is termed 
as a contingent liability. 

 Contingent Assets: Contingent assets are neither recognized 
nor disclosed.

(p)  Leases
(i)  Finance Lease
 Assets acquired under finance lease are recognized at lower 

of the fair value of the leased assets at inceptions and the 
present value of minimum lease payment. Lease payment is 
apportioned between the finance charge and the outstanding 
liability. The finance charge is allocated to periods during 
the lease term at a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability.

(ii)  Operating Lease
 Leases other than finance lease are operating and leased assets 

are not recognized in the company Balance sheet. Payment 
under operating leases is recognized in the Statement of Profit 
and Loss on a straight line over the lease term.

(q)  Earnings per share
 Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net 

profit or loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders 
by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding 
during the year.

 For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, 
the net profit or loss for the year attributable to equity 
shareholders and the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding during the year are adjusted for the effects of all 
dilutive potential equity shares, except where results would be 
anti-dilutive.

(r)  Cash and Cash Equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, bank balances 

in current and short term highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to cash with original maturities of three 
months or less at the time of purchase.
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NOTE 2 SHARE CAPITAL 
(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(a) Authorised

 100,00,00,000  Equity Shares of  `1/- each

 (previous year 100,00,00,000 Equity Share of `1/- each)  10,000.00  10,000.00 

 10,000.00  10,000.00 

(b) Issued ,Subscribed and fully paid up  2,239.12  2,187.30 

 22,39,11,822  Equity Shares of  `1/- each fully paid-up

(previous year 21,87,30,475  Equity Shares of  `1/- each fully paid-up)

Total  2,239.12  2,187.30 

Refer Notes (i) to (v) below

(i)  Reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding and amount of share capital:

         PARTICULARS As at 31 March, 2016 As at 31 March, 2015
No. of Shares ` In Lacs No. of Shares ` In Lacs

Equity Shares at the beginning of the year  2187,30,475  2,187.30  2031,86,434  2,031.86 
Add: Shares issued during the year on conversion of 
Warrants (Refer note no 4)

 51,81,347  51.82  155,44,041  155.44 

Equity Shares at the end of the year  2239,11,822  2,239.12  2187,30,475  2,187.30 

(ii)  Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to the equity shares :    
 -  The Company has only one class of equity shares having a par value of `1/-per share. Each shareholder is eligible for one vote per 

share held.    

 -  The Company declares and pays dividend in Indian rupees. The dividend  proposed  by  the  Board  of  Directors  is  subject  to  
approval  of  the  shareholders in ensuing Annual General Meeting.    

 - The dividend distributable to the shareholders for the year ended on 31st March 2016, at the rate of `0.10 per equity share 
(previous year ̀  0.10) has been recoginised on 23,42,74,516 nos. of equity shares existing on the date of board meeting (including 
1,03,62,694 nos. of equity shares alloted on conversion of warrants on 09 April 2016).”  

 -  In the event of liquidation of the company, the equity share holders will be entitled to receive  remaining assets of the Company, 
after distribution of all preferential amounts, in proportion of their shareholding.   

(iii)  Details of shares held by each shareholder holding more than 5% of the aggregate shares in the Company: 

         Class of shares / Name of shareholder 
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Number of 

shares held
% holding of 

shares 
Number of 

shares held
% holding of 

shares 
Equity shares of ` 1 fully paid-up

Mr Sanjay Dhingra  1521,54,714  67.95  1521,54,714  69.56 

M/s Pashupati Dairies Pvt. Limited  155,44,041  6.94  155,44,041  7.11 

(iv)  Aggregate number and class of shares allotted as fully paid up pursuant to contract(s) without payment being received in 
cash, by way of bonus shares and shares bought back for the period of 5 years immediately preceding the Balance Sheet 
date:    

 (a) The Company has not issued any shares pursuant to contract(s) without payment being received in cash.  
 (b) The Bonus issue is made by capitalisation of profit. However no bonus issues have been done in preceding 5 years 
 (c) The Company has not undertaken any buy back of shares.  
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(v)  Shares reserved for issue under options and contracts/ commitments for sale/ disinvestment 
 There are no shares reserved for issue under contracts/ commitments for sale/ disinvestment. However the Company has reserved 

issuance of 1,00,00,000 (Previous Year Nil) Equity Shares of `1 each for offering to the eligible employees of the Company and its 
subsidiaries under Employees Stock Option Plan 2014 (ESOP 2014). During the year the Company has granted 19,87,000 (Previous Year 
Nil) Options at a price of `38 per option plus all applicable taxes. The options would vest over a period of 1 years. The other disclosure 
in respect of the ESOP Scheme are as under:”    

Total Option under the Scheme 1,00,00,000

Option issued 19,87,000

Vesting Period 1 year

Vesting Date For 19,37,000 Options July 23, 2016 and for 50,000 
Options October 8, 2016

Exercise Price `38

Outstanding at the beginning of the year Nil

Option Vested during the year Nil

Exercised during the year Nil

Expired during the year Nil

Cancelled during the year Nil

Re-granted during the year Nil

Outstanding at the end of the year 19,87,000

Exercisable at the end of the year Nil

Remaining contractual life (Weighted Months) 4.05

NOTE 3 RESERVES AND SURPLUS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(a) Share premium account

Balance as at the beginning of the year  7,344.56  -   

Add: Addition during the year  2,448.19  7,344.56 

Closing balance  9,792.75  7,344.56 

(b) Employee Stock option Reserve

Balance as at the beginning of the year  -    -   

Add: Addition during the year  607.42  -   

Closing balance  607.42  -   

(c) Surplus / (Deficit) in Statement of Profit and Loss 

Balance as at the beginning of the year  49,337.05  37,777.33 

Add: Profit for the year  14,424.79  14,093.30 

 63,761.83  51,870.63 

Less: Adjustment on Account of Fixed Assets (Refer note no. 11)  -    2,270.32 

Less: Appropriations:

     Proposed Dividends on equity share (INR 0.10 per share)  234.27  218.73 

     Dividend distribution tax  47.69  44.53 

Closing balance  63,479.87  49,337.05 

Total (a+b+c)  73,880.03  56,681.61 
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NOTE 4 MONEY RECEIVED AGAINST WARRANTS

Particulars
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
No. of  Convertible 

Warrants Allotted ` In Lacs No. of  Convertible 
Warrants Allotted ` In Lacs

Convertible Warrants at the beginning of the year 155,44,041 1,875.00  -    -   

Amount Received against Warrants  -   1,875.00  -    -   

Convertible Warrants Issued during the year  -    -    310,88,082 9,375.00
Less: Convertible Warrants converted into Equity 
Shares during the year 51,81,347 2,500.00  155,44,041 7,500.00

Convertible Warrants at the end of the year 103,62,694 1,250.00 155,44,041 1,875.00

Money received against Convertible Warrants represents amount received towards Convertible Warrants which entitles the warrant holder, 
the option to apply for and be allotted equivalent number of equity shares of the face value of `1 each. The Company on preferential basis 
has allotted the following Convertible Warrants at issue price of ` 48.25 in accordance with the provisions of SEBI (Issue of Capital and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2009 (SEBI ICDR Regulations 2009) in 2014-15   

Name of Allotee

No. of  
Convertible 
Warrants 
Allotted

Consideration            
( ` In Lacs)

Amount 
Received as 
% of Issue 
Price

Date of Allotment of 
Warrants

Convertible Warrants outstanding at end of year
1.  Mr Sidhant Gupta 51,81,347 625.00 25% November 3, 2014
2.  M/s Sidhaant & Sons (HUF) 51,81,347 625.00 25% November 8, 2014
Total 103,62,694 1250.00
Convertible Warrants converted during the year
3. Mrs Sonika Gupta 51,81,347 2500.00 100% November 8, 2014
Total 51,81,347 2500.00

The allotees at Sr. no. 1 to 2 above are entitled to apply for and be allotted one equity share for each Warrant held by them on 
payment of balance 75% of the issue price within 18 months from the date of allotment of Convertible Warrants. The allottee at  
Sr. no. 3 exercised its right to convert the Convertible Warrants into equity shares after paying the balance amount and accordingly 
51,81,347 equity shares were issued to Mrs Sonika Gupta for an aggregate consideration of  ` 2500.00 lacs. 

Utilisation of proceed of Convertible Warrants issued: The amount of ` 1,875 lacs received against Convertible Warrants has been utilised 
towards capital expenditure requirement. 

NOTE 5 LONG-TERM BORROWINGS   

(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Non Current Current Non Current Current

(1) Secured

(a) Vehicle loans from Banks ( Refer note 1)  197.23  126.41  108.98  95.47 

(b) Vehicle loans from Other Parties ( Refer note -2)  26.37  14.07  40.44  12.75 

(c) External Commercial Borrowings (ECB) ( Refer note -3)  5,969.96  -    -    -   

 6,193.56  140.48  149.42  108.22 
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(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Non Current Current Non Current Current

(2) Unsecured

(a) Term loans From Bank ( Refer Note-4 )  3,432.28  851.04  1,333.33  666.67 

(b) Term loans From Other Parties ( Refer Note-5 )  15,645.63  4,052.44  13,063.21  455.88 

 19,077.91  4,903.48  14,396.55  1,122.55 

Total (1+2)  25,271.47  5,043.96  14,545.97  1,230.76 

Notes:     
1)  Vehicle loans  taken from various banks are secured by hypothecation of Vehicles. Rate of Interest varies between 10.25% to 12.75%. 

Period of maturity for loans varies between 3 year to 5 year and number of repayment installments is ranging between 36 to 60 
months. The repayment obligation in future of above loans is as under:-     

     Particulars  2016-17  2017-18  2018-19  Beyond 2018-19 
( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs)

a)  Vehicle Loans from Banks  126.41  74.60  56.50  66.13 
 126.41  74.60  56.50  66.13 

2) Vehicle loans from others are secured by hypothecation of Vehicles. Rate of Interest varies between 10.25% to12.75%. Period of 
maturity for loans varies between 3 year to 5 year and number of repayment installments is ranging between 36 to 60 months. The 
repayment obligation in future of above loans is as under:-     

     Particulars  2016-17  2017-18  2018-19 
( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs)  ( ` In Lacs) 

a) Vehicle loans from Others                14.07          13.95             12.42 
               14.07          13.95             12.42 

3)   External commercial Borrowings (ECB) taken from Union Bank of India (U.K) Limited amounting to USD 9 million (₹ 5969.96 lacs). 
The loan is secured by way entire project assets of the Company and personal guarantee of Mr Sanjay Dhingra Managing Director 
of the Company. It is further collaterally secured by way of first pari passu charge on existing land 3.195 acres at Palwal on which the 
proposed project is located and additional 1.88 acres adjacent to the existing unit at Palwal (Haryana). Till the creation of the charge, 
the Company has provided additional security in form of pledge of shares of Kwality Limited in the name of  Mr Sanjay Dhingra to the 
extent that market value of the Equity shares will be USD 4.5 millions. Present rate of Interest on loan is 3 months LIBOR plus 450 bps. 
The repayment obligation in future of above loans is as under:-   

     Particulars  2016-17  2017-18  2018-19  Beyond 2018-19 
( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs)

a)  Union Bank of India (U.K) Limited  -  795.99  795.99  4,377.97 
Total Term Loans from Banks  -  795.99  795.99  4,377.97 

4 a)  Term Loan from Bank includes loan taken from IDBI Bank Limited. The loan is secured by way of exclusive charge on Immovable 
property held in the name of director & other party situated at Golden Park, Rampura Road, Basai Darapur, New Delhi and the land / 
properties held in the name of JTPL Townships Pvt Ltd situated at JTPL City, Sector-115  Mohali (Punjab). The loan is further secured 
by personal / Corporate guarantee of Mr.Sanjay Dhingra, Managing Director of Company and property owners. Present rate of Interest 
on loan is 11.5%.         

4 b)  Term Loan from Bank includes loan taken from Karur Vysya Bank Limited. The loan is secured by way of fresh Equitable Mortgage on 
land/ properties in the name of JTPL Townships Pvt Ltd situated at JTP City, Sector-115  Mohali (Punjab). The loan is further secured by 
personal / Corporate guarantee of Mr.Sanjay Dhingra, Managing Director of Company and property owners. Present rate of Interest on 
loan is 12%.     
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 The repayment obligation in future of above loans is as under:-

     Particulars  2016-17  2017-18  2018-19  Beyond 2018-19 
( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs)

a)  IDBI Bank Limited  666.67  666.67  -  - 
b) Karur Vysya Bank Limited  184.38  737.50  737.50  1,290.62 

Total Long Term Loans from Banks  851.04  1,404.17  737.50  1,290.62 

5)   Term Loans from Other party are from IFCI Ltd  ` 10000.00 lacs (previous year ` 10000.00 lacs), from DMI Finance Pvt Limited  
` 3080.00 lacs (previous year ` 3500.00 lacs), from Aditya Birla Finance Limited ` 3500.00 lacs (previous year ` Nil) and Hero Fincorp 
Limited  ` 3500.00 lacs (previous year ` Nil).     

5 a)  Loan from IFCI Limited is secured by way of Exclusive mortgage on the immovable property  in the name of JTPL Townships Pvt 
Limited. situated at JTPL City, Sector-115  Mohali (Punjab)  and pledge of shares of Kwality Limited in the name of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra 
and further secured by personal guarantee of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra, Managing Director of Company and Corporate Guarantee of JTPL 
Townships Pvt Limited. The present rate of Interest on loan is 13.25%.    

5 b)   Loan from DMI Finance Pvt Limited is secured by way of pledge of equity shares of Kwality Limited in the name of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra.  
Also the loan is secured by personal guarantee of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra, Managing Director of Company. Rate of interest on loan is 
14.60%.     

5 c)  Loan from Aditya Birla Finance Limited  was secured by way of equitable mortgage on land/ property in the name of JTPL Townships 
Pvt Limited. situated in Mohali (Punjab), and further secured by personal guarantee of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra, Managing Director of 
company and corporate guarantee of JTPL Townships Pvt Limited. The rate of Interest on loan is ranging from 12.50% to 12.75%. 

5 d)  Loan from Hero Fincorp Limited was secured by way of pledge of shares of Kwality Limited held in the name of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra. 
Loan was further secured by exclusive charge over residential/commercial plots situated in Chandigarh and  personal guarantee of Mr. 
Sanjay Dhingra, Managing Director of Company and corporate guarantee of JTPL Townships Pvt Limited. Rate of interest on loan was 
12.75%.  

The repayment obligation in future of above loans is as under:-

Particulars  2016-17  2017-18  2018-19  Beyond 2018-19 
( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs)

a) IFCI Limited           2,500.00     2,500.00        2,500.00               2,500.00 
b) DMI Finance Pvt Ltd              661.49        764.80           764.80                  872.13 
c) Aditya Birla Finance Limited              333.33        333.33           333.33               2,305.56 
d) Hero Fincorp Limited              557.62        633.02           718.62               1,420.05 
Total Long Term Loans from Others           4,052.44     4,231.15        4,316.75               7,097.73 

NOTE 6 LONG-TERM PROVISIONS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(a) Provision for Employee benefits: 

(i) Provision for compensated absences (net)  69.84  48.25 

(ii) Provision for gratuity (net) (Refer Note 26.9)  113.38  90.81 

Total  183.22  139.06 
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NOTE 7 SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(1) Secured

(a) Loans From Banks  

i)     Cash Credit Facilities (refer note 1 below)  1,00,545.26  87,419.35 

ii)    LC/ VBD Due to Banks (refer note 1 below)  2,651.11  6,587.33 

iii)   Buyers Credit (refer note no 1(h) below)  89.82  -   

Total  1,03,286.19  94,006.68 

Note.-1  
Loans from Bank towards working capital are secured by way of :-  

a)   First pari passu charge on the entire current assets of the company.  

b)  1st  paripassu charge on entire movable and immovable fixed assets including equitable mortgage of factory land and building of the  
company situated at village Softa ,Palwal ( Haryana) and at Village Mumrejpur, Tehsil Dibai, District- Bulandsahar (U.P). 

c)  1st paripassu charge on entire fixed assets of M/s Pashupati Dairies Pvt. Limited. including Equitable mortgage of Land and  Building 
situated at village Kumarhera, Saharanpur (UP).   

d)  Corporate guarantee of M/s Pashupati Dairies Pvt Limited.  

e)  Negative lien for non disposal/ non transfer of 51 % of equity share held by Mr. Sanjay Dhingra.   

f )  Personal guarantee of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra, Managing Director of Company .   

g)  10% Cash margin for LC  in the form of Fixed Deposits.   

h)  The outstanding Buyers credit facility amounting to USD 1,35,402.25 is against 100% margin from Corporation Bank  

NOTE 8 TRADE PAYABLES (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Trade payables

-   For Goods  3,026.18  4,547.32 

-   For Services  907.40  566.54 

Total  3,933.59  5,113.86 
  

NOTE 9 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(a) Current maturities of long-term debts (Refer Note 5 above)  5,043.96  1,230.76 

(b) Interest accrued and due on borrowings  101.69  76.05 

(c) Interest accrued but not due on borrowings  149.93  52.74 

(d) Unclaimed dividends*  34.56 34.77

(e) Other payables 

(i)      Statutory payments  4,292.62  3,240.77 

(ii)     Contractually reimbursement expenses to Employee  281.15  209.29 

(iii)    Payables for capital goods  349.98  1,432.09 

(iv)    Trade / security deposits received  499.31  441.85 

(v)     Advances from customers  468.69  221.36 
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(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(vi)    Expenses Payable  137.14  103.42 

Total  11,359.04  7,043.11 

*There are no amounts due for payment to The Investor Education and Protection Fund under Section 205C of the Company Act,1956 as at 
the year end.  

NOTE 10 SHORT-TERM PROVISIONS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(a) Provision for employee benefits: 

(i) Provision for bonus  70.85  39.07 

(ii) Provision for compensated absences (net) (Refer Note 26.9)  12.13  6.98 

(iii) Provision for gratuity (net) (Refer Note 26.9)  6.88  4.69 

 89.85  50.75 

(b) Provision - Others:

(i) Provision for Income tax *  4,426.06  3,567.27 

(ii) Provision for proposed equity dividend  234.27  218.73 

(iii) Provision for tax on proposed dividends  47.69  44.53 

(iv) Provision for Wealth Tax  -    0.64 

 4,708.03  3,831.17 

Total  4,797.88  3,881.92 

* Net of TDS ` 20.59 lacs (previous year ` 6.09 lacs) and MAT credit of ` 2993.61 lacs ( previous year ` Nil)
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NOTE 12 NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Investments (At cost):

A Trade

Unquoted

(a) Investment in equity instruments 

(i) of Wholly Owned subsidiary  1,902.75 1,902.75
12 Share (previous year 12 Share) of AED1 Million each fully paid up in  
Kwality Dairy Products FZE, Dubai

 1,902.75  1,902.75 

Total - Trade (A)  1,902.75 1,902.75

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments  1,902.75  1,902.75 

NOTE 13 LONG-TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(a) Unsecured considered good

(a) Capital advances  16,435.33  4,346.50 

(b) Security deposits  50.69  50.91 

(c) Mat Credit entitlement  1,410.81 4,404.41

Total  17,896.83  8,801.82 

NOTE 14 OTHER NON CURRENT ASSETS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Considered good

(a) Balance with Banks ( Refer note below 1)  72.58 167.36

Total 72.58 167.36

(1)  Represent bank deposits not due for realisations within 12 month of balance sheet date. Further refer note no. 17.

NOTE 15 INVENTORIES (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(a) Raw materials  133.08  124.04 

(b) Work-in-progress ( Refer Note below)  2,809.32  3,170.03 

(c) Finished goods (other than those acquired for trading)  10,348.69  22,530.65 

(d) Stock-in-trade (acquired for trading)  5.81 5.53

(e) Goods in Transit  331.40  -   

(f ) Stores and spares  213.24  193.00 

(g)  Packing Material  419.10  434.60 

Total  14,260.63  26,457.86 
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Note:
Work-in-progress 

PARTICULARS (` in lacs) (` in lacs)
FAT/Butter/Ghee  2,173.62  2,338.58 

SMP/WMP/Other  635.70  831.45 

Total  2,809.32  3,170.03 

NOTE 16 TRADE RECEIVABLES (` in lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Trade receivables outstanding for a period exceeding six months 
from the date they were due for payment  

Unsecured, considered good  288.83  65.02

 288.83  65.02 

Less: Provision for doubtful trade receivables 1.65 1.65

287.18 63.37

Other Trade receivables

Unsecured, considered good  1,41,631.37  1,15,072.35 

 1,41,631.37  1,15,072.35 

Less: Provision for doubtful trade receivables  -    -   

 1,41,631.37  1,15,072.35 

Total 1,41,918.55 1,15,135.71

NOTE 17 CASH AND BANK BALANCE (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Cash and Cash Equivalents :

(a) Cash in hand  169.55  68.65 

(b) Balances with banks

(i)      In current accounts  544.60  123.17 

(ii)    Cheques In hand  2,616.83  1,611.00 

Other Bank Balances
(i)     In deposit accounts held against  bank guarantees/ 
         Letter of Credits/Borrowings"

 2,127.71  1,184.86 

(ii)    In earmarked accounts

         - Unpaid dividend accounts  34.56 34.77

 5,493.26  3,022.45 
Less: Deposit having maturity more than 12 month from balance sheet date are shown under 
note no.14

 72.58 167.36

Total  5,420.68  2,855.09 
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NOTE 18 SHORT-TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Unsecured considered good

(a) Security deposits  67.47  75.53 

(b) Loans and advances to employees  17.17  17.89 

(c) Advance Recoverable in cash or kind or for value to be received  16,765.65  11,566.11 

(d) Prepaid Expenses  75.74  76.00 

(e) Balances with government authorities *  385.56  315.30 

Total  17,311.60  12,050.83 

* Includes ` 169.09 lacs (previous year ` 157.27 lacs) with Haryana Livestock Development Board against demand and disputed before 
Supreme Court of India. Further refer note 26.1.  

NOTE 19 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(a) Accruals 

(i) Interest accrued on Fixed deposits  17.54  28.36 

(ii) Income Receivables  194.38  18.80 

Total  211.92  47.16 

NOTE 20 REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended  
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
(a) Sale of products  (Refer Note (i) below)  5,72,409.58  5,26,782.44 

(b) Other Operating Income (Refer Note (ii) below )  13.33  134.66 

Total  5,72,422.91  5,26,917.10 

NOTE PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended  
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
(i) Sale of products comprises : 

Manufactured goods

Fat/Butter/Cream/Ghee  92,260.70  98,639.69 

SMP/WMP/DW/DC/SNF  66,524.01  57,864.04 

Milk/Toned Milk/Double Toned Milk  2,30,783.58  2,09,589.37 

Curd  47,166.95  48,904.44 

Less: Excise Duty  0.16  2.10 

Total - Sale of manufactured goods  4,36,735.08  4,14,995.44 

Traded goods

Fat/Butter/Cream/Ghee  2,121.62  864.80 

SMP/WMP/DW/DC/SNF/AMF  69,472.02  51,463.53 

Milk  60,116.69  59,087.54 

Cattle Feed & Supplements  193.60  371.12 

Vitamin Premix  3,770.57  -   
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NOTE PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended  
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Total - Sale of traded goods  1,35,674.50  1,11,787.00 

Total - Sale of products  5,72,409.58  5,26,782.44 

(ii) Other Operating Income comprises :

Income From Export incentive  0.53  104.67 

Sale of Scrap  12.81  29.99 

Total - Other Operative Income  13.33  134.66 

NOTE 21 OTHER INCOME (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended  
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
(a) Interest income (Refer Note (i) below)  222.36  59.57 

(b) Net gain on foreign currency transactions and translation  2,673.73  462.62 
(c) Other non-operating income (net of expenses directly attributable to such income) (Refer 

Note (ii) below)
 44.84  617.44 

Total  2,940.93  1,139.63 

(` In Lacs)

NOTE PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended  
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
(i) Interest income comprises:

Interest from banks on deposits  222.36  59.57 

Total - Interest income  222.36  59.57 

(ii) Other non-operating income comprises:

Profit on sale of fixed assets  2.57  2.20 

Miscellaneous income  16.60  23.35 

Claims recovered  11.14  5.67 

Security Forfeited  -    176.50 

Liability no longer payable  14.53  113.59 

Provision for Doubtful Debts  -    296.13 

Total - Other non-operating income  44.84  617.44 

NOTE 22. a COST OF MATERIALS CONSUMED
(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended  
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Opening stock  124.04  298.83 

Add: Purchases  3,72,402.31  3,81,262.32 

 3,72,526.35  3,81,561.14 

Less: Closing stock  133.08  124.04 

Cost of material consumed  3,72,393.27  3,81,437.10 

Material consumed comprises:

Milk  3,58,685.28  3,62,744.94 
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(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended  
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Butter fat/Ghee  7,819.90  8,930.84 

Others  5,888.08  9,761.33 

Total  3,72,393.27  3,81,437.10 

NOTE 22. b PURCHASE OF TRADED GOODS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended  
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Milk  59,057.68  57,570.68 

Fat/Butter/Cream/Ghee  2,051.17  817.42 

SMP/WMP/DW/DC/SNF/AMF  66,621.36  48,749.24 

Cattle Feed & Supplements  182.21  354.64 

Vitamin Premix  3,615.30  -   

Total  1,31,527.72  1,07,491.98 

NOTE 22. c CHANGES IN INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS,  
WORK-IN-PROGRESS AND STOCK-IN-TRADE (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended  
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Inventories at the end of the year:

Finished goods  10,354.49  22,536.18 

Work-in-progress  2,809.32  3,170.03 

 13,163.81  25,706.21 

Inventories at the beginning of the year:

Finished goods  22,536.18 11603.76

Work-in-progress  3,170.03 4412.66

 25,706.21  16,016.42 

Net (increase) / decrease  12,542.40  (9,689.79)

NOTE 23 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended  
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Salaries and wages  2,420.41  2,141.09 

Contributions to provident and other funds   74.71  66.37 

Gratuity & Leave Encashment (Refer Note 26.9)  63.05  74.44 

Recruitment Expenses  27.49  1.00 

Staff welfare expenses  75.33  65.73 

 Employee Welfare and other amenities-ESOP  607.42  -   

Total  3,268.40  2,348.63 
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NOTE 24 FINANCE COSTS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended 
 31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Interest expense on Borrowings  14,588.71  13,203.22 

Other Borrowings Cost  139.10  210.33 

Total  14,727.81  13,413.55 

NOTE 25 OTHER EXPENSES (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended 
 31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Advertisement & Sales Promotion  6,832.19  1,820.08 

Bad- Debts & Balances W/off  -    304.51 

Bank Charges  234.66  227.00 

Commission & Brokerage  65.85  108.15 

Communication Expenses  65.10  59.12 

Consumption of packing materials  4,122.86  2,350.22 

Consumption of stores and spare parts  234.19  262.63 

Donations and contributions  2.17  -   

Export/Import Expenses  57.69  17.37 

Insurance  47.15  57.34 

Legal and professional  229.87  75.07 

Loss on fixed assets sold  8.26  -   

Miscellaneous expenses  626.50  748.12 

Payments To Auditors (Refer Note (26.5)  11.45  8.43 

Power and fuel  1,400.72  2,177.29 

Printing and stationery  23.34  22.60 

Prior Period Items ( Refer note 25.1)  87.06  16.29 

Processing Charges of Milk  862.34  1,473.20 

Provision For Bad Debts  -    -   

Rates and taxes  57.60  45.85 

Rebate & Discount  16.09  87.31 

Rent  235.32  218.84 

Repairs and maintenance - Buildings  63.88  71.24 

Repairs and maintenance - Machinery  92.32  152.84 

Transportation Charges  2,090.12  2,883.41 

Travelling and conveyance  232.45  233.19 

Vehicle Running Expenses  85.99  92.30 

Total  17,785.17  13,512.38 

 Note
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25.1 DETAIL OF PRIOR PERIOD ITEMS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended 
 31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Prior Period Expenses  87.06  16.29 

Prior Period Incomes  -    -   

Total  87.06  16.29 

26.1 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND OTHER COMMITMENTS: (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Contingent liability (to the extent not provided for)

Claim against the company not acknowledged as debts
Milk cess disputed by the company relating to issue of applicability against which the 
company  has preferred an SLP against the order of Punjab & Haryana High Court before 
Hon'ble Supreme Court of  India. A liability of Cess principal amounting ` 371.21 lacs from 
which a sum of ` 169.09 lacs (previous year ` 157.27 lacs) deposited under protest and a sum 
of  ` 1970.45 lacs on account of interest liability raised by Semen Bank officer, of Haryana 
Livestock Development Board for which the matter is  already before Hon'ble Supreme Court.

 2,172.57  1,218.34

  
A civil recovery suit has been filed by M/s S.M. Milkose Limited regarding dispute in supply 
of material which is disputed by the Co. & is pending before The Hon'ble High Court of Delhi.

 156.97  156.97 

Sales Tax Matters in Appeallate Authorities  57.29  66.38 

DEPB Credit matter in CESTAT tribunal  69.44  69.44 

Contingent Liability for Bank Guarantee  660.55  1,570.23 

Contingent Liability under EPCG License  593.34  703.11 

Corporate Guarantee given on behalf of wholly owned subsidiary  20,894.86  16,899.52 

Commitments
Estimated amount of Contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided 
for

 2,972.81  485.71 

26.2 THE DEFERRED TAX ASSET COMPRISE OF THE FOLLOWING : (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Deferred Tax Assets

Related to Fixed Assets  1,179.65  147.00 

Total  1,179.65  147.00 

26.3 The Company has not received information from vendors regarding their status under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 
Development Act, 2006 and hence disclosure relating to amounts unpaid as at the year end together with interest paid / payable 
under this Act has not been ascertained.  
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26.4 FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
a) Value of imports on CIF basis

Plant & Machinery  463.30  1,022.04 

Purchase of Raw Material  234.25 

Purchase of Traded Goods 69922.03  49,272.62 

Consumables  0.47  1.59 

b) Imported and Indigenous raw material, components and consumable consumed

(i) Raw material consumed

     - Imported

          Amount  70.14  -   

          Percentage  0.02  -   

-        Indigenous

          Amount  3,72,323.13  3,81,437.10 

          Percentage  99.98  100.00 

Total  3,72,393.27  3,81,437.10 

(ii) Purchase of Traded Goods

-         Imported

          Amount  69,922.03  49,272.62 

          Percentage  53.16  45.84 

-         Indigenous

          Amount  61,605.69  58,219.36 

          Percentage  46.84  54.16 

Total  1,31,527.72  1,07,491.98 

(iii) Consumables

-        Imported

         Amount  0.47  1.59 

         Percentage  0.20  0.60 

-        Indigenous

          Amount  233.72  261.04 

          Percentage  99.80  99.40 

Total  234.19  262.63 

c) Expenditure in Foreign Exchange (on accrual basis)

Capital Transaction

Capital Investment in Subsidiary  1,276.19 

Capital Goods  463.30  1,022.04 

Revenue Transaction

Raw Material & Purchase Traded Goods  70,156.28  49,272.62 

Consumable Goods  0.47  1.59 

Tour and Travelling  15.14  9.58 

Other  4.32  4.25 

Interest & processing charges  131.88  -   

 70,771.39  51,586.27 
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d) Earnings in Foreign Exchange (on accrual basis)

-        Value of Exports on FOB basis  73,051.38  53,020.60 

e) Particulars of unhedged foreign currency exposure as on reporting date

Import trade payable  -    679.42 

Export trade receivable  37,286.67  21,575.30 

Trade advance received  60.17  56.78 

Export Earner in Foreign Credit (EEFC)  504.14  0.03 

Buyers Credit Payable  89.82  -   

Import Capital Creditors  Payable  9.88  1,001.45 

Foregin Currency Loan(Union Bank of India-UK)  5,969.96  -   

26.5 PAYMENT TO AUDITORS : (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Audit Fees  9.73  7.30 

Tax Audit Fees  1.72  1.13 

Total  11.45  8.43 

26.6 MANAGERIAL REMUNERATION (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Salaries and Allowances  138.53  230.20 

26.7 STATEMENT OF EARNING PER SHARE (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Net Profit Attributadle to Equity Shareholder (` in lacs) 14,424.79 14,093.30

Weighted Average Number of Equity Shares 

ia) used as denominator for calculating EPS (Basic) 219000189 205997137

ib) used as denominator for calculating EPS (Diluted) 224247499 218730475

ii) Nominal value per share (in `)  1.00  1.00 

iii) Basic Earning Per Share (in `)  6.59  6.84 

iv) Diluted Earning Per Share (in `)  6.43  6.79 

26.8  RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
As per Accounting Standard 18 disclosures of transactions  with the related parties are given below:

Relationships
1 Subsidiary Company Kwality Dairy Products FZE

2 Key managerial personnel (KMP) Rattan Sagar Khanna
Sanjay Dhingra
Manjit Dahiya
S.K. Bhalla
Sidhant Gupta
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Arun Srivastava
Pinky Singh(Upto 23/01/2016)
Ankita Mehrotra
Sunit Shangle
Deepa Kapoor (Upto 16/05/2015)
Pradeep Kumar Srivastava

3 Enterprises on which Key Managerial person having significant 
influence

JTPL Townships Pvt Limited
Pashupati Dairies Pvt Limited

Kwality Dairy Investments Pvt Limited
Sahyogi Foundation

4 Relative of Key Managerial Person Kanika Dhingra
Ved Parkash Gupta 
Sonika Gupta
 Sidhaant and Sons (HUF)

Balances  with related parties    ( ` In Lacs)

Related Party Nature of Transactions
As At   

31 March, 2016
As At   

31 March, 2015

Kwality Dairy Products FZE Investment in Subsidiary                     1,902.75                   1,902.75 
Corporate Guarantee Given                   20,894.86                 16,899.52 

 (31.5 million USD)  (27 million USD) 
Amount Payable                          14.43                        13.61 

Pashupati Dairies Pvt Limited Amount Payable in respect of Services /Rent.                          49.38                        41.86 
Amount Payable in Respect of Royalty                            9.38                              -   
Guarantee taken for Financial Limits                1,12,643.00              1,12,643.00 

JTPL Townships Pvt Limited Collateral Security/guarantee taken                   23,000.00                 13,000.00 

Sanjay Dhingra Guarantee  taken for Long Term Loans                   29,000.00                 16,500.00 
Guarantee taken for Financial Limits                1,12,643.00              1,12,643.00 
Shares Pledge for Loan                   38,363.50                 15,604.00 

Sidhant Gupta Collateral Security/guarantee                     1,500.00                   1,500.00 

Disclosures in respect of material transactions  with related parties (During the Year)

Related Party Nature of Transactions
For the year ended 

31 March, 2016
For the year ended 

31 March, 2015

Kwality Dairy Products FZE -Share Application Money / Investment                               -                     1,276.19 
-Corporate Guarantee Given                     2,984.98                              -   

 (4.5 million USD) 
-Sales                               -                        130.17 

Pashupati Dairies Pvt Limited -Inter Corporate Loans repaid/Converted                               -                     7,500.00 
-Services Received                               -                        128.83 
-Rent Paid                          60.00                        44.50 
-Royalty Paid                          10.28                          9.00 
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Related Party Nature of Transactions
For the year ended 

31 March, 2016
For the year ended 

31 March, 2015
-Allotment of Share Capital                               -                     7,500.00 

-Guarantee taken for Financial Limits                               -                1,12,643.00 

-Dividend Paid                          15.54                              -   

JTPL Townships Pvt Limited -Collateral Security/guarantee  Taken                   10,000.00                   5,500.00 

Sanjay Dhingra -Guarantee released for Financial Limits                               -                     2,412.00 

-Guarantee for Long Term Loans                   12,500.00                   9,000.00 

-Managerial Remuneration                        130.20                      130.20 

-Dividend Paid                        152.15                      152.15 

-Shares Pledge for Loan                   22,759.50                 12,449.00 

Kanika Dhingra -Guarantee released for Long Term Loans                               -   3,000.00

-Guarantee released for Financial Limits                               -   87,500.00

Sidhant Gupta -Managerial Remuneration                            8.33                      100.00 

-Allotment of Share warrant (amt paid 25%)                               -                        625.00 

-Meeting Fee                            1.10                              -   

Sidhaant and Sons (HUF) -Allotment of Share warrant (amt paid 25%)                               -                        625.00 

Sonika Gupta Allotment of share warrants                               -                        625.00 

Allotment of equity shares                     1,875.00                              -   

Rattan Sagar Khanna -Meeting Fee                            1.50                          0.80 

Arun Srivastava -Meeting Fee                            1.50                          1.30 

Pinky Singh -Meeting Fee                            1.20                              -   

Ankita Mehrotra -Meeting Fee                            0.30                              -   

S.K. Bhalla -Remuneration                          19.25                              -   

Manjit Dahiya -Remuneration                          18.78                              -   

Sunit Shangle -Remuneration                          27.89                        23.86 

Deepa Kapoor -Remuneration                            1.29                          8.35 

Pradeep Kumar Srivastava -Remuneration                          12.08                              -   
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Related Party Nature of Transactions
For the year ended 

31 March, 2016
For the year ended 

31 March, 2015
Ved Prakash Gupta -Dividend Paid                            5.83                          5.83 

26.9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS :  
Employee Benefits   

The Company has made provisions for employee benefits in accordance with the Accounting Standard (AS) 15 Revised “Employee Benefits”. 
During the year, the  Company has recognised the following amounts in its financial  statements  based on actuarial valuation done as per 
Projected Unit  Credit Method.  

(` In Lacs)

For the year 
ended 

 31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Defined Contribution Plan

 Employer's contribution to Provident Fund  54.07  40.64 

 Employer's contribution to Employee State Insurance Fund  19.98  25.18 

 Employer's contribution to Employee welfare fund  0.66  0.55 

 Total  74.71  66.37 

(` In Lacs)

For the year 
ended 

 31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Defined Benefit Plan

Change in Benefit Obligation                  Gratuity Gratuity 

Liability at the beginning of the year  95.50  49.89 

Interest Cost  7.64  3.99 

Current service cost  37.37  34.91 

Benefit Paid  (3.36)  (2.72)

Actuarial (gain)/loss on obligation  (16.91)  9.44 

Liability at the end of year-recognized in the Balance Sheet  120.26  95.50 

Expenses recognized in the Income Statement

Interest cost on benefit obligation  7.64  3.99 

Current service cost  37.37  34.91 

Expected return on plan assets  -    -   

Net actuarial( gain)/loss recognized in the year  (16.91)  9.44 

Expenses recognised in Profit and Loss statement  28.11  48.34 
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(` In Lacs)

For the year ended 
 31 March, 2016

For the year ended  
31 March, 2015

Defined Benefit Plan

Change in Benefit Obligation                  Leave Encashment Leave Encashment

Liability at the beginning of the year  55.24  31.63 

Interest Cost  4.42  2.53 

Current service cost  30.43  20.46 

Benefit Paid  (8.21)  (2.50)

Actuarial (gain)/loss on obligation  0.09  3.11 

Liability at the end of year-recognized in the Balance Sheet  81.97  55.24 

Expenses recognized in the Income Statement

Interest cost on benefit obligation  4.42  2.53 

Current service cost  30.43  20.46 

Expected return on plan assets  -    -   

Net actuarial( gain)/loss recognized in the year  0.09  3.11 

Expenses recognised in Profit and Loss statement  34.94  26.10 

Discount rate current 8.00% per annum 8.00% per annum

Salary escalation current 5% per annum 5% per annum

Mortality IALM 2006-2008 Ultimate IALM 2006-2008 Ultimate

Withdrawal rate 18 to 58 Years 2% per annum 2% per annum

The estimates of future salary increases, inflation,seniority, promotion and other relevant factors, considered in actuarial valuation such 
as supply and demand in the employment market. The rate used to discount post employment benefit obligations (both funded and 
unfunded) should be determined by reference  to market yields at the balance sheet date on government bonds. The currency and term of 
the government bonds should be consistent with the currency and estimated term of the post employment benefit obligations. 
 

An amount of ̀ 63.05 Lacs /- (PY. ̀ 74.44 Lacs) as contribution towards defined contribution plan is recognized as expense in the Profit & Loss 
Statement  

26.10 CSR EXPENDITURE  
During the year, the company spent ` 297.90 lakhs (previous year ` 283.36 lacs) toward CSR under section 135 of the companies act 2013 
and rules thereunder in terms of policy framed Board of Directors.  
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In terms of our report attached.       

For P.P. Mukerjee & Associates  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors  
Chartered Accountants                Sd/-               Sd/- 
Firm’s Registration No.023276N  (Sanjay Dhingra)  (Sidhant Gupta) 
                Sd/- Managing Director   Director   
CA P.P. Mukerjee DIN:- 00025376  DIN:- 00555513 
Membership No.:089854                Sd/-               Sd/- 
Proprietor (CA Sunit Shangle)  (Pradeep K. Srivastava) 
 Chief Finance Officer  Company Secretary 
Place  :  New Delhi M.No:- 087626  M.No.:- FCS6763 
Date   :  25-05-2016

26.11 OTHER NOTES   
a) Disclosure as per Clause 32 of the Listing Agreements with the Stock Exchanges  

Loans and advances in the nature of loans given to subsidiaries, associates and others and investment in shares of the Company by such 
parties:  

( `In Lacs)
Name of the party  Relationship   Amount outstanding as at  

31 March, 2016                                  
Kwality Dairy Products FZE Dubai- Investment Subsidiary                                 1,902.75 

                               (1,902.75)

b)  Previous  year  figure have been  regrouped/reclassified  wherever  necessary to correspond with the  current year  classification/ 
disclosure. 
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To the Members of  
KWALITY LIMITED 

REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements of M/s Kwality Limited (“the Holding Company”) and its 
subsidiaries, which comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 
March 31, 2016,  the Consolidated Statement of Profit & Loss and 
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information (hereinafter referred to as ‘the consolidated financial 
statements’).

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters 
stated in Section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) 
with respect to the preparation and presentation of these 
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view 
of the consolidated financial position, consolidated financial 
performance and consolidated cash flows of the Company in 
accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in 
India, including the Accounting Standards specified under Section 
133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 
2014. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act 
for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing 
and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and 
application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments 
and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, 
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial 
controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy 
and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the 
preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a 
true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated 
financial statements based on our audit. We have taken into account 
the provisions of the Act, the accounting and auditing standards 
and matters which are required to be included in the audit report 
under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards 
on Auditing specified under Section 143(10) of the Act. Those 
Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and the disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal financial control relevant to the 
Company’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on whether the Company has in place an 
adequate internal financial controls system over financial reporting 
and the operating effectiveness of such controls. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made 
by the Company’s Directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements.

OPINION
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to 
the explanations given to us, the aforesaid consolidated financial 
statements give the information required by the Act in the manner 
so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the 
accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of 
affairs of the Company as at 31 March 2016 and their consolidated 
profit and consolidated cash flows for the year ended on that date.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS
1.  As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2015 

(“the Order”) issued by the Central Government of India in 
terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, we give 
in the Annexure a statement on the matters specified in the 
paragraph 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent applicable.

2.    As required by Section 143 (3) of the Act, we report that:
 a.  We have sought & obtained all the information and 

explanations which to the best of our knowledge and 
belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit;

 b.  In our opinion proper books of account as required by law 
have been kept by the Company so far as appears from 
our examination of those books.

 c.  The consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated 
statement of profit and loss, and consolidated cash flow 
statement dealt with by this report are in agreement with 
the books of account.
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 d.  in our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial 
statements comply with the Accounting Standards 
specified under Section 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of 
the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014. 

 e.  on the basis of the written representations received from 
the directors of the Holding Company as on 31 March 
2016 taken on record by the Board of Directors of Holding 
Company, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31 
March 2016 from being appointed as a director in terms 
of Section 164 (2) of the Act.

 f.  with respect to the adequacy of the internal financial 
controls over financial reporting of the Company and 
operating effectiveness of such controls, we can’t 
comment on the consolidated financial statement 
because the subsidiary company is incorporated outside 
India, of which audit in respect to internal financial control 
is not being done by us. 

 g.   With respect to the other matters to be included in 
the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the 
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our 
opinion and to the best of our information and according 
to the explanations given to us:

 (i)  The Company has disclosed the impact of pending 
litigations on its financial position in its financial 
statements as referred to in Note 26.1 to the financial 
statements.

 (ii)  The Company has made provision, as required under 
the applicable law or accounting standards, for material 
foreseeable losses, if any, and as required on long–term 
contracts including derivative contracts.

 (iii)  There is no amount due to be transferred to the Investor 
Education and Protection Fund by the Company.

                                                          For P. P. Mukerjee& Associates 
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration Number -023276N

 
Sd/- 

P. P. Mukerjee 
Place : New Delhi  Proprietor 
Date  : 25th May, 2016  Membership Number 089854



Kwality Limited Annual Report 2016160

(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS  Note No.
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
A EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
1 Shareholders’ funds

(a) Share capital 2  2,239.12  2,187.30 
(b) Reserves and surplus 3  82,932.97  62,429.55 
(c) Money received against warrants 4  1,250.00  1,875.00 

 86,422.09  66,491.86 
2 Non-current liabilities

(a) Long-term borrowings 5  25,597.04  14,806.39 
(b) Long-term provisions 6  183.22  139.06 

 25,780.26  14,945.45 
3 Current liabilities

(a) Short-term borrowings 7  1,21,459.32  1,08,854.77 
(b) Trade payables 8  5,211.24  5,199.72 
(c) Other current liabilities 9  11,389.47  7,211.87 
(d) Short-term provisions 10  4,797.88  3,881.92 

 1,42,857.92  1,25,148.28 
TOTAL  2,55,060.26  2,06,585.59 

B ASSETS
1 Non-current assets

(a) Fixed assets
(i) Tangible assets 11.A  7,103.68  6,729.13 
(ii) Intangible assets 11.B  138.67  4.08 
(iii) Capital work-in-progress 11.C  19,498.52  11,836.22 

 26,740.87  18,569.43 
(b) Long-term loans and advances 12  17,914.06  8,820.93 
(c) Other Non Current assets 13  72.58  167.36 
(d) Deferred Tax Assets (Net) 25.2  1,179.65  147.00 

 45,907.15  27,704.72 

2 Current assets
(a) Inventories 14  17,055.33  29,104.19 
(b) Trade receivables 15  1,65,537.54  1,32,458.64 
(c) Cash and cash equivalents 16  8,622.59  5,165.28 
(d) Short-term loans and advances 17  17,722.23  12,105.60 
(e) Other current assets 18  215.42  47.16 

 2,09,153.11  1,78,880.87 
TOTAL  2,55,060.26  2,06,585.59 
Notes forming part of the financial statements 1-25

In terms of our report attached.       

For P.P. Mukerjee & Associates  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors  
Chartered Accountants                Sd/-               Sd/- 
Firm’s Registration No.023276N  (Sanjay Dhingra)  (Sidhant Gupta) 
                Sd/- Managing Director   Director   
CA P.P. Mukerjee DIN:- 00025376  DIN:- 00555513 
Membership No.:089854                Sd/-               Sd/- 
Proprietor (CA Sunit Shangle)  (Pradeep K. Srivastava) 
 Chief Finance Officer  Company Secretary 
Place  :  New Delhi M.No:- 087626  M.No.:- FCS6763 
Date   :  25-05-2016

Consolidated Balance Sheet 
as at  31 March, 2016
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(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
Note No. For the year 

ended 
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015

1 Revenue from operations 19  6,41,405.32  5,87,833.47 
2 Other income 20  2,977.80  1,173.43 

3 Total revenue (1+2)  6,44,383.12  5,89,006.90 

4 Expenses
(a)   Cost of materials consumed 21.a  3,72,393.27  3,81,437.10 
(b)  Purchases of stock-in-trade 21.b  1,96,153.19  1,65,488.26 
(c)   Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and stock-in-trade 21.c  12,394.03  (10,344.63)
(d)  Employee benefits expense 22  3,426.79  2,428.73 
(e)  Finance costs 23  15,744.97  14,030.64 
(f )   Depreciation and amortisation expense 11  2,336.65  2,530.03 
(g)  Other expenses 24  18,163.84  13,830.62 

Total expenses  6,20,612.73  5,69,400.76 

5 Profit / (Loss) before tax  (3 - 4)  23,770.39  19,606.14 

6 Extraordinary / Exceptional Items                                -   -   

7 Profit / (Loss) Before Tax (5-6)  23,770.39  23,770.39 

8 Tax expense:
(a)   Tax expense for current year  7,440.26  3,574.05 
(b)  (Less): MAT credit related to current year  (569.02)
(c)   Net current tax expense  7,440.26  3,005.03 
(d)   Tax expense relating to prior years  3.20  16.05 
(e)   Deferred tax  (1,032.65)  (67.73)
Total Tax Expenses  6,410.80  2,953.35 

9 Profit / (Loss) from operations (7 -8)  17,359.58  16,652.79 

10 Earnings per share (of `1/- each):
(a)  Basic 25.6  7.93  8.08 
(b)  Diluted 7.74  8.02 

Notes forming part of the financial statements 1-25

In terms of our report attached.       

For P.P. Mukerjee & Associates  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors  
Chartered Accountants                Sd/-               Sd/- 
Firm’s Registration No.023276N  (Sanjay Dhingra)  (Sidhant Gupta) 
                Sd/- Managing Director   Director   
CA P.P. Mukerjee DIN:- 00025376  DIN:- 00555513 
Membership No.:089854                Sd/-               Sd/- 
Proprietor (CA Sunit Shangle)  (Pradeep K. Srivastava) 
 Chief Finance Officer  Company Secretary 
Place  :  New Delhi M.No:- 087626  M.No.:- FCS6763 
Date   :  25-05-2016

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
for the year ended 31 March, 2016
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(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year ended 

31 March, 2016
For the year ended 

31 March, 2015

A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Profit / (Loss) before extraordinary items and tax 23,770.39     19,606.14 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation        2,336.65        2,530.03 

Amortisation of Expenses                 -                4.95 

Employee Stock Option Reserve          607.42                  -   

Loss on sale on assets              8.26                  -   

(Profit) on sale on assets             (2.57)             (2.20)

Finance costs      15,744.97      14,030.64 

Interest income         (243.90) (77.96)

Liability no longer payable           (14.53) (113.59)

Fixed Assets Discard                 -             342.55 

Bad Debts & Other Balances W/off                 -             304.51 

Unrealised Exchange Fluctuation         (471.22) (134.59)

Foreign Currency fluctuation Reserve          370.20           155.43 

Security Forfeited                 -   (176.50)

Other non-cash charges            39.11       18,374.38             10.70     16,873.97 

Operating profit / (loss) before working capital changes       42,144.77     36,480.11 

Changes in working capital:

Adjustments for (increase) / decrease in operating assets/Liabilities:

Inventories      12,048.86 (10,364.72)

Trade receivables     (32,607.66)           491.30 

Short-term loans and advances       (5,616.64) (8,895.32)

Other Current Assets         (168.26)           146.93 
Bank balances not considered as Cash and cash equivalents as defined in 
AS 3 Cash Flow Statements

      (1,209.32) (846.23)

Long term Loans and Advances              2.10 (21.00)

Long-term provision            44.15             64.07 

Trade payables            26.03 (11,430.94)

Other current liabilities          254.78      (27,225.95)           295.55 (30,560.35)

Cash Generated from Operations       14,918.82       5,919.75 

Cash flow from extra ordinary Items                  -                   -   

Net income tax (paid) / refunds       (3,591.70)            (7.06)

Net cash flow from / (used in) operating activities (A)       11,327.12       5,912.69 

B. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditure on fixed assets, including capital advances     (22,622.47) (15,178.38)

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets            19.86             10.30 

Purchase of long-term investments- Subsidiaries                 -                    -   

Interest received          243.90             77.96 

Net cash flow from / (used in) investing activities (B) (22,358.72) (15,090.12)

Cash Flow Statement  
for the year ended 31 March, 2016
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(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year ended 

31 March, 2016
For the year ended 

31 March, 2015

C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from long-term borrowings      16,250.78      13,572.49 

Repayment of long-term borrowings       (1,660.14) (10,303.84)

Proceeds from Issue of Equity Shares/ Warrants        1,875.00        9,375.00 

Net increase / (decrease) in working capital borrowings      12,604.55      12,048.51 

Finance cost     (15,622.13) (14,012.14)

Dividends paid         (218.73) (203.19)

Tax on dividend           (44.53) (34.53)

Net cash flow from / (used in) financing activities (C)       13,184.81     10,442.31 

Net increase / (decrease) in Cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)        2,153.21       1,264.89 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year        2,88 7.67       1,622.78 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year        5,040.88       2,887.67 

Reconciliation of Cash & cash equivalents with the Balance Sheet:

Cash and cash equivalents as per Balance Sheet (Refer Note 17)        8,695.16        5,332.63 
Less: Bank balances not considered as Cash and cash equivalents as 
defined in AS 3 Cash Flow Statements

      (3,654.28) (2,444.96)

Net Cash and cash equivalents (as defined in AS 3 CFS)        5,040.88       2,887.67 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year *        5,040.88       2,887.67 

* Comprises:

(a) Cash on hand          197.58             88.86 

(b) Balances with banks ( In Current Accounts)        4,843.30        5,040.88        2,798.81       2,887.67 

Notes forming part of the financial statements (1-25)

In terms of our report attached.       

For P.P. Mukerjee & Associates  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors  
Chartered Accountants                Sd/-               Sd/- 
Firm’s Registration No.023276N  (Sanjay Dhingra)  (Sidhant Gupta) 
                Sd/- Managing Director   Director   
CA P.P. Mukerjee DIN:- 00025376  DIN:- 00555513 
Membership No.:089854                Sd/-               Sd/- 
Proprietor (CA Sunit Shangle)  (Pradeep K. Srivastava) 
 Chief Finance Officer  Company Secretary 
Place  :  New Delhi M.No:- 087626  M.No.:- FCS6763 
Date   :  25-05-2016
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1(i) General Information
 Kwality Limited (“The Company”) was incorporated on 21st 

August 1992. The Company is engaged in manufacture/
processing and sale of milk, milk products and dairy products. 
The Company is listed both on Bombay Stock Exchange 
and National Stock Exchange. The Company is having 
manufacturing facility at Uttar Pradesh, Haryana and Rajasthan. 
The Company operates both in domestic and international 
markets.

1(ii) Significant Accounting Policies
(a)  Basis of Preparation of Accounts

 y  The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
on going concern basis to comply with the requirements 
of clause 32 of the listing agreement and in accordance 
with Accounting Standard (AS) 21 on “Consolidated 
Financial Statements” and Accounting Standard (AS) 3 
“Cash Flow Statement.

 y  The consolidated financial statements comprise the 
financial statements of its 100% subsidiary, incorporated 
in Dubai, namely Kwality Dairy Products FZE.

 y  The financial statement of subsidiary used in consolidation 
is drawn up to the same reporting date as that of parent 
company.

 y  The financial statement of the subsidiary are prepared 
by them on the basis of generally accepted accounting 
principles, local laws and regulation as prevalent in its 
respective country and such financial statements are 
considered for consolidation.

 y  The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
based on a line-by-line consolidation. The effect of inter-
company transactions is eliminated in consolidation and 
amount arising on account of converting foreign currency 
consolidation procedures are recognised in Foreign 
Currency Fluctuation Reserve.

 y   The excess of the cost to the parent company of its 
investment in subsidiary, on the acquisition date, is 
recognized in the financial statements as goodwill.

Name of 
Company

Country of 
Incorporation

Ownership Voting 
Right

Kwality Dairy 
Products FZE

United Arab 
Emirates 
(Dubai)

100% 100%

(b)  Use of Estimates
 The preparation of financial statements are in conformity with 

generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that 

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities as at the date of the financial 
statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Accounting estimates could 
change from period to period. Actual results could differ from 
these estimates. Differences between the actual results and 
estimates are recognised in the financial statements in the year 
which results are known/ materialised. If material, their effects 
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Any 
revision to accounting estimates is recognized prospectively 
in the current and future periods.

(c)  Revenue recognition
 Sale of Goods
 Sale is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of 

ownership of the goods have passed to the customer. Sales are 
recorded net of sales returns, sales tax, rebates, trade discounts 
and price differences.

 Income from Services
 Revenue from milk processing and other services, if any, 

are recognized as and when services are rendered and are 
accounted on an accrual basis.

 Interest Income
 Interest income is recognized on time proportion basis taken 

into account the amount outstanding and the rate applicable.

 Exports Benefits
 Exports benefits are recognized on accrual basis in the 

statement of profit and loss when the reasonable right to 
receive the same is established.

(d)  Fixed Assets
 Tangible Assets
 Tangible Assets are stated at acquisition cost, net of 

accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any. Cost includes freight, duties, taxes, other expenses 
incidental to acquisition and installation and also includes 
financing cost relating to borrowed funds attributable to the 
construction or acquisition of qualifying fixed assets upto the 
date the assets are ready for use. Where the acquisition of 
fixed assets are financed through long term foreign currency 
loans (having a term of 12 months or more at the time of their 
origination) the exchange differences on such loans are added 
to or subtracted from the cost of such fixed assets.

 Subsequent expenditures related to an item of fixed asset 
are added to its book value only if they increase the future 
benefits from the existing asset beyond its previously assessed 
standard of performance.
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 Losses arising from the impairment and gains or losses arising 
from disposal of fixed assets are recognized in the Statement 
of Profit and Loss.

 Intangible Assets
 Acquired computer software are capitalized at cost of 

acquisition (Including License fees paid), net of accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment losses if any and 
are disclosed as intangible assets.

 Other intangible assets are shown at cost of acquisition net of 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment loss 
if any.

(e)  Depreciation:
 Depreciation on Fixed Assets is provided to the extent of 

depreciable amount on the Written down value (WDV). 
Pursuant to the requirement of the Companies Act 2013 (The 
Act), The company has revised the depreciation rates based 
on useful life of the assets as prescribed in Schedule II of the 
Companies Act, 2013 except in respect of the following assets 
where based on the internal technical assessment of the 
estimated economic useful lives of the fixed assets, the useful 
life is different than those prescribed in Schedule II are used:

S.no Head of Assets Particulars  Useful Life
1 Plant & Machinery Storing & 

Handling Units
2 Years

2 Plant & Machinery AMCU 3 Years

 Intangible asset are amortised on Written Down Value over 
the useful life of the asset up to a maximum of five years 
commencing from the month when the asset is first put to use.

 The Company provides pro-rata depreciation from the day the 
asset is put to use and for any asset sold, till the date of sale.

(f)  Employee Benefits
 Short Term Employee Benefits:
 Short term employee benefits such as salaries, wages, bonus 

etc. are recognized as an expense at the undiscounted amount 
in the profit and loss account for the year in which employee 
renders the related service.

 Post-Employment Benefits
 Defined Contribution Plans:
 Company’s contribution to Employees Provident Fund 

Scheme, Employees State Insurance Contribution Scheme and 
Staff welfare fund are charged to the revenue of the year when 
the contribution to the respective fund is due

 Defined benefit plans:
 The Company’s gratuity scheme is a defined benefit plan. 

The present value of the obligation under such defined plan 
is determined based on actuarial valuation carried out at 
the end of the year by an independent actuary, using the 
Projected Unit Credit Method, which recognizes each period 
of service as giving rise to additional unit of employee benefit 
entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up 
the final obligation. The obligation is measured at the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows. Actuarial gains and 
losses arising on such valuation are recognized immediately in 
the Statement of Profit and Loss.

 Other Defined Plans:
 Benefits under the Company’s leave encashment constitute 

other long-term employee benefits. The liability in respect of 
vacation pay is provided on the basis of an actuarial valuation 
done by an independent actuary at the year end. Actuarial 
gains and losses are recognized immediately in the Statement 
of Profit and Loss. Termination Benefits are recognized as an 
expense in the year in which they are incurred.

 Employee Stock Option Plan (ESOP):
 The Employee Stock Option Plan (“The Scheme”) provides for 

grant of equity shares of the Company to the employees of 
the Company and its subsidiaries. The Scheme provides that 
employees are granted an option to acquire the equity shares 
of the Company that vests in a graded manner or as decided 
by Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee. 
The options may be exercised within a specified period. The 
Company follows the intrinsic value method to account for its 
stock based employee compensation plans. Compensation 
cost is measured as the excess, if any, of the fair market price of 
the underlying stock over the exercise price on the grant date 
and is amortised over the vesting period of the option on a 
straight line basis.

 The fair market price is the latest closing price on the date 
of the Board/ Committee meeting in which the options are 
granted, on the stock exchange on which the shares of the 
Company are listed. If the shares are listed on more than 
one stock exchange, than the stock exchange where there is 
highest trading volume on the said date is considered

(g)   Inventories
 Raw Material, components, stores and spares are valued at 

lower of cost and net realisable value.

 Work-in-progress and finished goods are valued at lower of 
cost and net realisable value. Cost includes direct materials, 
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labour and related production overheads in the ordinary 
course of business. Net realizable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated cost of 
completion and estimated cost necessary to make the sale.

(h)  Investments
 Investments if any which are readily realizable and intended 

to be held for not more than a year from the date on which 
the investment is made are classified as current investment. All 
other investments are classified as long term investment.

 Current investments are stated at lower of cost or fair value. 
Long-term investments are stated at cost however provision 
for diminution in their value is made to recognize a decline, 
other than temporary value of the investment.

 Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 
if any are held for long term and valued at cost reduced by 
diminution of permanent nature therein, if any. No profit and 
losses of the subsidiaries are accounted for.

(i)  Provision for Current and Deferred Tax
 Income Tax expenses comprise current tax and deferred tax 

charge or credit. Current tax provision is made based on the 
tax liability computed after considering tax allowances and 
exemptions under the Income tax Act, 1961. The deferred tax 
charge or credit resulting from the timing difference between 
taxable and accounting income and the corresponding 
deferred tax liability and assets are recognized using the tax 
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted on the 
balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognized and 
carried forward only to the extent that there is a reasonable 
certainty that sufficient future taxable income will be available 
against which such deferred tax assets can be realized.

 Minimum Alternative tax credit is recognized as an asset only 
when and to the extent there is convincing evidence that The 
Company will pay normal income tax during the specified 
period. Such asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
the carrying amount of the MAT credit asset is written down 
to the extent there is no longer a convincing evidence to the 
effect that The Company will pay normal income tax during 
the specified period.

(j)  Impairment of Assets
 The carrying amounts of The Company’s assets are reviewed 

at each balance sheet date in accordance with Accounting 
Standard 28 ‘Impairment of Assets’ to determine whether 
there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 
such indication exists, the Company estimates the recoverable 
amount of the asset. If such recoverable amount of the asset 

or the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to 
which the asset belongs is less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount 
and the reduction is treated as an impairment loss and is 
recognized in the statement of profit and loss. Where there is 
any indication that an impairment loss recognized for an asset 
in prior accounting periods may no longer exist or may have 
decreased, the Company books a reversal of the impairment 
loss not exceeding the carrying amount that would have 
been determined (net of amortization or depreciation) had 
no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior 
accounting periods.

(k)  Foreign Exchange Transactions
 Initial Recognition
 On initial recognition, all foreign currency transactions are 

recorded by applying to the foreign currency amount the 
exchange rate between the reporting currency and the foreign 
currency at the date of the transaction.

 Subsequent Recognition
 All monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency are 

restated using the exchange rate prevailing at reporting date. 
As at the reporting date, nonmonetary items which are carried 
in terms of historical cost denominated in a foreign currency 
are reported using the exchange rate at date of the transaction.

 Exchange Differences
 The Company has opted to avail the choice provided under 

paragraph 46A of AS-11 “The Effect of Changes in Foreign 
Exchange Rates” inserted vide Notification dated December 
29, 2011. Consequently, Exchange differences arising on long-
term foreign currency monetary items related to acquisition of 
depreciable capital asset added to or deducted from the cost of 
the asset and depreciated over the remaining useful life of the 
asset. For this purpose, the company treats a foreign monetary 
item as “long-term foreign currency monetary item”, if it has a 
term of 12 months or more at the date of its origination.

 All other exchange differences are recognized as income or 
expenses in the period in which they arise.

(l)  Government Grants
 Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable 

assurance that the company will comply with the conditions 
attached to them and the grants will be received. Government 
grants whose primary condition is that the company should 
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire capital assets are 
presented by deducting them from the carrying value of the 
assets.  The grant is recognized as income over the life of a 
depreciable asset by way of a reduced depreciation charge. 
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Other government grants are recognized as income over the 
periods necessary to match them with the costs for which are 
intended to compensate on a systematic basis.

(m)  Borrowing Costs
 Borrowing Costs that are attributable to the acquisition, 

construction of qualifying assets till the time such assets are 
ready for the intended use, are capitalized as part of the cost 
of such assets. A qualifying asset is one that necessarily takes 
substantial period of time to get ready for the intended use. All 
other borrowing costs are charged to revenue in the period in 
which these are incurred.

(n)  Business Segments
 The Company is engaged mainly in processing, manufacturing 

and trading of milk, milk products & dairy products. These, in 
the context of Accounting Standard 17 on Segment reporting, 
as specified in the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules 
2006, are considered to constitute one single primary segment. 
Hence Segment reporting is not required.

(o)  Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
 Provisions: Provisions are recognized when there is a present 

obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and there is a reliable estimate 
of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the Balance sheet date and are not discounted to 
its present value.

 Contingent Liabilities: Contingent liabilities are disclosed 
when there is a possible obligation arising from past events, the 
existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence 
or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future events 
not wholly within the control of the company or a present 
obligation that arises from past events where it is either not 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 
or a reliable estimate of the amount cannot be made, is termed 
as a contingent liability. 

 Contingent Assets: Contingent assets are neither recognized 
nor disclosed.

(p)  Leases
(i)  Finance Lease
 Assets acquired under finance lease are recognized at lower 

of the fair value of the leased assets at inceptions and the 
present value of minimum lease payment. Lease payment is 
apportioned between the finance charge and the outstanding 
liability. The finance charge is allocated to periods during 

the lease term at a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability.

(ii)  Operating Lease
 Leases other than finance lease are operating and leased assets 

are not recognized in the company Balance sheet. Payment 
under operating leases is recognized in the Statement of Profit 
and Loss on a straight line over the lease term.

(q)  Earnings per share
 Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net 

profit or loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders 
by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding 
during the year.

 For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, 
the net profit or loss for the year attributable to equity 
shareholders and the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding during the year are adjusted for the effects of all 
dilutive potential equity shares, except where results would be 
anti-dilutive.

(r)  Cash and Cash Equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, bank balances in 

current and short term highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to cash with original maturities of three 
months or less at the time of purchase.
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NOTE 2 SHARE CAPITAL (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(a) Authorised

 100,00,00,000  Equity Shares of  `1/- each

 (previous year 100,00,00,000 Equity Share of `1/- each)  10,000.00  10,000.00 

 10,000.00  10,000.00 

(b) Issued ,Subscribed and fully paid up  2,239.12  2,187.30 

 22,39,11,822  Equity Shares of  `1/- each fully paid-up

(previous year 21,87,30,475  Equity Shares of  `1/- each fully paid-up)

Total  2,239.12  2,187.30 

Refer Notes (i) to (v) below

(i)  Reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding and amount of share capital:

        PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
No. of Shares ` In Lacs No. of Shares ` In Lacs

Equity Shares at the beginning of the year  2187,30,475  2,187.30  2031,86,434  2,031.86 
Add: Shares issued during the year on conversion of 
Warrants (Refer note no 4)

 51,81,347  51.82  155,44,041  155.44 

Equity Shares at the end of the year  2239,11,822  2,239.12  2187,30,475  2,187.30 

(ii)  Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to the equity shares :    
   -  The Company has only one class of equity shares having a par value of ` 1/-per share. Each shareholder is eligible for one vote 

per share held.    

    -  The Company declares and pays dividend in Indian rupees. The dividend  proposed  by  the  Board  of  Directors  is  subject  to  
approval  of  the shareholders in ensuing Annual General Meeting.    

“    - The dividend distributable to the shareholders for the year ended on 31st March 2016, at the rate of ` 0.10 per equity share 
(previous year ` 0.10) has been recoginised on 23,42,74,516 nos. of equity shares existing on the date of board meeting 
(including 1,03,62,694 nos. of equity shares alloted on conversion of warrants on 09 April 2016).”  

    -  In the event of liquidation of the company, the equity share holders will be entitled to receive  remaining assets of the 
Company, after distribution of all preferential amounts, in proportion of their shareholding.  

(iii)  Details of shares held by each shareholder holding more than 5% of the aggregate shares in the Company: 

        PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Number of 

shares held
% holding of 

shares 
Number of 

shares held
% holding of 

shares 
Equity shares of ` 1 fully paid-up

Mr Sanjay Dhingra  1521,54,714  67.95  1521,54,714  69.56 

M/s Pashupati Dairies Pvt. Ltd.  155,44,041  6.94  155,44,041  7.11 

(iv)  Aggregate number and class of shares allotted as fully paid up pursuant to contract(s) without payment being received in 
cash, by way of bonus shares and shares bought back for the period of 5 years immediately preceding the Balance Sheet 
date:    

 (a)  The Company has not issued any shares pursuant to contract(s) without payment being received in cash.  
 (b)  The Bonus issue is made by capitalisation of profit. However no bonus issues have been done in preceding 5 years 
 (c)  The Company has not undertaken any buy back of shares.  
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(v)  Shares reserved for issue under options and contracts/ commitments for sale/ disinvestment 
  There are no shares reserved for issue under contracts/ commitments for sale/ disinvestments. However the Company has reserved 

issuance of 1,00,00,000 (Previous Year Nil) Equity Shares of `1 each for offering to the eligible employees of the Company and its 
subsidiaries under Employees Stock Option Plan 2014 (ESOP 2014). During the year the Company has granted 19,87,000 (Previous Year 
Nil) Options at a price of ` 38 per option plus all applicable taxes . The options would vest over a period of 1 years. The other disclosure 
in respect of the ESOP Scheme are as under:    

Total Option under the Scheme 1,00,00,000
Option issued 19,87,000
Vesting Period 1 year
Vesting Date For 19,37,000 Options July 23, 2016 and for 50,000 

Options October 8, 2016
Exercise Price `38
Outstanding at the beginning of the year Nil
Option Vested during the year Nil
Exercised during the year Nil
Expired during the year Nil
Cancelled during the year Nil
Re-granted during the year Nil
Outstanding at the end of the year 19,87,000
Exercisable at the end of the year Nil
Remaining contractual life (Weighted Months) 4.05

NOTE 3 RESERVES AND SURPLUS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(a) Share premium account

Balance as at the beginning of the year  7,344.56  -   

Add: Addition during the year  2,448.19  7,344.56 

Closing balance  9,792.75  7,344.56 

(b) Foreign Currency Translation Reserve (On Consolidation)#

Foreign Currency Transaction Reserve  659.57  289.37 

 659.57  289.37 

(c) Employee Stock option Reserve

Balance as at the beginning of the year  -    -   

Add: Addition during the year  607.42  -   

Closing balance  607.42  -   

(d) Surplus / (Deficit) in Statement of Profit and Loss 

Balance as at the beginning of the year  54,795.62  40,676.41 

Add: Profit for the year  17,359.58  16,652.79 

 72,155.20  57,329.20 

Less: Adjustment on Account of Fixed Assets (Refer note no. 10)  -    2,270.32 

Less: Appropriations:

     Proposed Dividends on equity share (INR 0.10 per share)  234.27  218.73 

     Dividend distribution tax  47.69  44.53 

Closing balance  71,873.24  54,795.62 

Total (a+b+c+d)  82,932.97  62,429.55 

# Translation reserve represent conversion of balance in functional currency of foreign subsidiary company
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NOTE 4 MONEY RECEIVED AGAINST WARRANTS

       PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
No. of  

Convertible 
Warrants Allotted

Amount   
A(` In Lacs )

No. of  
Convertible 

Warrants Allotted
Amount   

(` In Lacs)

Convertible Warrants at the beginning of the year 155,44,041 1,875.00  -    -   

Amount Received against Warrants  -   1,875.00  -    -   

Convertible Warrants Issued during the year  -    -    310,88,082 9,375.00
Less: Convertible Warrants converted into Equity 
Shares during the year 51,81,347 2,500.00  155,44,041 7,500.00

Convertible Warrants at the end of the year 103,62,694 1,250.00 155,44,041 1,875.00

Money received against Convertible Warrants represents amount received towards Convertible Warrants which entitles the warrant holder, 
the option to apply for and be allotted equivalent number of equity shares of the face value of ` 1 each. The Company on preferential basis 
has allotted the following Convertible Warrants at issue price of ` 48.25 in accordance with the provisions of SEBI (Issue of Capital and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2009 (SEBI ICDR Regulations 2009) in 2014-15   

Name of Allotee
No. of  

Convertible 
Warrants 
Allotted

Consideration            
( ` In Lacs)

Amount 
Received 

as % of 
Issue Price

Date of Allotment 
of Warrants

Convertible Warrants outstanding at end of year
1.  Mr Sidhant Gupta 51,81,347 625.00 25% November 3, 2014
2.  M/s Sidhaant & Sons (HUF) 51,81,347 625.00 25% November 8, 2014
Total 103,62,694 1250.00
Convertible Warrants converted during the year
3. Mrs Sonika Gupta 51,81,347 2500.00 100% November 8, 2014
Total 51,81,347 2500.00

The allotees at Sr. no. 1 to 2 above are entitled to apply for and be allotted one equity share for each Warrant held by them on 
payment of balance 75% of the issue price within 18 months from the date of allotment of Convertible Warrants. The allottee at  
Sr. no. 3 exercised its right to convert the Convertible Warrants into equity shares after paying the balance amount and accordingly 
51,81,347 equity shares were issued to Mrs Sonika Gupta for an aggregate consideration of  ` 2500.00 lacs.

Utilisation of proceed of Convertible Warrants issued: The amount of ` 1,875 lacs received against Convertible Warrants has been utilised 
towards capital expenditure requirement. 

NOTE 5 LONG-TERM BORROWINGS   
(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Non Current Current Non Current Current

(1) Secured

(a) Vehicle loans from Banks ( Refer note 1)  245.44  149.76  111.39  97.87 

(b) Vehicle loans from Other Parties ( Refer note -2)  26.37  14.07  40.44  12.75 

(c) External Commercial Borrowings (ECB) ( Refer note -3)  5,969.96  -    -    -   

 6,241.77  163.83  151.83  110.62 
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(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Non Current Current Non Current Current

(2) Unsecured

(a) Term loans From Bank ( Refer Note-4 )  3,709.64  836.24  1,591.35  686.01 

(b) Term loans From Other Parties ( Refer Note-5 )  15,645.63  4,052.44  13,063.21  455.88 

 19,355.27  4,888.68  14,654.56  1,141.90 

Total (1+2)  25,597.04  5,052.51  14,806.39  1,252.52 

Notes:     
1)  Vehicle loans  taken from various banks are secured by hypothecation of Vehicles. Rate of Interest varies between 6% to 12.75%. Period 

of maturity for loans varies between 3 year to 5 year and number of repayment installments is ranging between 36 to 60 months. The 
repayment obligation in future of above loans is as under:-     

        Particulars  2016-17  2017-18  2018-19  Beyond 2018-19 
( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs)

a)  Vehicle Loans from Banks  149.91  108.73  70.73  66.13 
 149.91  108.73  70.73  66.13 

2) Vehicle loans from others are secured by hypothecation of Vehicles. Rate of Interest varies between 10.25% to 12.75%. Period of 
maturity for loans varies between 3 year to 5 year and number of repayment installments is ranging between 36 to 60 months. The 
repayment obligation in future of above loans is as under:-     

          Particulars  2016-17  2017-18  2018-19 
( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs)  ( ` In Lacs) 

a) Vehicle loans from Others  14.07  13.95             12.42 
 14.07  13.95             12.42 

3)   External commercial Borrowings (ECB) taken from Union Bank of India (U.K) Limited amounting to USD 9 million (` 5969.96 lacs). 
The loan is secured by way entire project assets of the Company and personal guarantee of Mr Sanjay Dhingra Managing Director 
of the Company. It is further collaterally secured by way of first pari passu charge on existing land 3.195 acres at Palwal on which the 
proposed project is located and additional 1.88 acres adjacent to the existing unit at Palwal (Haryana). Till the creation of the charge 
,the Company has provided additional security in form of pledge of shares of Kwality Limited in the name of  Mr Sanjay Dhingra to the 
extent that market value of the Equity shares will be USD 4.5 millions. Present rate of Interest on loan is 3 months LIBOR plus 450 bps. 
The repayment obligation in future of above loans is as under:-  

        Particulars  2016-17  2017-18  2018-19  Beyond 2018-19 
( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs)

a)  Union Bank of India (U.K) Limited  -  795.99  795.99  4,377.97 
Total Term Loans from Banks  -  795.99  795.99  4,377.97 

4 a)  Term Loan from Bank includes loan taken from IDBI Bank Limited. The loan is secured by way of exclusive charge on Immovable 
property held in the name of director & other party situated at Golden Park, Rampura Road, Basai Darapur, New Delhi and the land / 
properties held in the name of JTPL Townships Pvt Ltd situated at JTPL City, Sector-115  Mohali (Punjab). The loan is further secured 
by personal / Corporate guarantee of Mr.Sanjay Dhingra, Managing Director of Company and property owners. Present rate of Interest 
on loan is 11.5%.        

4 b)  Term Loan from Bank includes loan taken from Karur Vysya Bank Limited. The loan is secured by way of fresh Equitable Mortgage on 
land/ properties in the name of JTPL Townships Pvt Ltd situated at JTP City, Sector-115  Mohali (Punjab). The loan is further secured by 
personal / Corporate guarantee of Mr.Sanjay Dhingra, Managing Director of Company and property owners. Present rate of Interest on 
loan is 12%. 
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4 c)  Term loans from Banks includes loan of INR 279.36 lacs ( INR 277.36 lacs) Lacs taken by Kwality Dairy Products FZE ‘ the Subsidiary’, and 
are secured by mortgage of Property. Loans against property is payable in 15 years and rate of interest has been fixed @4.99% for first 
two year and EBOR plus 3% thereafter.     

 The repayment obligation in future of above loans is as under:-

        Particulars  2016-17  2017-18  2018-19  Beyond 2018-19 
( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs)

a)  IDBI Bank Ltd  666.66  666.66  -  - 
b) Karur Vysya Bank Limited  184.38  737.50  737.50  1,290.62 
c) First Gulf Bank  20.65  20.65  20.65  217.72 

Total Long Term Loans from Banks  871.69  1,424.81  758.15  1,508.34 

5)   Term Loans from Other party are from IFCI Ltd  ` 10000.00 lacs (previous year ` 10000.00 lacs), from DMI Finance Pvt Ltd  
` 3080.00 lacs (previous year ` 3500.00 lacs), from Aditya Birla Finance Limited ` 3500.00 lacs (previous year ` Nil) and Hero Fincorp 
Limited  ` 3500.00 lacs (previous year ` Nil).     

5 a)  Loan from IFCI Limited is secured by way of Exclusive mortgage on the immovable property  in the name of JTPL Townships Pvt Ltd. 
situated at JTPL City, Sector-115,Mohali (Punjab) and pledge of shares of Kwality Limited in the name of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra and further 
secured by personal guarantee of Mr.Sanjay Dhingra, Managing Director of Company and Corporate Guarantee of JTPL Townships Pvt 
Ltd. The present rate of Interest on loan is 13.25%.   

5 b)  Loan from DMI Finance Pvt Ltd is secured by way of pledge of equity shares of Kwality Limited in the name of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra.  Also 
the loan is secured by personal guarantee of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra, Managing Director of Company. Rate of interest on loan is 14.60%. 
    

5 c)  Loan from Aditya Birla Finance Limited  was secured by way of equitable mortgage on land/ property in the name of JTPL Townships 
Pvt Ltd. situated in Mohali (Punjab), and further secured by personal guarantee of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra, Managing Director of company 
and corporate guarantee of JTPL Townships Pvt Ltd. The rate of Interest on loan is ranging from 12.50% to 12.75%. 

5 d)  Loan from Hero Fincorp Limited was secured by way of pledge of shares of Kwality Limited held in the name of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra. 
Loan was further secured by exclusive charge over residential/commercial plots situated in Chandigarh and  personal guarantee of 
Mr. Sanjay Dhingra, Managing Director of Company and corporate guarantee of JTPL Townships Pvt Ltd. Rate of interest on loan was 
12.75%.

The repayment obligation in future of above loans is as under:-

Particulars  2016-17  2017-18  2018-19  Beyond 2018-19 
( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs) ( ` In Lacs)

a) IFCI Limited  2,500.00     2,500.00        2,500.00               2,500.00 
b) DMI Finance Pvt Ltd  661.49        764.80           764.80                  872.13 
c) Aditya Birla Finance Limited  333.33        333.33           333.33               2,305.56 
d) Hero Fincorp Limited  557.62        633.02           718.62               1,420.05 

Total Long Term Loans from Others  4,052.44     4,231.15        4,316.75               7,097.73 

NOTE 6 LONG-TERM PROVISIONS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(a) Provision for Employee benefits: 

(i) Provision for compensated absences (net)  69.84  48.25 

(ii) Provision for gratuity (net) (Refer Note 25.8)  113.38  90.81 

Total  183.22  139.06 
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NOTE 7 SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(1) Secured

(a) Loans From Banks  

i)     Cash Credit Facilities (refer note 1 below)  1,13,272.45  1,02,267.44 

ii)    LC/ VBD Due to Banks (refer note 1 below)  2,651.11  6,587.33 

iii)   Buyers Credit (refer note no 1below)  5,535.76  -   

Total  1,21,459.32  1,08,854.77 

Note.-1  
Loans from Bank towards working capital are secured by way of :-  

a)  First pari passu charge on the entire current assets of the company.  
b)  1st  paripassu charge on entire movable and immovable fixed assets including equitable mortgage of factory land and building of the  

company situated at village Softa ,Palwal ( Haryana) and at Village Mumrejpur, Tehsil Dibai, District- Bulandsahar (U.P). 
c)  1st paripassu charge on entire fixed assets of M/s Pashupati Dairies Pvt. Ltd. including Equitable mortgage of Land and  Building 

situated at village Kumarhera, Saharanpur (UP).   
d)  Corporate guarantee of M/s Pashupati Dairies Pvt Ltd.  
e)  Negative lien for non disposal/ non transfer of 51 % of equity share held by Mr. Sanjay Dhingra.  
f )  Personal guarantee of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra, Chairman & Managing Director of Company .  
g)  10% Cash margin for LC  in the form of Fixed Deposits.  
h)  The outstanding Buyers credit facility includes an amount of USD 1,35,402.25 (previous year nil) is against 100% margin from 

Corporation Bank  
i)  Loans from banks includes working capital loan and buyers credit facility availed by Kwality Dairy Products FZE which are secured 

by Corporate Guarantee (unconditional/irrevocable) of M/s Kwality Limited (Parent Company), Personal Guarantee (unconditional/
irrevocable) of Directors of Parent Company and Mrs. Kanika Dhingra, Mortgage of immovable Property, Assignments of receivables 
and pledge of all assets. Further, Fixed deposits and cash margins are under pledge & lien in favour of the Bank.  

  

NOTE 8 TRADE PAYABLES (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Trade payables

-   For Goods  4,303.84  4,633.19 

-   For Services  907.40  566.54 

Total  5,211.24  5,199.72 
 
NOTE 9 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 

(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(a) Current maturities of long-term debts (Refer Note 5 above)  5,052.51  1,252.52 

(b) Interest accrued and due on borrowings  101.69  76.05 

(c) Interest accrued but not due on borrowings  149.93  52.74 

(d) Unclaimed dividends*  34.56 34.77

(e) Other payables 

(i)      Statutory payments  4,292.62  3,240.77 
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(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(ii)     Contractually reimbursement expenses to Employee  281.15  209.29 

(iii)    Payables for capital goods  349.98  1,432.09 

(iv)    Trade / security deposits received  499.31  441.85 

(v)     Advances from customers  468.69  361.14 

(vi)    Expenses Payable  159.02  110.65 

Total  11,389.47  7,211.87 

*There are no amounts due for payment to The Investor Education and Protection Fund under Section 205C of the Company Act,1956 as at 
the year end. 

NOTE 10 SHORT-TERM PROVISIONS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(a) Provision for employee benefits: 

(i) Provision for bonus  70.85  39.07 

(ii) Provision for compensated absences (net) (Refer Note 26.9)  12.13  6.98 

(iii) Provision for gratuity (net) (Refer Note 26.9)  6.88  4.69 

 89.85  50.75 

(b) Provision - Others:

(i) Provision for Income tax *  4,426.06  3,567.27 

(ii) Provision for proposed equity dividend  234.27  218.73 

(iii) Provision for tax on proposed dividends  47.69  44.53 

(iv) Provision for Wealth Tax  -    0.64 

 4,708.03  3,831.17 

Total  4,797.88  3,881.92 

* Net of TDS ` 20.59 lacs (previous year ` 6.09 lacs) and MAT credit of ` 2993.61 lacs ( previous year ` Nil)
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NOTE 12 LONG-TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(a) Unsecured considered good

(a) Capital advances  16,435.33  4,346.50 

(b) Security deposits  67.92  70.02 

(c) Mat Credit entitlement  1,410.81 4,404.41

Total  17,914.06  8,820.93 

NOTE 13 OTHER NON CURRENT ASSETS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Considered good

(a) Balance with Banks ( Refer note below 1)  72.58 167.36

Total 72.58 167.36

(1)  Represent bank deposits not due for realisations within 12 month of balance sheet date. Further refer note no. 16.

NOTE 14 INVENTORIES (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(a) Raw materials  133.08  124.04 

(b) Work-in-progress ( Refer Note below)  2,809.32  3,170.03 

(c) Finished goods (other than those acquired for trading)  10,348.69  25,176.99 

(d) Stock-in-trade (acquired for trading)  2,800.51 5.53

(e) Goods in Transit  331.40  -   

(f ) Stores and spares  213.24  193.00 

(g)  Packing Material  419.10  434.60 

Total  17,055.33  29,104.19 

Note:
Work-in-progress 

PARTICULARS
FAT/Butter/Ghee  2,173.62  2,338.58 

SMP/WMP/Other  635.70  831.45 

Total  2,809.32  3,170.03 

NOTE 15 TRADE RECEIVABLES
(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Trade receivables outstanding for a period exceeding six months 
from the date they were due for payment  

Unsecured, considered good  288.83  65.02

 288.83  65.02 

Less: Provision for doubtful trade receivables 1.65 1.65

287.18 63.37
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(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Other Trade receivables

Unsecured, considered good  1,65,250.36  1,32,395.27 

 1,65,250.36  1,32,395.27 

Less: Provision for doubtful trade receivables  -    -   

 1,65,250.36  1,32,395.27 

Total 1,65,537.54 1,32,458.64

NOTE 16 CASH AND BANK BALANCE (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Cash and Cash Equivalents :

(a) Cash in hand  197.58  88.86 

(b) Balances with banks

(i)      In current accounts  2,226.47  1,187.81 

(ii)    Cheques In hand  2,616.83  1,611.00 

Other Bank Balances
(i)     In deposit accounts held against  bank guarantees/ 
         Letter of Credits/Borrowings

 3,619.72  2,410.19 

(ii)    In earmarked accounts

         - Unpaid dividend accounts  34.56 34.77

 8,695.16  5,332.63 
Less: Deposit having maturity more than 12 month from balance sheet date are shown under 
note no.14

 72.58 167.36

Total  8,622.59  5,165.28 

NOTE 17 SHORT-TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Unsecured considered good

(a) Security deposits  67.47  75.53 

(b) Loans and advances to employees  17.17  17.89 

(c) Advance Recoverable in cash or kind or for value to be received  17,166.17  11,609.09 

(d) Prepaid Expenses  85.86  87.79 

(e) Balances with government authorities *  385.56  315.30 

Total  17,722.23  12,105.60 

* Includes ` 169.09 lacs (previous year ` 157.27 lacs) with Haryana Livestock Development Board against demand and disputed before 
Supreme Court of India. Further refer note 25.1. 
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NOTE 18 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
(a) Accruals 

(i) Interest accrued on Fixed deposits  21.03  28.36 

(ii) Income Receivables  194.38  18.80 

Total  215.42  47.16 

NOTE 19 REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended  
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
(a) Sale of products  (Refer Note (i) below)  6,41,391.98  5,87,698.80 

(b) Other Operating Income (Refer Note (ii) below )  13.33  134.66 

Total  6,41,405.32  5,87,833.47 

NOTE PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended  
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
(i) Sale of products comprises : 

Manufactured goods

Fat/Butter/Cream/Ghee  92,260.70  98,639.69 

SMP/WMP/DW/DC/SNF  66,524.01  57,864.04 

Milk/Toned Milk/Double Toned Milk  2,30,783.58  2,09,589.37 

Curd  47,166.95  48,904.44 

Less: Excise Duty  0.16  2.10 

Total - Sale of manufactured goods  4,36,735.08  4,14,995.44 

Traded goods

Fat/Butter/Cream/Ghee  2,121.62  1,896.05 

SMP/WMP/DW/DC/SNF/AMF  1,03,832.98  1,11,348.65 

Milk  60,116.69  59,087.54 

Cattle Feed & Supplements  193.60  371.12 

Vitamin Premix  31,064.54  -   

Others  7,327.47  -   

Total - Sale of traded goods  2,04,656.90  1,72,703.37 

Total - Sale of products  6,41,391.98  5,87,698.80 

(ii) Other Operating Income comprises :

Income From Export incentive  0.53  104.67 

Sale of Scrap  12.81  29.99 

Total - Other Operative Income  13.33  134.66 
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NOTE 20 OTHER INCOME (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended  
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
(a) Interest income (Refer Note (i) below)  243.90  77.96 

(b) Net gain on foreign currency transactions and translation  2,673.73 462.62

(c) Other non-operating income (net of expenses directly attributable to such income) (Refer 
Note (ii) below)  60.18  632.85 

Total  2,977.80  1,173.43 

NOTE PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended  
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
(i) Interest income comprises:

Interest from banks on deposits  243.90  77.96 
Total - Interest income  243.90  77.96 

(ii) Other non-operating income comprises:
Profit on sale of fixed assets  2.57  2.20 
Miscellaneous income  31.94  23.35 
Claims recovered  11.14  5.67 
Security Forfeited  -    176.50 
Liability no longer payable  14.53  113.59 
Provision for Doubtful Debts  -    296.13 
Rent  -    15.41 
Total - Other non-operating income  60.18  632.85 

NOTE 21. a COST OF MATERIALS CONSUMED (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended  
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Opening stock  124.04  298.83 
Add: Purchases  3,72,402.31  3,81,262.32 

 3,72,526.35  3,81,561.14 
Less: Closing stock  133.08  124.04 
Cost of material consumed  3,72,393.27  3,81,437.10 
Material consumed comprises:
Milk  3,58,685.28  3,62,744.94 
Butter fat/Ghee  7,819.90  8,930.84 
Others  5,888.08  9,761.33 
Total  3,72,393.27  3,81,437.10 

NOTE 21. b PURCHASE OF TRADED GOODS (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended  
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Milk  59,057.68  57,570.68 
Fat/Butter/Cream/Ghee  2,051.17  1,482.51 
SMP/WMP/DW/DC/SNF/AMF  99,226.28  1,06,080.42 
Cattle Feed & Supplements  182.21 354.64
Vitamin Premix  27,557.48  -   
Others  8,078.37  -   
Total  1,96,153.19  1,65,488.26 
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NOTE 21. c CHANGES IN INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS,  
WORK-IN-PROGRESS AND STOCK-IN-TRADE

(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended  
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Inventories at the end of the year:

Finished goods  13,149.19  25,182.52 

Work-in-progress  2,809.32  3,170.03 

 15,958.51  28,352.55 

Inventories at the beginning of the year:

Finished goods  25,182.52  13,595.26 

Work-in-progress  3,170.03  4,412.66 

 28,352.55  18,007.92 

Net (increase) / decrease  12,394.03  (10,344.63)

NOTE 22 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended  
31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Salaries and wages  2,578.80  2,221.20 

Contributions to provident and other funds   74.71  66.37 

Gratuity & Leave Encashment (Refer Note 25.8)  63.05  74.44 

Recruitment Expenses  27.49  1.00 

Staff welfare expenses  75.33  65.73 

 Employee Welfare and other amenities-ESOP  607.42  -   

Total  3,426.79  2,428.73 

NOTE 23 FINANCE COSTS
(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended 
 31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Interest expense on Borrowings 15605.87 13820.31

Other Borrowings Cost 139.10 210.33

Total  15,744.97  14,030.64 

NOTE 24 OTHER EXPENSES
(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended 
 31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Advertisement & Sales Promotion  7,024.21  1,996.73 
Bad- Debts & Balances W/off  -    304.51 
Bank Charges  234.66  227.00 
Commission & Brokerage  108.85  137.09 
Communication Expenses  70.03  64.34 
Consumption of packing materials  4,122.86  2,350.22 
Consumption of stores and spare parts  234.19  262.63 
Donations and contributions  2.17  -   
Export Expenses  57.69  17.37 
Insurance  54.94  60.70 



181 Consolidated Financial Statements

(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended 
 31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Legal and professional  240.80  93.86 
Loss on fixed assets sold  8.26  -   
Miscellaneous expenses  629.27  762.23 
Payments To Auditors (Refer Note (25.5)  11.45  8.43 
Power and fuel  1,400.72  2,177.29 
Printing and stationery  26.22  22.95 
Prior Period Items ( Refer note 24.1)  87.06  16.29 
Processing Charges of Milk  862.34  1,473.20 
Rates and taxes  57.60  45.85 
Rebate & Discount  16.09  87.31 
Rent  291.69  272.00 
Repairs and maintenance - Buildings  63.88  71.24 
Repairs and maintenance - Machinery  92.32  152.84 
Transportation Charges  2,146.82  2,899.38 
Travelling and conveyance  233.73  234.88 
Vehicle Running Expenses  85.99  92.30 
Total  18,163.84  13,830.62 

Note

24.1 DETAIL OF PRIOR PERIOD ITEMS 
(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
For the year 

ended 
 31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Prior Period Expenses  87.06  16.29 

Prior Period Incomes  -    -   

Total  87.06  16.29 

25.1 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND OTHER COMMITMENTS:
(` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Contingent liability (to the extent not provided for)

Claim against the company not acknowledged as debts
Milk cess disputed by the company relating to issue of applicability against which the 
company  has preferred an SLP against the order of Punjab & Haryana High Court before 
Hon'ble Supreme Court of  India. A liability of Cess principal amounting ` 371.21 lacs from 
which a sum of ` 169.09 lacs (previous year ` 157.27 lacs) deposited under protest and a sum 
of  ` 1970.45 lacs on account of interest liability raised by Semen Bank officer, of Haryana 
Livestock Development Board for which the matter is  already before Hon'ble Supreme Court.

 2,172.57  1,218.34 

A civil recovery suit has been filed by M/s S.M. Milkose Ltd. regarding dispute in supply of 
material which is disputed by the Co. & is pending before The Hon'ble High Court of Delhi.

 156.97  156.97 

Sales Tax Matters in Appeallate Authorities  57.29  66.38 

DEPB Credit matter in CESTAT tribunal  69.44  69.44 

Contingent Liability for Bank Guarantee  660.55  1,570.23 

Contingent Liability under EPCG License  593.34  703.11 

Commitments
Estimated amount of Contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided 
for  2,972.81  485.71 
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25.2 THE DEFERRED TAX ASSET COMPRISE OF THE FOLLOWING : (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Deferred Tax Assets

Related to Fixed Assets  3,408.60  147.00 

Total  3,408.60  147.00 

25.3 The Company has not received information from vendors regarding their status under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 
Development Act, 2006 and hence disclosure relating to amounts unpaid as at the year end together with interest paid / payable 
under this Act has not been ascertained.  

25.4 PAYMENT TO AUDITORS : (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Audit Fees  9.73  7.30 

Tax Audit Fees  1.72  1.13 

 11.45  8.43 

25.5 MANAGERIAL REMUNERATION (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Salaries and Allowances  212.58  230.20 

25.6 STATEMENT OF EARNING PER SHARE (` In Lacs)

PARTICULARS
As at 

31 March, 2016
As at  

31 March, 2015
Net Profit attributable to Equity Shareholders (INR In lacs)  17,359.58  16,652.79 

Weighted Average Number of Equity Shares 

ia) used as denominator for calculating EPS (Basic) 219000189 205997137

ib) used as denominator for calculating EPS (Diluted) 224247499 218730475

ii) Nominal value per share (in INR)  1.00  1.00 

iii) Basic Earning Per Share (in INR)  7.93  8.08 

iii) Diluted Earning Per Share (in INR)  7.74  8.02 

25.7  RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
As per Accounting Standard 18 disclosures of transactions  with the related parties are given below:

Relationships
1 Key managerial personnel (KMP) Rattan Sagar Khanna

Sanjay Dhingra
Manjit Dahiya
S.K. Bhalla
Sidhant Gupta
Arun Srivastava
Pinky Singh(Upto 23/01/2016)
Ankita Mehrotra
Sunit Shangle
Deepa Kapoor (Upto 16/05/2015)
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Pradeep Kumar Srivastava

2 Enterprises on which Key Managerial JTPL Townships Pvt Ltd
person having significant influence Pashupati Dairies Pvt Ltd

Kwality Dairy Investments Pvt Ltd.
Sahyogi Foundation

3 Relative of Key Managerial Person Kanika Dhingra
Ved Parkash Gupta 
Sonika Gupta
Sidhaant and Sons (HUF)

Balances  with related parties    (` In Lacs)

Related Party Nature of Transactions
As At   

31 March, 2016
As At   

31 March, 2015

Pashupati Dairies Pvt Ltd Amount Payable in respect of Services /Rent.                           49.38                   41.86 
Amount Payable in Respect of Royalty                             9.38                        -   
Guarantee taken for Financial Limits                 1,12,643.00         1,12,643.00 

JTPL Townships Pvt Ltd Collateral Security/guarantee taken                    23,000.00            13,000.00 

Sanjay Dhingra Guarantee  taken for Long Term Loans                    29,000.00            16,500.00 
Guarantee taken for Financial Limits                 1,12,643.00         1,12,643.00 
Shares Pledge for Loan                    38,363.50            15,604.00 

Sidhant Gupta Collateral Security/guarantee                      1,500.00              1,500.00 

Disclosures in respect of material transactions  with related parties (During the Year)

Related Party Nature of Transactions For the year ended 31 
March, 2016

For the year ended 31 
March, 2015

Pashupati Dairies Pvt Ltd -Inter Corporate Loans repaid/Converted                                 -                7,500.00 
-Services Received                                 -                   128.83 
-Rent Paid                           60.00                   44.50 
-Royalty Paid                           10.28                     9.00 
-Allotment of Share Capital                                 -                7,500.00 
-Guarantee taken for Financial Limits                                 -           1,12,643.00 
-Dividend Paid                           15.54                        -   

JTPL Townships Pvt Ltd -Collateral Security/guarantee  Taken                    10,000.00 5,500.00

Sanjay Dhingra -Guarantee released for Financial Limits                                 -   2,412.00
-Guarantee for Long Term Loans                    12,500.00 9,000.00
-Managerial Remuneration                         130.20                 130.20 
-Dividend Paid                         152.15                 152.15 
-Shares Pledge for Loan                    22,759.50            12,449.00 

Kanika Dhingra -Guarantee released for Long Term Loans                                 -   3,000.00
-Guarantee released for Financial Limits                                 -   87,500.00
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Sidhant Gupta -Managerial Remuneration                           82.38                 100.00 
-Allotment of Share warrant (amt paid 25%)                                 -                   625.00 
-Meeting Fee                             1.10                        -   

Sidhaant and Sons (HUF) -Allotment of Share warrant (amt paid 25%)                                 -                   625.00 

Sonika Gupta Allotment of share warrants                                 -                   625.00 
Allotment of equity shares                      1,875.00                        -   

Rattan Sagar Khanna -Meeting Fee                             1.50                     0.80 

Arun Srivastava -Meeting Fee                             1.50                     1.30 

Pinky Singh -Meeting Fee                             1.20                        -   

Ankita Mehrotra -Meeting Fee                             0.30                        -   

S.K. Bhalla -Remuneration                           19.25                        -   

Manjit Dahiya -Remuneration                           18.78                        -   

Sunit Shangle -Remuneration                           27.89                   23.86 

Deepa Kapoor -Remuneration                             1.29                     8.35 

Pradeep Kumar Srivastava -Remuneration                           12.08                        -   

Ved Prakash Gupta -Dividend Paid                             5.83                     5.83 

25.8 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS :  
Employee Benefits   

The Company has made provisions for employee benefits in accordance with the Accounting Standard (AS) 15 Revised “Employee Benefits”. 
During the year, the  Company has recognised the following amounts in its financial  statements  based on actuarial valuation done as per 
Projected Unit  Credit Method.  

(` In Lacs)

For the year 
ended 

 31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Defined Contribution Plan

 Employer's contribution to Provident Fund  54.07  40.64 

 Employer's contribution to Employee State Insurance Fund  19.98  25.18 

 Employer's contribution to Employee welfare fund  0.66  0.55 

 Total  74.71  66.37 
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(` In Lacs)
For the year 

ended 
 31 March, 2016

For the year 
ended  

31 March, 2015
Defined Benefit Plan

Change in Benefit Obligation                  Gratuity Gratuity 

Liability at the beginning of the year  95.50  49.89 

Interest Cost  7.64  3.99 

Current service cost  37.37  34.91 

Benefit Paid  (3.36)  (2.72)

Actuarial (gain)/loss on obligation  (16.91)  9.44 

Liability at the end of year-recognized in the Balance Sheet  120.26  95.50 

Expenses recognized in the Income Statement

Interest cost on benefit obligation  7.64  3.99 

Current service cost  37.37  34.91 

Expected return on plan assets  -    -   

Net actuarial( gain)/loss recognized in the year  (16.91)  9.44 

Expenses recognised in Profit and Loss statement  28.11  48.34 

(` In Lacs)

For the year ended 
 31 March, 2016

For the year ended  
31 March, 2015

Defined Benefit Plan

Change in Benefit Obligation                  Leave Encashment Leave Encashment

Liability at the beginning of the year  55.24  31.63 

Interest Cost  4.42  2.53 

Current service cost  30.43  20.46 

Benefit Paid  (8.21)  (2.50)

Actuarial (gain)/loss on obligation  0.09  3.11 

Liability at the end of year-recognized in the Balance Sheet  81.97  55.24 

Expenses recognized in the Income Statement

Interest cost on benefit obligation  4.42  2.53 

Current service cost  30.43  20.46 

Expected return on plan assets  -    -   

Net actuarial( gain)/loss recognized in the year  0.09  3.11 

Expenses recognised in Profit and Loss statement  34.94  26.10 

Discount rate current 8.00% per annum 8.00% per annum

Salary escalation current 5% per annum 5% per annum

Mortality IALM 2006-2008 Ultimate IALM 2006-2008 Ultimate

Withdrawal rate 18 to 58 Years 2% per annum 2% per annum

The estimates of future salary increases, inflation,  seniority, promotion and other relevant factors, considered in actuarial valuation such 
as supply and demand in the employment market. The rate used to discount post employment benefit obligations (both funded and 
unfunded) should be determined by reference  to market yields at the balance sheet date on government bonds. The currency and term of 
the government bonds should be consistent with the currency and estimated term of the post employment benefit obligations. 
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An amount of `63.05 Lacs /-(PY.`74.44 Lacs) as contribution towards defined contribution plan is recognized as expense in the Profit & Loss 
Statement 

25.9 CSR EXPENDITURE  
During the year, the company spent `297.90 lakhs (previous year `283.36 lacs) toward CSR under section 135 of the companies  
act 2013 and rules thereunder in terms of policy framed Board of Directors..  

25.10 OTHER NOTES   
a) Previous  year  figure have been  regrouped/reclassified  wherever  necessary to correspond with the  current year  classification/ 
disclosure. 

In terms of our report attached.       

For P.P. Mukerjee & Associates  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors  
Chartered Accountants                Sd/-               Sd/- 
Firm’s Registration No.023276N  (Sanjay Dhingra)  (Sidhant Gupta) 
                Sd/- Managing Director   Director   
CA P.P. Mukerjee DIN:- 00025376  DIN:- 00555513 
Membership No.:089854                Sd/-               Sd/- 
Proprietor (CA Sunit Shangle)  (Pradeep K. Srivastava) 
 Chief Finance Officer  Company Secretary 
Place  :  New Delhi M.No:- 087626  M.No.:- FCS6763 
Date   :  25-05-2016
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(Pursuant to first provison to sub-section (3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)  

Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of subsidiaries/ associate companies/ joint ventures  

Part “A”: Subsidiaries

(Information in respect of each subsidiary to be presented with amounts in ` )

1 SI. No. 1

2 Name of the subsidiary Kwality Dairy Products FZE

3
Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned, if different from the holding company’s 
reporting period

Same
01-Apr-15 to 31-Mar-16

4
Reporting currency and Exchange rate as on the last date of the relevant Financial year in the 
case of foreign subsidiaries.

AED
Exchange Rate `18.05

5 Share capital 1,902.75 

6 Reserves & surplus 9,052.94 

7 Total assets 30,762.48 

8 Total Liabilities 19,806.79 

9 Investments -   

10 Turnover 69,019.28 

11 Profit before taxation 2,934.80 

12 Provision for taxation -   

13 Profit after taxation 2,934.80 

14 Proposed Dividend -   

15 % of shareholding 100.00 

Notes:  The following information shall be furnished at the end of the statement:

1. Names of subsidiaries which are yet to commence operations Nil

2. Names of subsidiaries which have been liquidated or sold during the year Nil

In terms of our report attached.       

For P.P. Mukerjee & Associates  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors  
Chartered Accountants  
Firm’s Registration No.023276N  Sd/- Sd/-
 (Sanjay Dhingra)  (Sidhant Gupta) 
 Managing Director   Director   
CA P.P. Mukerjee DIN:- 00025376  DIN:- 00555513 
Membership No.:089854  
Proprietor Sd/- Sd/-
 (CA Sunit Shangle)  (Pradeep K. Srivastava) 
 Chief Finance Officer  Company Secretary 
Date   :  25-05-2016 M.No:- 087626  M.No.:- FCS6763 
Place  :  New Delhi

FORM AOC- I
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189 Attendance Slip

KWALITY LIMITED
Regd. Off: KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place, Rajouri Garden, New Delhi-110027

Board: +91 11 47006500 (100 Lines)   Fax: +91 11 25191800
Email: cs@kdil.in Website: www.kdil.in

CIN: L74899DL1992PLC255519

ATTENDANCE SLIP

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Friday, 30th September, 2016 at 9.30 AM

VENUE: Lavanya, G.T. Karnal Road, Palla Bakhtavarpur Mord, Alipur, Delhi – 110036

DP Id._____________________________________________   Folio No. _______________________________________________________

Client ID. ________________________________________     No. of Shares held  ________________________________________________ 

Member’s Name  ___________________________________________________________________________________________________

Complete Address __________________________________________________________________________________________________

                     __________________________________________________________________________________________________

I hereby record my presence at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held Friday, 30th September, 2016 at 9.30 a.m.  
at Lavanya, G.T. Karnal Road, Palla Bakhtavarpur Mord, Alipur, Delhi - 110036.        
                                                                          

 _____________________________

                                         Member’s Signature

If proxy attended instead of Member:

Proxy Name ___________________________________________        Proxy’s Signature  ________________________________________

NOTE:

Members / Proxy holders wishing to attend the meeting must bring their duly filled and signed Attendance Slip with them.  
NO GIFT/COUPON WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING.
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191 Proxy Form

KWALITY LIMITED
Regd. Off: KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place, Rajouri Garden, New Delhi-110027

Board: +91 11 47006500 (100 Lines)   Fax: +91 11 25191800
Email: cs@kdil.in Website: www.kdil.in

CIN: L74899DL1992PLC255519

FORM NO. MGT-11
PROXY FORM

[Pursuant to section 105(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 19(3) of the Companies  
(Management and Administration) Rules, 2014]

CIN: L74899DL1992PLC255519

Name of the company :  KWALITY LIMITED

Registered office :  KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place, Rajouri Garden, New Delhi-110027

Name of the member (s): --------------------------------------------------- E-mail Id: --------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Folio No/ Client Id : ---------------------------------------------------------- DP ID : ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Registered address: --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

I/We, being the member (s) of ………………. shares of the above named company, hereby appoint

1. Name: ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ E-mail Id: ---------------------------------------------------------------

Address:-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Signature: -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- or failing him

2. Name: --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- E-mail Id: ------------------------------------------------------------------------

Address:-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Signature: ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- or failing him

as my/our proxy to attend and vote (on a poll) for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 24th Annual General Meeting of the company, to be 
held on Friday, the 30th day of September, 2016 at 9.30 a.m. at Lavanya, G.T. Karnal Road, Palla Bakhtavarpur Mord, Alipur, Delhi - 110036 
and at any adjournment thereof in respect of such resolutions as are indicated below:

Resolution 
No.

Resolutions Votes
For Against

1 Adoption of Balance Sheet and Profit & Loss Account together with the reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon

2 Approval of dividend for the financial year 2015-16
3 Appoint Mr. Sanjay Dhingra, who retires by rotation and being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment. 

4 Ratification of Appointment of M/s. P.P. Mukerjee & Associates as Statutory Auditor of the Company
5 Appoint Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla as a Director
6 Appoint Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla as Whole-Time Director
7 Appoint Ms. Ankita Mehrotra as an Independent Director
8 Appoint Mr. Ashok Kumar Gupta as an Independent Director
9 Ratification of Cost Auditor’s Remuneration

10 Issue of Securities of the Company for an amount of up to Rs 10,000 million

Signed this………… day of…………… 2016
   
    
 

Signature of shareholder

Signature of Proxy holder(s)                                            

Note: This form of proxy in order to be effective should be duly completed and deposited at the Registered Office of the Company, not 
less than 48 hours before the commencement of the Meeting.

Affix  
Revenue  

Stamp
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